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Daniel Webster and the Oratorical Tradition 


William H. Rehnquist 

Editor's Note: The ChiefJustice gave these remarks 
at the Daniel Webster Symposium at Dartmouth 
College in Hanover, New Hampshire, on May 12, 
1989. 

It is a great pleasure to join with you today 
to celebrate the completion of the publication 
of The Papers of Daniel Webster. I am sure 
that these volumes represent a major contribu­
tion to our efforts to understand and appreciate 
one of the giants of the nineteenth century. And 
surely no more fitting institution of higher learn­
ing could be imagined as a place for this cele­
bration than Dartmouth College. As many of 
you know, Daniel Webster was born and raised 
in the Merrimack Valley of New Hampshire. 
He was born in the town of Salisbury in 1782-­
just as the Revolutionary War was ending. His 
father farmed and kept a tavern in Salisbury, 
which was then on the northern edge of the 
American frontier. When young Daniel was a 
few years old, his father moved the family to a 
larger farm about fifteen miles north of Con­
cord; just off of present-day Interstate-93. 

Webster was unusual in appearance even as 
a child--he had an unusually large head, topped 
with jet-black hair, and large black eyes. He 
was called "little Black Dan." At the age of 
fifteen, he set off on horseback for Hanover to 
enter Dartmouth. At this time--1797--Dart­
mouth was one of the larger colleges in the 
United States, but its setting was bucolic: cows 
grazed on the College common. (One of Web­
ster's biographers says that he and his class­
mates got so tired of scraping dung off their 
shoes that one night a group of them rebelled 
and chased the cows across the Connecticut 

River, into Vermont.) 
Although Webster was about four years 

younger than the average age of his classmates, 
he managed to distinguish himself at the Col­
lege. He was admitted into one of the two 
leading literary societies on the cam pus as a 
freshman, and became one of its leading lights. 
He was elected to Phi Beta Kappa as a junior 
and was recognized, even then, for his oratori­
cal abilities. (He was also showing some indica­
tion ofthe spendthrift qualities that would dog 
him later in life: by the end of his senior year he 
had run up one of the largest accounts of any 
student at the general store in Hanover.) He 
graduated from Dartmouth in 1801, at the'age 
of nineteen. 

In a manner typical of the time, he taught 
school for a while, read law for a while, and was 
admitted to practice law in New Hampshire in 
1805. In 1807, searching out greener fields for 
the practice of law, he moved to Portsmouth, 
which was then the largest city in the state. He 
married a local Salisbury woman, Grace Fletcher, 
and the young couple settled down in Portsmouth. 
Webster was elected to the United States House 
ofRepresentatives in 1812 and served two terms 
there. But once again he began looking for 
greener pastures for his law practice, and in 
1816 he and his family moved to Boston. It was 
in the Boston area that Webster spent the rest 
of his life. He was elected to the House of Rep­
resentatives from Massachusetts in 1822 and to 
the United States Senate in 1827. He was a 
leading figure on the nation's political stage 
from that date until the time of his death, 25 
years later, in 1852. 

We need only to look around us at the 
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This tavern in Salisbury (now Franklin), New Hampshire, was owned and operated by Daniel Webster's father from 
1784 to 1799, and served during that time as Webster's childhood home. Although sold in 1799, it was later purchased 
by Webster in 1839. 

automobile, the airplane, radio, television--to 
name only obvious material differences-to realize 
how different the twentieth century is from the 
nineteenth. One of the many ways in which the 
nineteenth century differed from the twentieth 
century was that its public figures wrote their 
own speeches. Both the ability to speak publicly 
and the ability to say something worth listening 
to were considered qualifications for public 
office. Not all public officials possessed these 
qualifications, but those who did were listened 
to with· marked attention. 

At first blush we may feel that when we read 
Webster's orations we cannot truly appreciate 
them in the same way that we could have had we 
been present to hear them delivered. In a way, 
of course, that is true; but most of the people 
who knew these orations in his own time 
learned of them in the same way that we do 
today. Only the relatively few spectators who 
could crowd into the Senate gallery when he 
spoke could actually hear his famous speeches 
there; only those much more numerous specta­
tors actually present at his Bunker Hill Monu­
ment dedication or his Plymouth oration could 
hear those addresses. But thousands and thou­
sands of copies of each of these speeches were 
gobbled up by the public (after considerable 

editing by Daniel Webster). 
Webster was the greatest orator of his day in 

the United States Senate, and he was also one of 
the greatest advocates who has ever appeared 
before the Supreme Court of the United States. 
Let me fust tell you a little bit about his advo­
cacy before the Supreme Court. 

Most practicing attorneys today, like those 
who practiced in Webster's time, never have an 
opportunity to argue a'Case before the Supreme 
Court. And most of those who do, appear there 
only rarely. Webster, however, argued 171 
cases before the Supreme Court over a span of 
37 years--an amazing achievement and a rec­
ord never surpassed. Although he won slightly 
less than half of his cases, this is generally the lot 
of the lawyer who has a reputation as a great 
advocate before the Supreme Court. Charles 
Evans Hughes and John W. Davis, the great 
advocates before the Court during the first half 
of this century, were by no means always suc­
cessful. The reason for their mixed success, and 
for that of Webster's in the nineteenth century, 
was that frequently "great advocates" are 
called in by one of the parties only when the 
legal situation is roughly equivalent to a base­
ball game in the last half of the ninth inning, 
when there are two outs and the home team is 
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down by a couple of runs. Even a great batter 
will hit less than .500, and even the great advo­
cate will not win a majority of these cases. But 
he will win more of them than the mediocre 
lawyer. 

Oral arguments before the Supreme Court 
in Webster's time were far different than they 
are now. Today, the Court receives extensive 
written briefs, containing the contentions of the 
parties, well before argument, and each attor­
ney is given only half an hour to present the 
client's case orally. A red light on the podium 
dramatically indicates when this time has ex­
pired. 

In Webster's day, by contrast, the caseload 
of the Supreme Court was far less than it is 
today. In the early days of his advocacy, the 
Court would sit in Washington for only a couple 
of months, in the late winter and early spring, in 
order to finish its business, and oral argument 
was a more leisurely affair. 

Arguments frequently lasted not merely for 
hours on end, but in the great cases, sometimes 
for several days. An attorney with a gift of 
eloquence, a knowledge of the law and, last but 
by no means least, a good deal ofstamina, could 
hold the attention of Justices and spectators for 
an entire day as he played a leading role on the 
stage where great issues were debated. 

It is interesting to note, parenthetically, that 
in countries other than the United States which 
have inherited the English common-law tradi­
tion, oral advocacy is even today much like it 
was in Webster's time before our Supreme 
Court. In the House of Lords in England and in 
the High Court of Australia, there is no time 
limit on oral argument; in an important case, it 
can go on for days. The Supreme Court of 
Canada only departed from this tradition within 
the past couple of years. 

Among the cases Webster argued are some 
with which all students of the Constitution are 
familiar. He was on the winning side in Gibbons 
v. Ogden in 1824, when Chief Justice Marshall 
spoke for the Court in giving a broad interpre­
tation to the Commerce Clause. He was also on 
the winning side in McCulloch v. Maryland in 
1819, when the Court, again speaking through 
Chief Justice Marshall, upheld the authority of 
Congress to charter a national bank. (The 
arguments in those cases lasted five days and 
nine days, respectively.) But surely the most 

interesting of Webster's cases to the present 
audience is the case of Dartmouth College v. 
Woodward, which he argued before the Su­
preme Court of the United States in 1818. 

The case arose from a dispute between the 
president and trustees of Dartmouth College. 
The College had received a royal charter from 
the Crown before the American Revolution. 
The charter provided for twelve trustees to 
govern the College and authorized them to fill 
vacancies occurring among their own number. 
The trustees had exercised their authority to 
turn the president of the College out of office, 
only to see his cause become a burning political 
issue in the state of New Hampshire. In 1816, 
the state legislature converted Dartmouth Col­
lege into Dartmouth University (some issues 
never go away, I gather), raised the number of 
trustees from 12 to 21, and made other changes 
in the governance of the institution. The major­
ity of the old trustees refused to accept the 
amendment to the charter and sued in the state 
court, claiming that the changes "impaired the 
obligation of contract," in violation of the United 
States Constitution. Meanwhile, they contin­
ued to operate Dartmouth College in makeshift 
quarters, after being evicted from the "Univer­
sity" buildings. 

The New Hampshire state courts ruled 
against the claims of the old trustees, and they 
retained Webster to present their case to the 
Supreme Court of the United States. He was 
then 36 years old and had just moved to Boston; 
he had already argued several cases in the Su­
preme Court. But despite the fact that this case 
presented a new point of constitutional law-­
whether a corporate charter was a "contract"-­
and that the political infighting that gave rise to 
the dispute was a hot issue in New Hampshire, 
the case attracted little attention or interest 
from the legal profession or the general public 
in other parts of the country. 

Arguments were heard in March 1818, in 
the cramped, temporary quarters to which the 
Supreme Court had been relegated after its 
courtroom in the United States Capitol had 
been burned by the British during the War of 
1812. Arguments began at 11 o'clock on the 
morning of March 10, with Webster's argument 
consuming most of the first day. The audience 
consisted of only a few interested lawyers and a 
small band of New Englanders--an assemblage 
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Webster entered Dartmouth College in 1797, taking his degree in lSOI. This picture or the campus, with Dartmouth 
Hall at center, was drawn two years after he graduated. 

which Webster later described as "small and 
unsym pathetic." 

Webster spoke in a calm, deliberate man­
ner. As one observer wrote: 

It was hardly eloquence, in the strict sense 
of the tenn, it was pure reason. Now and 
then, for a sentence or two, his eye flashed 
and his voice swelled into a bolder note, as he 
uttered some emphatic thought; but he in­
stantly fell back into the tone of eamest 
con versation .... 

Drawing upon not only prior Supreme Court 
decisions, but also such varied sources as New 
Hampshire law, the Federalist Papers, Black­
stone's Commentaries and English precedent 
dating back to the reign of Queen Elizabeth, 
Webster endeavored to persuade the Court 
that under the United States Constitution the 
rights and property of private corporations were 
beyo'~d legislative interference. He argued that 
if Dartmouth College, his alma mater, could be 
destroyed by legislative fiat, so could Yale and 
Harvard. (Some here might not think that a bad 

idea.) 
After four hours of intricate legal reasoning, 

Webster paused for a moment, then made a 
dramatic, emotional appeal to the Justices' 
sympathies for the cause of higher education. 
He stated, according to one surviving account 
of the oration: 

Sir, you may destroy this little institution; 
it is weak; it is in your hands! I know it is one 
ofthe lesser lights in the literary horiwn ofour 
country. You mayput it out. But ifyou do so, 
you must carry through your work! You must 
extinguish, one after another, all those great 
lights ofscience which, for more than a cen­
tury, have thrown their radiance over our 
land! 

No doubt there are many in this audience 
today, as there may have been in the audience 
who heard Webster in 1818, who would dis­
agree as to Dartmouth being a "lesser light" on 
the literary horizon of our country. But in any 
event, Webster was just laying the foundation 
for his next line, which I am sure is known well 

1 
/. 
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by many in this audience: 

It is, sir, as I have said, a small college. And 
yet, there are those who love it--. 

It was an extraordinary presentation. 
Though the peroration appears to have been 
planned, Webster was overcome with emotion; 
tears clouded the eyes of the Chief Justice; the 
audience and the Associate Justices sat spell­
bound. As Justice Joseph Story wrote years 
later: 

[Webster'sJ whole air and manner ... gave to 
his oralory an almost superhuman influence .... 
The whole audience had been wrought up to 
the highest excitement; many were dissolved 
in tears; many betrayed the most agitating 
mental strnggles; many were sinking under ex­
hausting efforts to conceal their own emo­
tion. 

When the Court met for its 1819 Term, it 
convened for the first time in what one newspa­
per described as a "splendid room provided for 
it in the Capitol." The decision in the Dart­
mouth College case was announced at the Court's 
first session. When ChiefJustice John Marshall 
began to deliver his opinion from the Bench, it 
was soon clear that Webster's advocacy had 
proved persuasive. The Chief Justice stated 
that the colonial charter of Dartmouth College 
was indeed a "contract" which the New Hamp­
shire state legislature could not impair without 
violating the Constitution. One Justice dis­
sented without opinion, and another was ab­
sent, but the remaining four of the seven Jus­
tices who then served on the Court concurred 
with the Chief Justice. 

Before this audience, it would be tempting 
to say that the Dartmouth College case was in 
the very first rank of constitutional importance 
among those cases which Webster argued That, 
however, would be something of an overstate­
ment. The principle that a corporate charter 
issued by the Crown in colonial days was a 
"contract" within the meaning of the Constitution 
was an important one, but later decisions of the 
Supreme Court cut back on some of the lan­
guage of Chief Justice Marshall, as to what 
actions by the state would constitute an "im­
pairment" of such a contract. Yet, there is no 

doubt that the case had a tremendous impact on 
Webster's career, establishing him among the 
outstanding members of the bar of the Su­
preme Court. 

Webster would be accounted a supporter of 
the Constitution and the Union throughout his 
time in the Senate, and in his several unsuccess­
ful bids for the Presidency. His first great 
speech on this subject in the Senate occurred in 
January 1830. The previous day he had walked 
into the Senate chamber while waiting to argue 
another case before the Supreme Court (one 
floor below). Though the topic under consid­
eration was a resolution to restrict the sale of 
public lands, the debate had begun to encom­
pass other subjects, including the raising of 
revenues under the national tariff, sectional 
differences, and even the nature of the Union 
itself. The political interests of the East, South 
and West frequently differed, and Senator Rooert 
Y. Hayne of South Carolina sought to forge an 
alliance between the Southern and Western 
interests. 

From the floor of the Senate, Senator Hayne 
attacked the East as being opposed to low land 
prices that would favor the West. He also 
asserted that Eastern exploitation of the pro­
tectionist tariff victimized both the South and 
the West, by cheapening Southern exports and 
making imports more expensive. A states' 
rights proponent, Hayne asserted that the tariff 
was unconstitutional and that individual states 
had the power to nullify such national legisla­
tion. 

Astonished by the virulence of Hayne's 
remarks, Webster, an Easterner from Massa­
chusetts, rose the following day to reply. Thus 
began what has since been described as "the 
greatest debate in the history of the Senate." At 
length, Webster aggressiVely contested Hayne's 
charge of Eastern hostility to the West, then 
launched into vigorous defense of the Union. 
To those politicians who believed that the Union 
was merely an arrangement of convenience 
which could easily be dispensed with, Webster 
proclaimed: 

I deem far otherwise the union ofthe States .... 
I believe, fully and sincerely believe, that the 
union of the States is essential to the prosperity 
and safety of the States. I am a unionist, and.... 
would strengthen the ties that hold us together. 
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"His knowledge is at once extensive and minute, his intel­
lectual. resources very great; and whatever may be the 
subject or discussion, he is sure glad to shed on it the light 
or an active, acute, and powerful mind" wrote English 
traveler Harriet Martineau orWebster after an 1835 visit. 

Hayne's response to Webster was extensive 
and consumed most of the two days. Some 
believed that his eloquence was so effective that 
he had demolished Webster's argument. By the 
time that Webster rose to reply, the following 
day, the debate had aroused unusual interest-­
perhaps more because bf the personalities in­
volved than because of the issues. The ornate 
Senate chamber was full to overflowing, and as 
Webster later remembered, he "never spoke in 
the presence of an audience so eager and so 
sympathetic." Webster's response ran for three 
hours the first day, and almost as long on the 
next, as he rose to a level of oratorical excel­
lence which he never exceeded and that few 
others have attained. 

Answering Hayne point by point, Webster 
eventually turned to the subject of the Union 
and the Constitution. He rejected the idea that 
the Union was merely a creature of the states, 
whose actions any state could declare to be 
constitutionally invalid. It was for the Supreme 
Court, and not the individual states, to decide 
whether an Act of Congress violated the 
Constitution. Turning directly toward Hayne, 

for his peroration, Webster proclaimed his faith 
that the United States could have both liberty 
and union: 

When my eyes shall be tumed to behold for 
the last time the sun in heaven, may I not see him 
shining on the broken and dishonored fragments 
of a once glorious Union; on States dissevered, 
discordant, belligerent; on a land rent with civil 
feuds, or drenched, it may be, in fratemal blood! 
Let their last feeble and lingering glance rather 
behold the glorious ensign ofthe republic.... UlJefty 
and Union, now and forever, one and insepa­
rable! 

Webster's speech, by fortunate chance, had 
been taken down in shorthand by a spectator in 
the Senate gallery. It soon went through more 
than twenty printings, and thousands of copies 
were distributed throughout the country, par­
ticularly to the Western states, where Webster's 
reputation now spread. According to one histo­
rian, "The speech touched the craving of the 
American imagination for the heroic and the 
fabulous." In later years, Hayne himself ac­
knowledged Webster as "the most consum­
mate orator of either ancient or modern times." 

Webster would remain in the Senate for 
more than 16 years after his "Reply to Hayne," 
but he never gave a better speech there. During 
these succeeding years he would be known as a 
member of the "Great Triumvirate," along 
with John C. Calhoun of South Carolina and 
Henry Clay of Kentucky. These three would 
dominate the senatorial horizon for 20 years, 
and would amount to a major force in the 
nation's government, by reason of their politi­
cal skills and the force of their personalities. 
They had entered Congress at roughly the same 
time. They were last gathered together in the 
United States Senate during the winter of 1850, 
when sectional antagonism over the institution 
of slavery had once more reared its head. 

With the end of the Mexican War, in 1848, 
the United States had acquired a huge amount 
of territory from Mexico--what is now virtually 
the entire Southwestern part of our country. 
Out of this territory, California wished admis­
sion as a free state, but the Southerners in 
Congress demanded concessions from the North 
in exchange. That body turned to the difficult 
task of fashioning what would be called the 
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"Compromise of 1850." Physically, the Great 
Triumvirate was on its collective last legs (if I 
may use that expression). Clay, 73, was frail and 
constantly coughing, sometimes appearing too 
ill to climb the steps of the Capitol. Calhoun, 67, 
and near death, "already seemed a disembod­
ied spirit." Webster, 68, was far from well, 
"nearly broken down with labor and anxiety." 

In a speech to the Senate, in late January of 
1850, Clay outlined a comprehensive solution 
which he believed would form a basis upon 
which the warring factions could get together. 
In early March, Calhoun undertook to respond 
on behalf of the diehard Southerners, but was 
so infirm that he had to listen to another Sena­
tor read his speech, as he slumped huddled in a 
blanket. (In a matter of months, he would be 
dead.) 

Against this background, Webster's response 
was eagerly awaited, and on March 7 he took up 
the cudgels once more for the Union. But this 
time he was pleading not only with the South­
erners, but with the Northerners, to compro­
mise on issues that were very important to 
them. He spoke for more than three hours, 
seldom looking at his extensive notes. Accord­
ing to one commentator, "No utterance by an 
American statesman created more excitement 
at the time of its delivery or has been more 
fiercely discussed by historians." 

The Compromise of 1850 was passed later 
that year. Some two years later Webster died at 
his estate in Marshfield, Massachusetts, at the 
age of 70. 

Shortly after I began practicing law in Ari­
zona, 35 years ago, I noticed hanging on the wall 
of the office of the United States Attorney a 
lithograph of someone who was obviously Daniel 
Webster making a speech to a group of people 
who looked like other Senators. I asked the 
U.S. Attorney what the occasion was, and he 
said that it depicted Webster's reply to Senator 
Hayne. I did not know much more about 
Webster's "Reply to Hayne" than the perora­
tion, to which I had been exposed somewhere 
during my education--and I think the same was 
true of the U.S. Attorney. 

As I was preparing my remarks for today I 
thought back to this incident, and realized that 
it took place about a century and a quarter after 
Webster delivered that speech. Then I asked 
myself, "Is it conceivable that 125 years from 

now--indeed, 25 years from now--people would 
have pictures of a present-day Senator or Rep­
resentative delivering a speech in the legislative 
chamber while colleagues crowded in to hear?" 
The answer is obviously "No." 

In a way, this summarizes the difference 
between the times of Daniel Webster and our 
own times. It is easy to make too much of these 
differences and to exaggerate them, often to the 
benefit of the dead and departed. Neither 
Webster, Clay, nor Calhoun were consistent in 
the views they expressed throughout their long 
lives. Indeed, each of them seemed to exem­
plify Emerson's maxim that "a foolish consis­
tency is the hobgoblin of little minds." None of 
them was above reproach in keeping the politi­
cal bargains he made. Webster was venal even 
by the standards of his own day, since he en­
couraged the solicitation of funds from wealthy 
Bostonian constituents to maintain his lavish 
life-style in Washington. All three of the Tri­
umvirate--Webster, Clay and Calhoun--were 
badly bitten by the presidential bug, and it 
showed in their conduct. 

But when all of this debunking is given its 
due, there does, it seems to me, remain a 
difference between these three giants of the 
first half of the nineteenth century and public 
figures of more recent times. Calhoun, Clay 
and Webster all sat down by themselves on 
numerous occasions and either wrote out a 
speech or, at least, notes which would be used in 
delivering a speech on some great issue. By the 
standards of our times, these speeches were 
often incredibly long, and reading them today, 
it can be fairly said, is, in places, incredibly dull. 
But we must also remember that at the time 
these speeches were given there were far fewer 
competing modes of entertainment or enlight­
enment than there are today. In this the orators 
of the nineteenth century were fortunate; those 
exposed to the emotional roller coasters of 
today's talk shows would hardly be likely to 
weep at Webster's peroration in the Dartmouth 
College case. 

These statesmen were at least willing to 
stand up and publicly say what they thOUght 
about an important public question, and to give 
the reasons why they thought the way they did. 
And the speeches or articles or letters which 
bore their names were more likely than not to 
be their own work products. As a result, people 
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A brillianl oralor in Congress as well as before Ihe Court, Websler in lhis painling by George Peler Alexander Healy 
Ihunders his celebraled reply 10 Soulh Carolina Senalor Robert Hayne. He ended his speech wilh Ihe words "Liberty 
and ' ynion, now and forever, one and inseparable!" 

listened when they spoke; these men did not but it is all the more reason for celebrating on 

need a "Meet the Press" format to obtain a this happy occasion the completion of The 

public hearing. That this is not so today, it Papers of Daniel Webster. 

seems to me, is a singular loss to our society; 




Tribute to Chief Justice Earl Warren 

William J. Brennan, Jr. 

Editor's Note: Associate Justice Brennan deliv­
ered this speech at the Fainnont Hotel in San 
Francisco on April 8, 1989, as part of the "Earl 
WalTen--A Remembrance" tribute marking the 
twentieth anniversary of Chief Justice WalTen's 
retirement from the Bench. 

It was my great honor to serve with Earl 
Warren on the Supreme Court for thirteen of 
the sixteen years he presided as Chief Justice 
and I take deep pride that this distinguished 
assembly is today honoring the memory of one 
of the great figures of American history. The 
judicial record that richly earned him that dis­
tinction is known throughout the world. Those 
decisions are a permanent monument to the 
great skills of leadership, energy, humanity and 
quiet wisdom he brought to his great office. I 
leave to others the discussion of that peerless 
record and limit these brief comments to some 
vignettes from my memory of him as Chief 
Justice and cherished friend. 

Earl Warren was physically a large man, 
naturaily gregarious and open, with a warm and 
engaging smile. It was impossible to dislike 
him. He liked people and people liked him. He 
was instinctively courteous and sensitive to the 
feelings of others. He put strangers at their 
ease immediately. However great their judicial 
differences with him, his brethren (16 Associ­
ate Justices during his tenure), without excep­
tion, personally were very fond of him. 

It is the fashion to refer to the Supreme 
Court during his years as the "Warren Court." 
That does not, of course, signify that he domi­
nated the shaping of the Court's decisions. 
Whatever the case of John Marshall, Earl Warren 

Associate Justice William J. Brennan, Jr., served with 
Earl Warren for 13 out of the 16 years Warren presided 
over the Court. 

would be the first emphatically to say that this 
was not true of him. Functioning in the nation's 
fledgling years, Marshall's Court perforce fash­
ioned the principles that ruled the great consti­
tutional decisions of that time. In contrast, 
most of the notable decisions of the Warren 
Court adopted or expanded upon constitutional 
views espoused--often in dissent--in cases de­
cided before Earl Warren was appointed Chief 
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Justice. For his brethren, however, the "War­
ren Court" is highly appropriate as recogniton 
ofhis effective leadership in a time that brought 
to the Court the greatest diversity of deeply 
troublesome and controversial questions in the 
Court's history. 

He directed our weekJy Court conferences 
superbly. He spent many hours in preparation 
for them, usually in bed in the early hours of the 
morning. The agenda of cases seeking review 
lengthened as the years went on, but he never 
failed to have a complete grasp of the issues 
involved in each case and to state those issues 
lucidly and concisely for the benefit of his breth­
ren. He encouraged the fullest discussion of 
each case, but had an enviable knack for ending 
aimless discussion. 

The unique difficulty of Supreme Court 
decision-making tends to develop close profes­
sional and personal relations among the Jus­
tices. There is the remote chance, however, 
that\yidely disparate judicial views--sometimes 

heatedly espoused and bitterly fought--can spill 
over into personal differences. Earl Warren's 
example of utmost sensitivity to the airing of 
differing views, and his innate courtesy toward 
his brethren, set the pattern that usually kept 
the most heated discussions within limits of 
decorum and personal consideration. But he 
was human and on rare occasions (not more 
than twice, as I recall) his usually tightly con­
trolled temper flared when he took offense at 
something said and he errupted with harsh 
words. 

That happened, too, from the Bench ~hen 
an oral announcement of Justice Frankfurter 
expanded on the Justice's written filed opinion. 
This was the announcement of Justice Frank­
furter's dissent, which I joined, in Caratativo v. 
California. The Court, without opinion but 
after argument, summarily affirmed the judg­
ment of the California Supreme Court denying 
review of a prison warden's determination that 
a criminal condemned to death was not insane 

The Warren Court enjoying a lighter moment: (standing, from left) Byron R. White, William J. Brennan, Jr., Poller 

Stewart, Arthur J. Goldberg; (seated, from left) Thomas C. Clark, Hugo L. Black, Chief Justice Earl Warren, William 

O. Douglas. Associate Justice John Marshall Harlan is absent. 
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and could be executed. Justice Frankfurter's 
oral announcement went beyond the dissenting 
opinion to say things about California's penal 
system that struck a sensitive nerve in the Chief 
Justice. That system, largely his handiwork as 
Governor of California, was his great pride. He 
took the unusual step, almost as personal privi­
lege, of answering Justice Frankfurter's oral 
announcement in words that scarcely obscured 
his resentment, and detailed at length the his­
tory and virtues of California's progressive 
penal system. 

He had granite integrity. He also had a 
deep-seated sense of fairness that conditioned 
both his approach to decisions and his relations 
with his brethren, indeed conditioned his entire 
life. He bent over backwards in assigning 
opinions to assure that each Justice, including 
himself, wrote approximately the same number 
of Court opinions and received a fair share of 
the more desirable ones. When President 
Johnson insisted, over his strenuous objection, 
that he chair the Warren Commission that 
investigated the assassination of President 
Kennedy, he adamantly rejected his brethren's 
plea that they be allowed to relieve him of the 
burden of opinion writing until the Commission 
work was completed. Throughout that Term he 
spent early morning and late evening hours at 
Commission headquarters opposite the Court 
and carried a full burden of Court work during 
the day. 

His concern for his colleagues was mani­
fested even in trivial matters. He carried the 
principle that he was only primus inter pares to 
the extreme length of vigorously opposing the 
increase from $500 to $2500 of the differential 
between his salary and the salary of an Associ­
ate Justice. He was even embarassed that only 
he among the Justices was provided with a 
government automobile. He was always genu­
inely concerned with the well-being of his col­
leagues and their families. 

His concern with fairness was also the hall­
mark of his jurisprudence. People were his 
concern, especially ordinary people--the disad­
vantaged, the down-trodden, the poor, the fri­
endless. The memory of his owm uphill struggle 
from the poverty of his youth never left him, nor 
the lesson that discrimination against the disad­
vantaged breeds poverty degrading to human 
dignity. He strongly believed that individual 

The Chief Juslice conferring wilh Presidenl Lyndon 
Johnson in Ihe Oval Office. 

human dignity was the primary value fostered 
and protected by the Constitution. It outraged 
him that a state court enforced a restrictive 
covenant that limited burial privileges to 
"members of the Caucasion race," resulting in 
the denial to a widow of the right to bury her 
husband, a Winnebago Indian, even after serv­
ices had been conducted at the grave site and 
the burial party had disbanded. Similarly, he 
fought for the summary reversal of a state 
criminal contempt conviction of a black woman 
who refused to answer questions from the wit­
ness stand until counsel stopped addressing her 
by her first name, "Mary," and addressed her as 
"Miss Hamilton." Approval by the states in 
both cases, in his strong view, demeaned human 
dignity and was therefore unconstitutional state 
action. 

This thread of concern for human dignity 
also runs through more famous decisions. He 
wrote Miranda v. Arizona as a step toward 
enforcing a constitutional framework of crimi­
nal justice consistent with human dignity and 
democratic equality by mandating enlightened 
and civilized treatment by law enforcement 
officers of criminal suspects. He wrote Brown 
v. BoardofEducation that held that segregated 
education threatened impairment of the hu­
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man dignity of black school children and was 
therefore unconstitutional: "To separate them 
from others of similar age and qualifications 
solely because of their race generates a feeling 
of inferiority as to their status in a way unlikely 
ever to be undone." In the voting cases, often 
said by him to be the most important of his 
tenure, he saw disenfranchisement of minori­
ties and malapportionment as twin evils deny­
ing their victims a fair and equal opportunity to 
enjoy democratic equality and full human dig­
nity. Possessed of an equal right to vote, the 
least of us, he thought, would be armed with an 
effective weapon needed to achieve a fair share 
of the benefits of our free society. In sum, he 
perceived that at the core of the process of 
government erected by the framers--unwieldy, 
imperfect, wearisome, sometimes maddening-­
lay a profound vision of justice, and that it was 
the duty of the Court to make that vision a 
rea'lity for the least of men. He expressed his 
vision after his retirement in these words: 

Where there is injustice, we should correct it; 
where there is poverty, we should eliminate it, 
where there is cormption, we should stamp it out; 
where there is violence, we should punish it; 
where there is neglect, we should provide care; 
where there is war, we should restore peace; and 
wherever corrections are achieved, we should 
add them pennanently to our storehouse of 
treasure. 

His love of sports was another very human 
trait. He was an ardent hunter and fisherman; 
indeed, his brethren's parting gift to him upon 
his retirement was a specially made shotgun in 
which he took great pride, and with which he 
last hunted in California only a few months 

before his death. He rarely missed a football 
game of the Washington Redskins (I went to 
many with him) and managed every fall to 
attend a World Series baseball game if the 
Series involved a city not too far from Washing­
ton. He was the perfect companion on an 
outing, kindly, pleasant, well-balanced, and 
amazingly well-informed. 

None of us believed that he would slow 
down when he retired and he did not. He 
retained chambers at the Court primarily to do 
some writing. He wrote one book and began 
the writing of others, but was soon unable to 
resist the lure of the immense number of invita­
tions which deluged him from campuses all 
over the country. He began extensive travels to 
colleges and universities throughout the coun­
try. He usually made no formal or prepared 
speech but engaged in informal question and 
answer sessions at which students could ask and 
receive an answer to virtually any question. The 
experience gave him a tremendous lift; his eyes 
would shine as he expressed enthusiastically his 
belief that the future of the country was safe in 
the hands of the coming generation. 

I last saw him only two hours before his 
death . He wouldn't talk with me about his 
health. He wanted an update on the status of 
the proposal to create a National Court of 
Appeals. He strongly opposed the proposal. Its 
adoption, he was convinced, threatened to shut 
the door of the Supreme Court to the poor, the 
friendless, the little man. To many of his 
colleagues, certainly to me, he was the Super 
Chief. History will surely accord him a first 
place in the pantheon ofour greatest judges and 
greatest Americans. My deep pride in myasso­
ciation with him is exceeded only by my great 
affection for him as a friend. 



My Predecessor: Earl Warren 

Warren E. Burger 

I had met Earl Warren on a few occasions 
before he was appointed Chief Justice but had 
no real acquaintance with him. I attended the 
session of the Court on the first Monday in 
October in 1953, when he formally took the 
oath of office as Chief Justice under a recess 
appointment by President Eisenhower. Presi­
dent Eisenhower attended the hearing, sitting 
in that special reserved chair immediately in 
front of the guest box. At that time, I was 
Assistant Attorney General, and I sat with At­
torney General Herbert Brownell, William P. 
Rogers, Warren Olney, and J. Lee Rankin, all 
of Brownell's staff. Justice Hugo Black as 
Senior Justice administered the oath of office to 
the new Chief Justice. 

When an invitation was extended to Presi­
dent Eisenhower informally, I believe, by Earl 
Warren, the President responded by saying that 
because of his strong belief in both the reality 
and the importance of public perception of 
separation of powers he would come if invited 
by the Court. Justice Black then officially 
invited him. 

Shortly after my nomination as Chief Jus­
tice in late May, 1969, but before my confirma­
tion, I was informally invited to have lunch with 
the Justices. I responded by suggesting that 
some observers might think either that the 
Court was taking confirmation for granted--or 
that I was--and that we would be well advised to 
defer lunch. 

Confirmation came on June 6, and Mrs. 
Burger and I decided that we would call on the 
Chief Justice and Mrs. Warren to pay our 
respects. We did so on the following Sunday 
and were cordially received. The Chief Justice 

Born in Los Angeles in 1891, ChiefJustice Warren was the 
son of a Norwegian immigrant who was employed by the 
Southern Pacific Railroad. Warren worked as a railroad 
callboy before putting himself through college and law 
school at the University of California. 

then invited me to have lunch with him the 
following week to discuss the transition details 
and we did so. At lunch I asked the Chief 
Justice to administer the oath and he responded 
that he thought I would be having one of my 
colleagues of the Court of Appeals do so. I 
responded that the concept of continuity with 
change in the Court was served by his doing it 
and he agreed. In my view, that concept is 
important. 

Until all of the opinions of the Court were 



18 YEARBOOK 1989 

handed down, Chief Justice Warren continued 
in office and, on June 26, I took the oath. Before 
the ceremony the Chief Justice and I met with 
the clerk and the Marshal to review the details 
of the proceedings. It was agreed that I would 
sit in the well of the Courtroom until the routine 
business of the day on the Order List and an­
nouncement of the Court's fmal opinions of the 
Term was completed. At that point President 
Nixon was to present my commission to the 
Court after which the Chief Justice would 
administer the oath of office. In this review of 
the detailed steps one of the Court Officers 
suggested that once the oath was administered 
to me protocol called for my preceding Chief 
Justice Warren leaving the Bench. I immedi­
ately responded that Chief Justice Warren and 
I would depart arm in arm and all was well. 
There are times when protocol should yield to 
agreeable results. 

After presenting the commission, President 
N~on made a very warm speech paying tribute 
to Chief Justice Warren's great career of public 
service extending for more than half a century. 
Chief Justice Warren responded warmly and 
we later proceeded with the usual "photo op-

Warren Burger asked ChiefJustice Warren to administer 
the oath of office when he became Chief Justice in 1969, 
because he thought the concept of continuity with change 
in the Court was important. 

portunities" in the East Courtyard and in front 
of the Court while the guests were leaving to 
join the receiving line for the reception in the 
East and West Conference Rooms. Unlike 
today, there were no questions shouted at any­
one during the photo session. 

On the day of our preliminary "rehearsal" 
of the ceremony, Chief Justice Warren told me 
he would be in Washington for several weeks 
and then would be flying to California but that 
the official limousine was available to me at 
once. I insisted that, since we had three cars at 
our household, he should keep the limousine 
for the time. He protested but then thanked me 
and said that would be helpful because the new 
car he had ordered had not been delivered. 

During the summer I was trying to pick up 
the strings, touring the building and meeting 
with the Court Officers. In the days when I 
argued cases in the Court I would enter by way 
of the garage in a Department car and go 
directly to the Solicitor General's chamber so I 
was not acquainted with the rest of the building. 
In 1960 Chief Justice Warren invited his former 
assistant Warren Olney III to become head of 
the Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts, 
and he called and asked me to urge Olney to 
return to Washington for this appointment. 
Olney and I were close friends from the time he 
headed the Criminal Division of the Depart­
ment of Justice and I headed the Civil Division. 
Olney served for many years in that office and 
brought to bear his long experience as an active 
practitioner and public servant. When Olney 
returned to Washington to take office Mrs. 
Burger and I had a reception at our "farm" 
house, "Holly Hill." The Chief Justice and Mrs. 
Warren and I walked around the six acres of 
woods and gardens and he said somewhat sadly 
that he wished he had settled in the country in 
1953 rather than in a Washington apartment. 

During July and August of 1%9 when I 
needed background information I went to Jus­
tice Black who was most cordial and helpful. 
Later, as problems arose and I needed back­
ground about the Administrative Office of the 
Courts and the work ofthe Judicial Conference 
and its committees, I frequently went to Chief 
Justice Warren's chambers and consulted with 
him to understand the background. He was 
always helpful but he protested that he should 
come to my chambers for these discussions. I 



19 MY PREDECESSOR 

told him I needed the exercise and, in any event, 
I, as the one seeking information should go to 
the source. That cooperative relationship con­
tinued throughout his lifetime. 



Filling Justice William O. Douglas's Seat: 

President Gerald R. Ford's Appointment of 


Justice John Paul Stevens 


David M. O'Brien 

Editor's Note: Ihis paper was prepared for the 
Seventh Presidential Conference at Hofstra Uni­
versity on "Gerald R. Ford: Restoring the Presi­
dency, " April 6-9, 1989. 

Justice Harlan Fiske Stone once likened 
SUl?reme Court appointments to a "lottery" 
from a pool of more or less qualified individu­
als. His close friend, Harvard law professor and 
political scientist Thomas Reed Powell, was 
more blunt: "[T]he selection ofSupreme Court 
Justices is pretty much a matter of chance."l 
What they had in mind was how a President's 
personal politics--his political associations and 
friendships--determine the fate of qualified 
candidates for the Court. But, the pool of 
possible candidates also retlects the weight each 
President gives to (1) rewarding personal and 
political associates; (2) advancing his admini­
stration's ideological or policy agenda; and (3) 
professional considerations, the legal experi­
ence and reputation of possible nominees. 2 

Democratic and Republican Presidents, more­
over, tend to have different priorities in defin­
ing the pool from which they pull their nomi­
nees.

President Gerald R. Ford's selection of Justice 
John Paul Stevens departed from the practices 
and priorities set by other recent Presidents, 
with the possible exception of Dwight D. Eisen­
hower. Like that Republican President he so 
admired, Ford had little truck with either the 
personal politics practiced by Democratic Presi­
dents in naming their Justices, or the kind of 
White House politics calculated (occasionally 
incorrectly) to advance an administration's Iegal­
policy agenda by means of judicial appoint­

ments. 
Ford views it as "a mistake [for Presidents] 

to appoint people to the Court on ideological 
grounds."4 This is so not because they may 
misjudge their nominees or later be disap­
pointed by their appointees once on the Bench. 
Rather, Ford maintains that it is "improper" 
for Presidents to have their judicial appoint­
ments turn on "ideological grounds," for that 
denigrates the nominee and the Court. Besides 
placing a premium on professional considera­
tions, Ford, like Eisenhower, relied heavily on 
his Attorney General in selecting a nominee 
whose professional reputation put him outside 
the pale of partisan political controversy. 

Justice Stevens, though, it seems fair to say, 
might never have been appointed bad it not 
been for Ford's "accidental Presidency." As 
Stevens recalls, he "had no political ambitions" 
and "didn't think in terms of getting into the 
kind of political activity that normally precedes 
going on the Bench."5 And Ford was not in a 
position to claim an electoral mandate for turn­
ing the Court in a more sharply conservative 
direction. 

Yet, the appointment of Justice Stevens 
shows much about Ford's Presidency--his dedi­
cation to professionalism in government and 
overcoming the "crisis in confidence" he inher­
ited with the Oval Office from Nixon. Ford, as 
his congressional aide and later presidential 
counselor, Robert T. Hartmann, put it, "was 
the man for that season when he restored the 
faith of a troubled people in their constitutional 
government and in the honor and decency of 
the presidency.. .. To be caretaker of the 
Constitution is no mean glory. Jerry Ford was 

3 
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a far better president than he was politician."6 

An Irony of Politics 

Ironically, political circumstances conspired 
to give Ford the opportunity to fill the seat of 
liberal Justice William O. Douglas. In 1970 as 
HouseRepublican leader, Ford was involved in 
a drive to impeach Douglas. Five years later, 
after being named Vice President by President 
Richard Nixon and then moving into the Oval 
Office when Nixon resigned rather than face 
impeachment in August 1974, he had his only 
chance to fill a vacancy on the high Bench. 

In the early 1970s, Republican Congress­
men were embittered by the Senate's defeat of 
Nixon's first two nominees, Clement Hayns­
worth and G. Harrold Carswell, for the seat of 
Justice Abe Fortas. Fortas resigned in 1969, 
after a battle a year earlier forced his with­
drawal from the nomination to be ChiefJustice. 
He did so because of publicity that he had 
accepted $20,(X)) for serving, while on the Bench, 
as an advisor to the Wolfson Family Founda­
tion. In light of Fortas's resignation, a 1966 Los 
Angeles Times story that Douglas annually re­
ceived $12,000 as a consultant to the Parvin 
Foundation became newsworthy again. Though 
his connections with the foundation had been 
known, allegations of impropriety were oppor­
tune for Republicans.7 

Ford contended the activities of Fortas and 
Douglas stretched the American Bar Associa­
tion's (ABA) canon of judicial ethics that a 
"judge's official conduct should be free from 
impropriety and the appearallce a/impropriety." 
What really disturbed him and others was 
Douglas's life-style and judicial philosophy. 
Ford, as' Hartmann recalls, "disapproved of 
Douglas the way a Grand Rapids housewife 
would deplore the behavior of certain movie 
stars. The old man [Douglas] took too many 
wives and he seemed to encourage any new fad 
in youthful rebellion."s Douglas joined a major­
ity on the Warren Court in extending First 
Amendment protection to ostensibly obscene 
materials. And his publishing agent permitted 
Ralph Ginsberg, convicted for publishing ob­
scene and libelous magazines, to print an ex­
cerpt from one of Douglas's books in Avant 
Garde. When Douglas participated in the Court's 
decision (denying) review of Ginsberg's convic­

tion, Ford alleged a conflict of interest. 
While Representatives Harold R. Gross of 

Iowa and John R. Rarick of Louisiana publicly 
called for Douglas's resignation, Ford and Hart­
mann investigated the Justice's off-the-Bench 
activities. Ford, however, might never have 
taken a lead in an impeachment drive had 
House Republicans not forced him to do so. 
Indeed, he thought a "motion to impeach 
[Douglas] would widen the gulf between con­
servatives, moderates and liberals;" as House 
leader he "had a duty to try to prevent that from 
happening.'''' 

Ford was prodded into doing something 
when an excerpt of Douglas's book Points of 
Rebellion appeared in Evergreen, a magazine 
identified with left-wing radicals. But, when he 
finally went to the floor of the House to call for 
a full investigation, Representative Andrew 
Jacobs, J r., a Democrat from Indiana, beat him 
to the punch by introducing an impeachment 
resolution. Under House rules, the matter im­
mediately went to the Judiciary Committee, 
which was controlled by Democrats. 

When the committee found no grounds for 
impeachment, Ford called it a " travesty." The 
momentum for impeachment, however, had 
declined by the time of the committee's report. 
The Senate had confirmed Justice Harr.y 
Blackmun, Nixon's third nominee for Fortas's' 
seat. Douglas's association with the Parvin 
Foundation no longer appeared extraordinary 
in view of revelations during Blackmun's con­
firmation hearings that, as a federal appellate 
judge, he was associated with the Mayo Clinic 
and the Kahler Corporation Foundation, among 
others, as well as a trustee of (Chief Justice 
Warren Burger's alma mater) the William 
Mitchell College of Law. 

Ford continued to maintain that "Douglas's 
extensive extrajudicial earnings and activities 
have impaired his usefulness and clouded his 
contribution to the United States Supreme 
Court."!O That, in turn, led to attacks in the 
press on him forming a "partisan witch hunt." 
In retrospect, Ford claims what he "did at the 
time may have been politically ill advised, but it 
was not irresponsible."!! 

Four years after attacking Douglas, Ford 
then had the chance to fill the seat the Justice 
occupied for more than 36 years. The decision 
to retire was not unexpected, though painfully 
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difficult for Douglas. It was not that Ford would 
appoint his successor, or even that Nixon's 
appointees were moving the Court in directions 
that troubled the Justice. On December 31, 
1974, after arriving in Nassau for a winter vaca­
tion, Douglas suffered a stroke. He was hospi­
talized and could not return to the Court to hear 
oral arguments until March 24, 1975. Frail, 
confined to a wheel chair, and despite deterio­
rating health, he persisted even after doctors 
told him in October that he would not walk 
again. Finally, on November 1, following a 
meeting with Fortas and Clark Clifford, the 
strong-willed but enfeebled 76 year-old Justice 
gave in to the inevitable. 

On the morning of November 12, Justice 
Douglas called Deputy Attorney General Ha­
rold Tyler to tell him that he intended to resign 
and that his wife, Cathy, would deliver his letter 
of resignation later that day. Douglas never 
forgot or forgave Ford's attack on him, and 
cou!d not bring himself to give his letter directly 

to the President. At 3:15, Cathy delivered 
Douglas's letter to Tyler at the Department of 
Justice. 12 "It was my hope," Douglas explained 
in his letter, "that I would be able to continue to 
participate in the work of the Supreme Court." 
But, "it would be inadvisable for me to attempt 
to carry on the duties required of a member of 
the Court. I have been bothered with incessant 
and demanding pain which depletes my energy 
to the extent that I have been unable to shoulder 
my full share of the burden of the Court's work." 

Ford immediately accepted the resignation 
with a letter commending Douglas's "contribu­
tions to the law both as a scholar and jurist."I. 
That afternoon he met with Attorney General 
Edward Levi and presidential counselor Philip 
Buchen to discuss potential successors. The 
next day, Ford told reporters he would make his 
nomination "as soon as I reasonably can, be­
cause it is widely recognized that the workload 
of the Court and the extremely important issues 
to be decided require, as soon as possible, a full 

Presidenl Gerald Ford consulled wilh presidenlial counselor Philip Buchen (al lefl) aboul who he should nominale 
10 succeed Juslice Douglas. Ford was delemlined 10 reslore confidence in Ihe governmenl by choosing a polilical 
moderale wil h solid professional experience. 

http:Justice.12
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Court of nine Justices. With only eight Jus­
tices," he added, "there is too much risk of an 
equal 4 to 4 division of opinion in critical cases." 
As to his nominee's qualifications, Ford said: 15 

I shall take very seriously the need to have a 
person highly respected forprofessional qual­
ity, for intellectual capacity, and for integrity. 
Also, I am looking for an energetic person 
andpreferably one ofmiddle age who can be 
expected to contribute effectively for a sub­
stantial period ofyears to the important work 
of the Court. 

"Few appointments a President makes," Ford 
realized, "can have as much impact on the 
future of the country as those to the Supreme 
Court."16 

Towards a Restoration of Public Confidence 
and Professionalism 

Even before meeting with Levi and Buchen 
to discuss potential nominees, Ford laid the 
foundation for a process and an understanding 
which ultimately determined the selection of 
his nominee. Whether or not, as Buchen later 
claimed, Ford was "weak as an administrator 
and a planner,"17 there is no denying his com­
mitment to restoring public confidence in the 
post-Watergate Presidency by returning pro­
fessionals to government. "[Olur long national 
nightmare is over," he proclaimed on becoming 
the 38th President: "Our Constitution works. 
Our great Republic is a government oflaws and 
not of men." 

Ford's commitment to the restoration of 
public confidence and professionalism in gov­
ernment was no more evident than in the 
Department of Justice (DOJ), notably with the 
appointment of Edward Levi as Attorney Gen­
eral. His determination and virtually complete 
reliance on Levi, more than any other factor, 
accounts for his final choice in filling the va­
cancy on the Court. 

"[N]owhere did Watergate leave mOre last­
ing scars than at the Department of Justice," 
Ford recalls. "In less than three years, it had 
had three Attorneys General--Richard Klein­
dienst, Elliot Richardson and William Saxbe."18 
Watergate "had a devastating impact on the 
record and morale of the Department of Jus­

tice. Allegations of partisan politics were ram­
pant. Relations with Congress were at a low 
ebb. The Federal Bureau of Investigation had 
gone through a disturbing era. United States 
intelligence and counterintelligence activities 
were being seriously challenged by Congress, 
the news media, and the public."19 

Ford needed to make his own imprint on the 
Justice Department. Still, he did not initially 
dismiss William Saxbe who became Attorney 
General in January, 1974, during the Watergate 
crisis. Less than a year later, however, Ford 
offered Saxbe the Ambassadorship to India 
after hearing he wanted the assignment. This 
enabled Ford to distinguish his Administra­
tion's approach to judicial selection and legal 
policy. 

Indicative of Ford's commitment to restor­
ing public confidence in government was his 
judgment that the "new Attorney General. . . 
had to be someone of unquestioned integrity 
and impeccable legal abilities and background 
and ought to come from outside the traditional 
political arena."20 Nixon had "heavily politi­
cized" the department and Ford was concerned 
that Presidents typically chose their closest 
advisors or campaign managers for the govern­
ment's highest legal post. He wanted "someone 
nonpolitical."21 His chief of staff, Don~d 
Rumsfeld, and Buchen agreed. Ford "needed 
an Attorney General who would be different, 
someone highly respected in the legal profes­
sion and uninhibited by partisanship."22 
Rumsfeld suggested Levi, who was president of 
the University of Chicago and former dean of 
its law school. When Ford met him on Decem­
ber 5, 1974, he was impressed and immediately 
offered the position of Attorney General. 

No less important, Ford delegated and re­
lied on the judgment of his new Attorney Gen­
eral. "One of the most critically important re­
sponsibilities" assigned him, Ford recalls, was 
"to assist in choosing a nominee to the United 
States Supreme Court."Zl But, there was more 
to their relationship and, again, it reflects a 
shared commitment to professionalism in gov­
ernment. 

Levi brought in his own team and set the 
tone in the department. Harold Tyler, a federal 
district court judge, was persuaded to serve as 
Deputy Attorney ·General. To head the civil 
division, Levi recruited the dean of Brigham 



24 YEARBOOK 1989 

Edlrard Levi was president olthe University of Chicago 
when President Ford appointed him Attorney General. 
He was given a free hand by the White House to make 
selections ofjudges lor the Justice Department, and Ford 
solicited his advice about candidates for the vacant seat 
on the Court. 

Young University Law School, Rex Lee, who 
later served as Ronald Reagan's Solicitor 
General. For the criminal division, Levi ele­
vated a respected United States attorney, Rich­
ard L. Thornburgh, who was brought back as 
Attorney General at the end of Reagan's sec­
ond term and continued on during George 
Bush's administration. 

Professional considerations governed Levi's 
view of federal judgeships as well. Like other 
Presidents, Ford delegated primary responsi­
bility for filling vacancies in the lower federal 
courts to his Attorney General.24 Initially, Levi 
personally handled these nominations. But, he 
soon found he was too busy with other matters 
and that most were routine. Thereafter, the 
task was assigned to Deputy Attorney General 
Tyler, who was assisted by two career attorneys. 
Tyler worked to rebuild relations with the ABA, 
which were badly damaged during the Nixon 
years. He had a "virtually free hand" and 
conferred with Levi only after conducting his 
own investigation of potential nominees.2S 

Notably, except for the Supreme Court 
appointment, Levi and Tyler had few dealings 

with White House staff in recommending 
nominees for the 66 lower court judgeships 
filled by Ford. They enjoyed a degree of inde­
pendence and freedom from White House in­
tervention and supervision that contrasts sharply 
with the operation of other Administrations.26 

Rather than imposing ideological considera­
tions or its own legal-policy goals, Ford's DOJ 
sought high-caliber nominees and cooperation 
from the Senate in securing their confirmation. 

The process and goals of selecting federal 
judges during Ford's Presidency, to be sure, 
failed to infuse a sharp conservative judicial 
philosophy into the federal bench. In the words 
of Stephen Markman, the Assistant Attorney 
General in charge of judicial recruitment dur­
ing President Ronald Reagan's second term: 
"the Ford Administration did not make signifi­
cant changes" and "the weakness of the Ford 
Administration may be seen in the statistic that 
a record 21 percent of its district court appoint­
ments went to members of the opposing party.'>Z7 

Yet, such criticism reflects both how the 
priorities of Administrations differ and the po­
litical circumstances constraining each Presi­
dency. All Presidents give more or less weight 
to three factors in their judicial selection: (1) 
the professionalism, or legal experience and 
reputation, of potential nominees; (2) reward­
ing their long-time supporters and party-faith­
ful; and (3) pursuing their ideological or policy 
agenda through judicial appointments. Unlike 
some other Presidents, Ford placed a premium 
on the professional qualifications of nominees, 
to the exclusion of ideological considerations 
and occasionally even partisan politics. Like 
Eisenhower, Ford also delegated major re­
sponsibility to his Attorney General, who in 
turn worked with the ABA in evaluating poten­
tial nominees' professional qualifications. 

The decision to consult with the ABA on 
filling Douglas's seat was itself politically sym­
bolic; it signified that the professional consid­
erations would be taken seriously. Nixon put an 
end to the practice of consulting with the ABA 
on nominees for the Court in 1971. The ABA's 
Standing Committee on Federal Judiciary had 
screened prospective nominees for the Court 
since Eisenhower's selection ofJustice William 
J. Brennan, Jr. in 1956, rating them as "quali­
fied" or "unqualified." But, Senate criticism 
and rejection of the nominations of Hayns­
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worth and Carswell--who the ABA ranked as 
"highly qualified" and "qualified," respectively-­
infuriated Nixon and prompted the ABA to 
change its system of rating nominees. (Supreme 
Court nominees are now rated "well qualified," 
"qualified," or "not qualified.") After another 
round of unfavorable press over possible candi­
dates for the seats of retired Justices John 
Harlan and Hugo Black in 1971, Attorney General 
John Mitchell refused to submit any further 
names to the ABA. The committee was left on 
its own in investigating Nixon's last two ap­
pointees, Justices Lewis F. Powell and William 
H. Rehnquist. 

With Ford's appointee to the Court, the 
ABA re-established its informal role in evaluat­
ing candidates before the President's final se­
lection. Whatever the merits of the ABA's 
rankings, they serve to legitimate the profes­
sional competence of nominees.28 And the re­
newal of the ABA's role underscored Ford's 
concern with restoring professionalism and public 
confidence in government. 

Admittedly, even if Ford wanted to make an 
ideological appointment, he was in a poor posi­
tion to do so. As an "accidental President," he 
had no pretense of claiming an electoral man­
date and faced Democratic majorities in Con­
gress. With the prospect of running for election 
in 1976, he faced competing interests within the 
White House and the watchful eye of Demo­
cratic Senators, who considered Douglas's seat 
crucial to the Court's future direction. 

Neither Ford nor Levi entertained making 
an ideological appointment, however. Ford was 
a moderate or "traditional" conservative, be­
lieving in judicial self restraint. "The Court," in 
Ford's view, "should not be benign nor a legis­
lative .court, but in between those extremes ... 
moderate in between those lines."29 "Under 
Chief Justice Warren," he felt, "the Court had 
begun legislating by judicial decree instead of 
simply interpreting the law."JO Still, Ford was 
not inclined toward naming hard-line conserva­
tives. 

Before Douglas's resignation, Ford told 
Levi and Buchen that his top priority in select­
ing a candidate for the Court was "compe­
tency" and "previous court experience." Next, 
the nominee's "[p]ersonal integrity" and "his­
tory of independent thought." Legal and judi­
cial experience ranked higher than legislative 

and political experience, which stood above 
(and virtually eliminated those with only) aca­
demic records as law professors. A final consid­
eration was age; any nominee "should be 50 
plus or minus."3! 

Lobbying and Cross-cutting Pressures 

As other Presidents, Ford faced conflicting 
pressures from within and without the White 
House. Differences between holdovers from 
the Nixon era and Ford's appointees were evi­
dent As Richard Cheney, who served in N"1X()fl'S 

first term and returned to his Administration 
before becoming an assistant to Ford, observed:32 

The worst conflicts in tenns ofpersonal rela­
tionships were inside the White House. There 
is no question about it. We had conflicts 
between the old Nixon carry-overs, and the 
new Ford staffers. The Nixon hands who 
were there when President Ford anived knew 
how the White House ought to operate. Most 
of them were absolutely first-rate people un­
tainted by Watergate in any shape or fonn. 
The old Ford people had been with President 
Ford either when he was a congressman on 
the Hill or since he joined the administration 
as vice president. 

When the vacancy on the Court opened, 
Ford's Presidency split three ways over the ap­
pointment of (1) a woman, (2) a hard-line 
conservative, or (3) a moderate, politically non­
controversial lower court judge. In addition, 
some 30 Congressmen wrote the President about 
their preferred candidates, as did representa­
tives of special-interest groups, Republican 
lawyers, judges, and other individuals inter­
ested in promoting their own candidacy. 33 

White House staff quickly compiled a list of 
possible nominees. Among the appellate court 
judges later given consideration were Third 
Circuit Court of Appeals Judge Arlin Adams, 
endorsed by Senator Hugh Scott and others, 
along with seventh circuit Judge Philip Tone. 
Others mentioned, but not given more consid­
eration, included: Judge Charles Clark of the 
ftfth circuit, who was recommended by Senator 
James O. Eastland. Senator Strom Thurmond 
suggested federal distrio court judges Robert 
Chapman and Charles E. Simmons, along with 
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Judge Emery Widener of the fourth circuit. 
The Alabama Bar Association put up the name 
of Judge Frank M. Johnson, Jr., who James E. 
"Jimmy" Carter elevated to the appellate bench. 
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Judge Alfred 
Goodwin was supported by Senator Mark O. 
Hatfield, while Representative John Byrnes 
drew attention to eighth circuit Judge Smith 
Henley. Roger Blough mentioned Judge Irving 
R. Kaufman of the Second Circuit Court of 
Appeals. 

The prominent attorneys included former 
Solicitor General Robert H. Bork; presidential 
counselor Philip Buchen; former Nixon legal 
counsel Leonard Garment; and Attorney Gen­
eral Levi. In addition, Deputy Attorney Gen­
eral Tyler was mentioned, along with Caspar 
Weinberger and Congressman Charles Wig­
gins. The National Women's Political Caucus 
and Pat Lindh proposed a rather diverse group 
of women attorneys: Bella Abzug, Yvonne B. 
Bur~, Martha Griffiths, Margaret Heckler, 
Carla Hills, Elizabeth Holtzman, Barbara Jor­
don, Patsy Mink, Betty Southard Murphy, and 
Pat Schroeder.34 

Ford confronted the most direct pressure 

The Nalional Women's Polilical Caucus, chaired by 
Audrey Rowe (below) from 1975 10 1977, urged Ihe nomi· 
nalion of a woman. A number of While House slarr also 
pushed for a female candidale, some arguing Ihal il 
would help Ford's bid for Ihe Presidency in 1976. 

for nominating a woman from his wife, Betty, 
who publicly favored Housing and Urban De­
velopment (HUD) Secretary Carla Hills.35 Jill 
Ruckelshaus, the presiding officer of the Na­
tional Commission on the Observance ofInter­
national Women's Year,36 Audrey Rowe, chair 
ofthe National Women's Political Caucus, and 
the National Federation of Business and Pro­
fessional Women's Clubs strongly urged nam­
ing a woman. 37 

Within the Administration, Pat Lindh com­
piled the resumes of several women judges and 
law professors. Among the top were D.C. 
Superior Court Judges Sylvia Bacon and Mar­
garet Haywood; D.C. Court of Appeals Judge 
Julia Cooper; Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
Judge Shirley Hufstedler; federal district judge 
Cornelia Kennedy; and Susie Sharp of the 
Supreme Court of North Carolina. Several law 
professors, Ruth Bader Ginsberg, Herma Hill 
Kay and Dorothy Nelson, were on Lindh's list 
as well as that of the National Women's Politi­
cal Caucus. Other judges included Norma Hol­
loway Johnson, Florence Kelley, Elizabeth 
Kovachevich, Constance Baker Motley, and 
Sandra Day O'Connor (who Reagan appointed 
to the Court in 1981), along with professors 
Soia Mentschifoff, Ellen Peters, Harriet Rabb, 
and Jean Kettleson. 

Some women rumored to be in considera­
tion invited rebellion within the Republican 
Party. The GOP Steering Committee strongly 
opposed Hufstedler, among others. For the 
committee, Senator James A. McClure wrote 
Ford about Hufstedler: 38 

Her opinions from the bench lead us to 
believe that she is precisely the kind of judi­
cial activist wliich has characterized recent 
difficulties with judicial decisions. We be­
lieve her appointment would tilt the Court 
away from the prudent direction it has been 
taking under the Chief Justiceship of Warren 
Burger. 

Attached to McClure's letter were the names of 
"eight persons whose records would indicate 
the kind of judicial and judicious temperament 
[sic] which we believe important to balance the 
Supreme Court." At the top was Robert H. 
Bork. 

A wing of the White House staff held out 
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hope for a woman's nomination even though, 
within days of Douglas's resignation, Levi cir­
culated a list of the candidates under considera­
tion. It included no women. In a "Memoran­
dum For The President," Lindh pointed out 
that "two or three of the candidates on the 
Attorney General's list are opposed to the Equal 
Rights Amendment, which really puts us in 
double jeopardy." She reminded Ford of his 
"many statements concerning the sta/.us of women 
in our society," before imploring that "all else 
being equal, your nomination of a properly 
qualified woman for the Supreme Court would 
be appropriate and juSt."39 Appointment of a 
woman, others argued, might also help Ford in 
his bid for the 1976 presidential election. In 
retrospect, Ford agrees, "a woman might have 
helped, but who can say."40 

Notwithstanding the publicity and efforts of 
some White House staffers, no woman ap­
peared seriously in the running. This is so 
despite Ford's recalling that he told Levi to 
"[sJurvey the field and [not] exclude women 
from your list,"41 as well as the names of two 
women--Judge Kennedy and HUD Secretary 
Hills--at the bottom of Ford's "short working 
list" of potential nominees. 42 

Another faction within the Presidency and 
the Republican Party pressed for "a more ideo­
logical appointment."43 For one, presidential 
advisor and former head of the American En­
terprise Institute (AEI), William Baroody, Jr., 
advised naming Robert Bork, a leading conser­
vative scholar, AEI associate, and former Yale 
law school professor.44 "He is young and is a 
strict Constructionist and," wrote Arizona's 
Senator Barry Goldwater in a letter to the 
President, "would give continuity to the kind of 
Court that you want for at least twenty-five 
years."45 

Bork would have proven as (maybe more) 
controversial as he was in 1987, when his nomi­
nation by Reagan went down in the Senate by 
the widest margin (58 to 42) of any Supreme 
Court nominee.46 In 1975, he was identified 
with the disgraced Nixon Administration more 
than with the advocacy of a "jurisprudence of 
original intention." Barely two years earlier, 
Archibald Cox, the special prosecutor assigned 
to investigate the Watergate break-in and cover­
up, had asked Nixon to turn over White House 
tapes. The President refused but eventually 

offered to provide summaries of relevant con­
versations. When Cox found the deal unaccept­
able, Nixon ordered Attorney General Elliot 
Richardson to fire him. Instead, Richardson 
resigned. So did the Deputy Attorney General, 
William Ruckelshaus. Finally, Solicitor Gen­
eral Bork became Acting Attorney General, 
and he fired Cox. The "Saturday Night Mas­
sacre" unleashed a wave of public anger that 
within days forced Nixon to relinquish some of 
the incriminating tapes. 

Bork's confirmation would probably have 
been defeated and a bitter battle further hurt 
Ford's chances in the 1976 election. The 
Democratic-controlled Senate was concerned 
about any nominee following Nixon's appoint­
ments. With four Nixon appointees, Douglas's 
seat was considered "pivotal;" his successor 
certain to tip the balance on the Court in more 
conservative directions. Massachusetts'Demo­
cratic Senator Edward Kennedy held subcom­
mittee hearings on the need for "balance" on 
the Court, and pushed for a Senate Judiciary 
Committee "advice and consent" procedure 
before Ford named his nominee. Max Frie­
dersdorf, a legislative liaison, alerted the Presi­
dent. Nebraska's Senator Roman Hruska and 
other Republicans finally blocked Kennedy's 

Robert Borkdid nol make illo Ihe lop of Pre sid enI Ford's 
Iisl because, as Acling Allorney Genera~ he had fired 
Archibald Cox in Ihe "Salurday Nighl Massacre" and was 
perceived as being lainled by Ihe Walergale scandal 
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efforts on November 21.47 This underscored 
for Ford the importance of quickly naming his 
nominee (before opposition gathered momen­
tum) and steering clear of anyone controver­
sial. 

Even ifa confirmation fight over Bork could 
have been won, Ford was not predisposed towards 
naming him. As a moderate Republican, Ford 
did not "view the philosophical grounding of 
[judicial] candidates to be as important" as 
would those in the Reagan Administration.48 

His dedication to restoring the Presidency's 
reputation bode ill for a candidate who would 
revi-.e the Watergate controversy. In short, Bork's 
reputation and record did not match that of 
others already on the federal bench or Ford's 
priorities, and his political liabilities would dearly 
cost Ford the Presidency. 

From the outset, Ford was determined to 
name a respected moderately conservative ju­
rist in order to avoid the kind of political conflict 
that ensnarled Nixon's two ill-fated nominees. 
That'view was shared by Levi and others in the 
Administration, at least those not bent on mak­
ing a politically symbolic statement through the 
appointment of either a woman or a hard-line 
conservative. Roger Blough, for one, advised 
naming "an individual with a middle of the 
road" philosophy rather than "a more conser­
vative one" on the ground " that if the Court was 
perceived as being unduly conservative then 
respect for it as an institution would be dim in­
ished."49 Besides, Ford could claim no electoral 
mandate for changing the Court. 

John Hart Ely, unwittingly, represented those 
in the Administration who thought the appoint­
ment should go to a moderate conservative. 
Ely, who clerked for Chief Justice Earl Warren 
and was serving as general counsel in the OffIce 
of the SecretaryofTransportation, cautioned in 
a letter to the President that, 

The appointment ofan extreme conservative 
to Justice Douglas' seat would throw the 
Court rather seriously out of ideological bal­
ance. The Court's importance in our society 
has been attributable in large measure to its 
position as an instrument ofcontinuity--a po­
sition that would be jeopardized by the ap­
pointment of an extreme conservative to the 
Douglas seat--and also to the fact that al­
though it has neverhad significant independ­

ent power it has nonetheless kept at least the 
pressure ofpersuasion at the political bronches 
respecting such values as racial equality and 
free expression . ... Moreover, a little arithme­
tic will demonstrate that such an appoint­
ment would effectively eliminate the Supreme 
Court as a meaningful independent force for 
civil liberties for quite a long time to come. 

Nixon, he added, "did do great harm to two 
of the three branches of government. The obvi­
ous harm was to the office of the Presidency, 
harm you have understood and done so much to 
repair. But harm was done to the Supreme 
Court as well, by making it a cam paign issue and 
engaging in an openly, even cynically political 
selection process." He concluded with a state­
ment capturing rather well the position taken 
by Ford and others that, 

the process of selection be one that is struc­
tured-and, at least as important, that it be 
perceived by the public--as not primarily po­
litical, that it be understood as different from 
the way one picks a running mate (or even the 
General Counsel of a cabinet department). 
Should the Court overtime come to be viewed 
as just another political branch, America will 
have lost, and i"etrievably lost, something 
that is entirely unique and extremely valu­
able. 50 

There were thus conflicting views and cross­
cutting pressures focusing on Ford's selection 
for the Court. Others outside the Administra­
tion sought influence as well. For instance, 
widely-respected appellate court Judge Henry 
J. Friendly wrote the President urging Levi's 
nomination.51 

Levi, it bears noting, was not without his 
supporters. Illinois Senator Charles Percy ini­
tially proposed his appointment in a telephone 
conversation with Ford on November 14.52 That 
day Chicago's Mayor Richard Daley also left 
word at the White House that he endorsed 
him.53 Before the vacancy occurred, however, 
Levi and the President agreed it would appear 
improper for Ford to name his Attorney Gen­
eral to the Court, in light of the circumstances 
of their holding offIce. When Douglas re­
signed, Levi also told Ford that it would be 
unwise to nominate anyone from within his 
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Administration.54 Their efforts to restore con­
fidence in government would also have proba­
bly been undercut. 

Nor was Judge Friendly alone in suggesting 
possible nominees.55 Justice Lewis F. Powell 
mentioned to Levi and others the possibility of 
Phil C. Neal, a former dean of the University of 
Chicago Law School. 

Two days before Douglas notified the Presi­
dent of his retirement, Chief Justice Burger 
also wrote Ford a letter, hand-delivered to the 
White House by Mark Cannon, the Adminis­
trative Assistant to the Chief Justice. "Against 
the possibility that a vacancy may occur on the 
Court," Burger suggested "certain factors that 
deserve consideration."56 

(1) Rarely have the geographical factors 
been as neutral as at the present. As you know, 
the two youngest Justices are from the West 
(White and Rehnquist); there are three from 
the Midwest (Burger, Stewart, Blackmun); one 
from a border state, Maryland (Marshall); one 
from the Northeast (Brennan); and one from 
the South (Powell). 

(2) The average age of the nine Justices is 
now 65 years. 

(3) For more than ten months past we have 
been functionally only a Court of eight, and this 
has placed us under substantial handicaps. 

(4) Since I took office in June 1969, the 
Court has been functionally eight Justices for 
more than two years. 

(5) All indications are that our work will 
continue to increase both in the volume and in 
the complexity and novelty of issues; a number 
of crucial cases have been set for reargument 
due to the absence of Justice Douglas last year. 
To resolve them with a Court ofeight Justices is 
highly undesirable, for many reasons. 

Burger impressed on Ford that certain 
considerations go into making his selection: 
«(a) It must be a nominee of such known and 
obvious professional quality, experience and 
integrity that valid opposition will not be pos­
sible. (b) Given the present difficult condition 
of the Court's work--a condition that has pre­

vailed for more than 10 months--a nomination 
should be made swiftly... before rival candida­
cies develop that could engender divisiveness 
and delay confirmation. We need nine Justices 
without delay," he emphasized, adding, 

A nominee with substantial judicial experi­
ence would have several marked advantages; 
the adjustment to the work ofthe Court would 
be expedited because offamiliarity with the 
enonnous amount of "new law" in recent 
decades; insulation from controversy and par­
tisanship by reason ofjudicial service is also 
likely an advantage (as it was to Justice 
Blackmun and me). This does not rule out a 
non-judge but it emphasizes that a general 
practitioner, no matterofwhat legal capacity, 
has very likely had little occasion to keep up 
with the great volume and complexity in the 
evolution in criminal law and public law 
malters that now compose the bulk of the 
Court's work. 

Concluding, the Chief Justice reiterated that 
timing was "a critical factor" and the nominee's 
age "crucial." While declining to propose par­
ticular candidates, Burger offered "to pursue 
these points in more depth with yoU."57 

Delegation and Dedication to Professionalis'm 

In the 16 days following Douglas's resigna­
tion to the announcement ofhis successor (from 
November 12 to 28), press reports reinforced 
the perceived split within Ford's Presidency 
over appointing a woman, or a hard-line or 
moderate conservative. But, the politics and 
infighting among White House staff had no 
impact on the actual selection process. During 
this period Levi quietly and independently 
pursued his investigation of the principal candi­
dates. 

Soon after becoming Attorney General, Levi 
was asked by Ford to think about possible 
candidates for the Court. And two days before 
Douglas announced his retirement, Levi sent 
the President a list of those he thought "worthy 
of consideration," along with brief appraisals of 
their qualifications. 

Levi's list was the basis of discussion with 
Ford on the afternoon of November 12. Nota­
bly, only six of the 18 also appeared on the list 
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compiled by Cheney from White House staff 
and others seeking to influence theAdministra­
tion. None were women, as earlier noted. Those 
mentioned by both Levi and Cheney were 
Judges Arlin M. Adams, Alfred T. Goodwin, 
and William H. Webster; Bork; Congressman 
Charles E. Wiggins; and Senator Robert P. 
Griffin. Levi suggested other appellate judges, 
Paul H. Roney, John Paul Stevens, J. Clifford 
Wallace, and Malcolm Wilkey. Also listed were 
several leading academic and practicing law­
yers: Philip Areeda, a former counsel to Presi­
dent Nixon; Bennett Boskey, a respected Wash­
ington, D.C. lawyer; Philip Kurland, a conser­
vative University of Chicago Law School pro­
fessor, who had clerked for Justice Felix Frank­
furter; Vincent Lee McKusick and James H. 
Wilson, J r., two prominent attorneys, respec­
tively, in Maine and Georgia; Dallin H. Oaks, a 
former University of Chicago professor and 
president of Brigham Young University; and 
AntOnin Scalia, who was Assistant Attorney 
General for the Office of Legal Counsel and 
later returned with Levi to the University of 
Chicago, before Reagan named him to the 
appellate bench in 1982 and to the Court in 
1986. 58 

Since Ford was interested in a nominee in 
his fifties, rather than someone older and less 
likely to remain on the Court for long, Levi 
indicated some outstanding judges, such as 
Edward Gignoux (age 59) and Carl McGowan 
(age 64), were excluded. 

Attached to Levi's memorandum were short 
biographies of those he deemed merited seri­
ous consideration: Adams, Bork, Goodwin, 
McKusick, Oaks, Roney, Stevens, Wallace, and 
Webster. He merely gave the legal backgrolUlds 
of Oaks, McKusick, Goodwin, and Roney with­
out indicating his view of their qualifications. 
Webster, he noted, "has proven to be a very 
competent judge--energetic, careful, and intel­
ligent." Similarly, Levi thought, "Judge Wal­
lace is an able, intelligent judge and is markedly 
conservative, especially in criminal law mat­
ters." He had somewhat more to say about the 
remaining three, Adams, Bork and Stevens. 

Levi commented least about Bork, who 
graduated from the University of Chicago Law 
School, before entering private practice and 
later teaching antitrust law at Yale Law School. 
Bork "was generally known in the profession as 

Arlin M. Adams, United States Circuit Judge forthe Third 
Circuit, was a top contender for the nomination. Attorney 
General Levi lauded him highly but gave Stevens even 
greater praise. 

one of the foremost conservative critics of the 
prevalent interpretation and enforcement of 
the antitrust laws." But his stands on matters of 
constitutional law were "less well known, ex­
cept for his prominent role, in the first term of 
President Nixon's administration, as one of the 
draftsmen and proponents of legislation" to 
eliminate "busing as a judicial remedy for seg­
regated schools." As Solicitor General, Bork 
enjoyed "the highest reputation" for his "ability 
and integrity." Missing from Levi's discussion 
was Bork's well-known role in the Saturday 
Night Massacre. "IfMr. Bork was appointed to 
the Court," he concluded, "there would be little 
doubt of his intellectual capacity for the work. 
There would be equally little doubt that, on the 
Court, Mr. Bork would provide strong rein­
forcement to the Court's most conservative 
wing."59 

Judges Adams and Stevens received more 
attention and praise. Since Adams' appoint­
ment to the third circuit bench in 1969, Levi 
found he had 

proven himself an able, highly energeticjudge, 
generally conservative in judicial philosophy. 
... His positions on substantive constitu­
tional issues are generally conservative. His 
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opinions demonstrate considerable energy, 
broad scope of interest and an underlying ju­
dicial philosophy, which includes a concern 
with limiting the role ofthe federal courts and 
of clarifying and to some extent limiting the 
right of standing to sue. " 

But, Levi ended with mixed praise: 

His opinions have considerable flair and 
reach, which gives them interest and can 
suggest an influential member of the Court, 
but revealing a certain wealaiess, not so much 
in analytical skill--which he has--but in being 
willing to sometimes by-pass or go beyond the 
most careful analysis. 60 

Levi reserved his highest praise for Stevens. 
They, of course, knew each other from Chicago 
and the University of Chicago. Stevens was 
younger (born on April 20, 1920), but, as Levi, 
he grew up in a family in the Hyde Park commu­
nity near the university; his father, an affluent 
businessman, had passed the Illinois bar but 
never practiced law. They were not, however, 
childhood friends, as were Nixon-appointees 
Warren Burger and Harry Blackmun. Instead, 
their relationship developed from professional 
interests and social contacts in the Chicago bar 
association. 

As an undergraduate at the University of 
Chicago, Stevens majored in English, made Phi 
Beta Kappa, and planned "to be an English 
teacher." World War II intervened and, after 
graduating, he enlisted in the Navy in 1942, 
serving in the Pacific until 1945. Towards the 
end of the war, his older brother, a lawyer, 
wrote him "at great length about some of the 
psychological rewards of practicing law;" it "had 
a real impact on [his] thinking." Pro bono work 
did not interest him, rather "the challenges and 
opportunities to make some kind of contribu­
tion to what goes on in the world." In addition, 
he frankly wanted to take advantage of GI Bill 
of Rights and government loans to pursue his 
studies.61 

After the war, Stevens entered Northwest­
ern University Law School in an accelerated 
two-year program. There, he enjoyed the 
"competitive aspect" of law school, especially 
the fact that "at the time there were class ranks. 
It was kind of a challenge to do as well as you 

could in law school." He graduated first in his 
class in 1947, and then had the chance to go to 
the Supreme Court as a law clerk. 

Stevens's clerkship was a lucky coincidence 
as much as a reflection of his abilities. As it 
happened, in the summer of 1947 Congress 
passed a statute authorizing each Justice to hire 
a second law clerk. Justice Wiley Rutledge 
contacted Professors Willard Wirtz and Wil­
lard H. Pedrick at Northwestern about gradu­
ates who might serve as clerks. And, Stevens 
recalls, he then went to the Court on the flip of 
acorn: 

They urged him to take a Northwestern gradu­
ate and they also urged the Chief Justice 
[Fred Vinson, who made a practice of taking 
Northwestern graduates as his clerks j to take 
one [thefollowingyearj. There were two ofus 
who were substantially equally well qualified, 
they thought, and they proposed that weflip a 
coin for the position. And I won the flip so 
that I got the first choice which was to go that 
year with Justice Rut/edge, and the next year 
Art Sedar went with the ChiefJustice because 
he lost the flip and had to wait a year. 

During his clerkship, Stevens came to greatly 
admire Rutledge, a liberal jurist and F.D.R.'s 
last appointee to the Court. Rutledge'S judg­
ment impressed him, whereas Justice Felix 
Frankfurter though "brilliant" appeared "too 
technical" in deciding cases. He also remem­
bers hearing Thurgood Marshall argue cases 
for the National Association for the Advance­
ment of Colored People (NAACP) before the 
Court, and reading memos written by Byron 
White, who clerked a year earlier for Chief 
Justice Fred Vinson (and who Stevens had met 
in the Pacific). Stevens, though, "never really" 
thought he would eventually return to the Court. 
He "had no political ambitions or objectives 
and," he explains, "didn't think in terms of 
getting into the kind of political activity that 
normally precedes going on the bench."62 

After clerking at the Court, Stevens re­
turned to Chicago and entered private legal 
practice, specializing in antitrust and com mer­
ciallaw litigation. He joined the firm of Pop­
penhausen, Johnston, Thompson and Raymond 
in 1948. Three years later, he left to serve as 
Associate Counsel to the Subcommittee on the 
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While clerking for Justice Wiley Rutledge during the 1947 
Tentlf John Paul Stevens (above, as Associate Justice) 
heard Thurgood Marshall argue cases before the Court 
for the NAACP and read memos written by Byron White 
who had clerked for Chief Justice Vinson the year before. 

Study of Monopoly Power of the House Com­
mittee on the Judiciary. He then returned to his 
Chicago firm for six months, before leaving to 
form another firm, Rothschild, Stevens, and 
Barry. 

Besides his legal practice, Stevens taught 
part time, first at Northwestern University Law 
School (in 1952-1953) and then at the Univer­
sity of Chicago Law School (in 1954-1956). At 
Chicago, Dean Levi asked him to co-teach his 
antitrust course with Aaron Director, an econo­
mist who had a major influence on Bork's work 
on antitrust.63 Stevens wrote a number of anti­
trust articles as well as served as a member of 
Attorney General Herbert Brownell's National 
Committee to Study the Antitrust Laws in 1953­
1955. He continued practicing law until Nixon, 
at the suggestion of Senator Percy, appointed 
him to the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals in 
1970. 

Stevens' five years on the appellate bench 
was the focus of Levi's report. In Levi's words:64 

Judge Stevens has proved a judge of the first 
rank, highly intelligent, careful and energetic. 
He is generally a moderate conservative in his 

approach to judicial problems, and in cases 
involving the attempted expansion of consti­
tutional rights and remedies. He has shown 
particular ability in antitrnst and other mat­
tersoffederal economic regulation and would 
add strength to the Court in this area. Overall 
he is a superb, careful craftsman. His opin­
ions lack the verve andscope ofJudgeAdams' 
but are more to the point and reflect more 
discipline and self restraint. 

Subsequently, during Stevens' confirmation 
hearings, Levi offered more lavish praise, char­
acterizing the judge's appellate court opinions 
as "gems of perfection" and a "joy to read."6.'i 

Based on Levi's report and November 12 
meeting with Ford, an initial cut in the pool of 
candidates was made. This enabled Levi to 
immediately ask the Federal Bureau of Investi­
gation (FBI) and the ABA to begin examining 
the backgrounds of their top candidates. By 
6:00 that evening, Levi had requested Lawrence 
Walsh to have the ABA Standing Committee 
on Federal Judiciary begin its preliminary in­
vestigations of the backgrounds of the eleven 
on Levi's short list: Adams, Bork, Goodwin, 
Griffin, McKusick, Oaks, Roney, Stevens, 
Wallace, Webster and Wiggins. 

Levi also asked that the ABA report back 
with its "informal" evaluation of each within 
five days.66 In the meantime, he further studied 
"the decisions of the judges, read the writing of 
the academicians, and analyze[dJ the perform­
ance of those in private practice."67 

Under the auspices of the ABA, Levi re­
ceived help from leading law professors in 
evaluating the opinions of appellate court 
judges being seriously considered. Harvard Law 
School Professor Lawrence Tribe and five 
other faculty members, for example, analyzed 
the 200 opinions Stevens had written on the 
appellate bench.68 

Old Friends and Political Ambitions 

While Levi carried the ball in evaluating the 
top candidates' qualifications, Ford confronted 
the lobbying efforts of White House staff and 
others. In particular, Ford had to deal with an 
old friend, home state Republican Senator 
Robert Griffin. Nor was the Senator without his 
backers. Michigan'S Governor William G. Mil­
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liken, among others, telephoned the President 
to endorse IDS nomination and underscore that 
the Senator "wants" the appointment.fR 

Presidents have often appointed their po­
litical associates and friends to the Court. But, 
the circumstances of Ford's Presidency virtu­
ally precluded Grifftn from being seriously con­
sidered. His nomination would ring of "cro­
nyism"70_-a charge Republicans had leveled 
against Lyndon Johnson and Justice Fortas. 
Besides, Ford was devoted to restoring confi­
dence in government and preferred elevating a 
sitting appellate court judge with an established 
judicial record. 

Ford thus had to handle Griffin, who relent­
�essly pursued the nomination. After several 
chats with Ford and four days before the nomi­
nation would be publicly known, Griffin re­
mained insistent, sending the President a 
Washington Star article entitled "Will the Court 
swing into Retrogression?" It noted that "half 
of the 100 men who have so far served have not 
had previous judicial experience," including 
Justices Hughes, Brandeis, Black, Frankfurter 
and Warren (whose names Griffin underlined). 
In IDS fties, Cheney noted Griffin "would have 
been an excellent choice for the Court. How­
ever, Bob Griffin is an able and important 
leader in the Senate, and I think he is perform­
ing a very valuable service there.'>71 This, 
though, was a rationalization for a friend and 
posterity. 

The President and his advisors tried dis­
suading Griffin by pointing up a technical ob­
stacle. Article I, Section 6, clause 2, disqualifies 
any member ofCongress for appointment to an 
office in the federal government for wIDch the 
Congressman voted to create or increase the 
salary thereof during the term for which the 
Congressman was elected. Grifftn had voted 
for a 5 percent salary increase for all federal 
employees, including federal judges, and thus 
might be considered constitutionally disquali­
fied for an appointment to the Court.72 

Rather than being deterred, Griffin was 
determined to find a way around this barrier. 
Within days of Douglas's resignation, he had 
sent the White House proposed language for 
legislation that might eliminate this obstacle. It 
provided:73 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, 

ifaMember ofCongress resigns to accept ap­
pointment to any other civil office under the 
authority ofthe United States, the compensa­
tion and emoluments available during the 
remainder of the time for which he was 
elected shall not exceed the level ofcompen­
sation and emoluments which would have 
been available for service in such office at the 
beginning of the time for which he was 
elected. 

Although nothing came of the proposal, 
Griffm continued his campaign for the Court. 
As the President was reaching his final decision 
on Sunday, November 23, Griffin telephoned 
him twice.74 By this time Levi had already made 
IDS "final recommendation," Ford recalls, "that 
I nominate one of tv,o outstanding federal judges, 
whose major opinions he sent to me for my own 
analysis. I took this material to Camp David for 
the weekend, and on my return, we had our final 
Oval Office review."75 But, Ford's conversa­
tions with Griffin that weekend were appar­
ently unconvincing, or the Senator was simply 
unwilling to accept fate . 

On November 24, Grifftn wrote Ford, again, 
explaining why the Article I restriction should 
not apply to him. This time revealing frustra­
tion, he pointed out that a strict construction of 
that constitutional provision would forbid ' ''a 
President [from appointing) a Member of Con­
gress to fill the office of the Vice President [as 
Nixon had done with Ford) under the Twenty­
fifth Amendment if Congress happened to have 
increased the salary of the Vice President dur­
ing the term for which the particular Congress­
man or Senator was elected."76 

"A Close Call" 

During the weekend ofNovember 22 and 23 
at Camp David, Ford basically settled on nam­
ing either Judge Adams or Stevens. "It was a 
close call," he remembers, "for both were su­
perb jurists.'>n Both received the ABA's high­
est rating. Ford further discussed his choice 
with Levi and Buchen on Saturday. He asked 
for information about some of their views, in 
particular Stevens' opinions on the environ­
ment, which Buchen analyzed in a memoran­
dum.78 Buchen also told Ford that "an older 
senior federal district judge [felt] that Stevens 
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might be soft on crime cases." But he dis­
counted that, noting Stevens' opinions did "not 
substantiate this." The FBI and ABA reports 
on "Webster, Clark and Wallace" were still 
forthcoming, though Ford was already focusing 
on Adams and Stevens.79 

Ford still had not met his nominee, how­
ever. That was arranged for Monday, before 
Thanksgiving, at a White House dinner for 
federal judges. There, Ford and Stevens casu­
ally chatted. After dinner, the President con­
ferred privately with Chief Justice Burger and 
LeVi.

. 80 

By the Monday dinner, Stevens knew he was 
'),0 the running." His first indication carne a 
week earlier. "First of all," he says, 

shortly after Justice Douglas resigned, Bob 
Specher, who [was 1 a judge on the seventh 
circuit called me up, when I walked in the 
office one morning, and said he'd received a 
call from the ABA committee on judicial 
candidates inquiring about me. He inferred 
that I was being considered for the appoint­
ment. That was the first word I had, and then 
there were newspaper stories that indicated 
there were a certain numberofpeople on a list 
that were seriously being considered. 

Four or five days later, the FBI called and 
told him that he was "the subject of an investi­
gation and that gave [him 1some notice that 
there was this possibility. But," he emphasizes, 
"others were also investigated so it was by no 
means certain."81 

When arriving at his decision, Ford ranked 
in order those considered for the nomination.82 
His final choice was made from three Nixon­
appointed appellate judges, Adams, Stevens 
and Tone. Attorney McKusick ranked in this 
group as well, but lacked judicial experience. 
Next to these was a second group rated in 
fourth, fifth and sixth place--respectively, Bork 
and Judges Goodwin and Webster. Here, Judges 
Wiley and Clark were also counted. A third, 
distant group included Griffin and Congress­
man Wiggins. Ford placed the two women on 
his list, Judge Kennedy and HUD Secretary 
Hills, in this category as well. Oaks and Judge 
Roney were "X-out" due to speculation about 
troubles winning confirmation. Those remain­
ing had been eliminated earlier and never fully 

investigated: Areeda, Boskey, Kurland, Scalia 
and Wilson. 

After further conferring with Levi, Buchen, 
Senator Percy and Senate Judiciary Committee 
Chairman Eastland, Ford made a decision in 
keeping with his original determination to se­
lect a nominee based on professional consid­
erations and restore confidence in government. 

At 12:21 on the day after Thanksgiving, 
Ford phoned Stevens from the Oval Office.83 

Stevens remembers he was "in his office in 
Chicago."84 

And my two law clerks were with me. My 
secretary was not. It was a kind of semi­
holiday. We were trying to finish an opinion. 
The phone rang and I asked Sharon Baldwin 
to answer the phone for me and she picked it 
up, and I can still remember her holding the 
phone. She said, I think you're going to want 
to take this call. She handed the telephone to 
me and it was President Ford. And he told 
me what he proposed to do, and said before 
he announced itpublicly he wanted to be sure 
that I would accept the position. It took me 
about two seconds to say he didn't have to 
worry about that. 

Senator Charles Percy of Illinois knew Stevens well, 
recommended him highly to Ford and teslified on his 
behalf before the Senate Judiciary Committee during 
confirmation hearings. 
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Following their ten-minute conversation, Ford 
called Senators Eastland, Griffin and Hruska to 
tell them he would publicly announce his nomi­
nee later that afternoon. 

Nomination and Confirmation 

Immediately after Ford announced Stevens' 
nomination at a press conference, White House 
staff began calling members of Congress for 
their reactions. Not surprisingly, reactions were 
mixed. Senator Percy, who knew Stevens well, 
said he was "an exceptional jurist." But, Stevens 
was unknown to many others. "Who," responded 
Massachusetts' Representative Tip O'Neill, "I 
never heard of him--who is he?" On reading 
Stevens' biography, he added, "Good Luck."gs 
Democrats were generally pleased or relieved a 
hard-line conservative had not been picked. As 
Senator Kennedy commented, 'Thank )Qu. Good 
to learn that it is a federal judge. They do not get 
enough recognition and are well trained for the 
position." Other Democrats and Republicans 
wondered whether "he [would] cause trouble 
with the Reagan people?"86 After asking "what 
happened to the plans to name a woman," 
South Dakota Senator James Abourezk rather 
bluntly put it, "Too bad for you guys that Nancy 
Reagan isn't an attorney."87 

Some women and women's organizations 
were let down and angry. At a meeting of the 
New York Women's Bar Association, Repre­
sentative Bella Abzug charged:88 

Not only did President Ford not designate a 
woman to the Supreme Court vacancy, an ac­
tion which is long overdue but it appears that 
he has selected a man whose judicial record 
indicates he does not favor expanded rights 
for women. . . . His opinions consistently 
demonstrate a narrow constnlction ofthe law 
and a belief in judicial restraint. . .. Judge 
Stevens has exhibited an unwillingness to 
involve the Federal Court in the enforcement 
ofour civil rights law. 

A week after the nomination, the National 
Women's Political Caucus vowed to fight Ste­
vens' confirmation. 89 

Nor were hard-line conservatives enthusi­
astic. In a Chicago Tribune article, "Two 
Cheers For President's Man In Middle," col­

umnist (and later staunch Reaganite) Patrick 
Buchanan explained the "absence of enthusi­
asm for the President's decision is roughly with 
the visible sign of relief which has swept the 
nation's liberal community, which feared that 
Gerald Ford would seek out and nominate the 
most brilliant constitutional conservative in 
America. Quite consciously, however, he did 
not." Buchanan summed it Up:90 

Surely, Judge Stevens will be a decided im­
provement upon the judicial Jacobin he re­
places, William Douglas, but what will a 
judicial moderate do to bring an end to the 
disaster the federal courts have made on 
America's public school systems, from Den­
ver to South Boston? 

One, then, is disappointed in the choice 
not because of what it says about Judge 
Stevens, a man of ability and integrity, but 
because ofwhat it says about President Ford. 
He had in his own administration, in the 
Solicitor General [Bork}, a constitutional 
conservative ofbrilliance, scholarship, cour­
age, and youth. But Robert Bork was passed 
over, because as Newsweek wrote, "A con­
troversial nominee was the last thing Ford 
was after." 

On the first of December, Stevens' nomina­
tion was forwarded to the Senate Judiciary 
Committee. At lunch that day, Senator Percy 
introduced him to ten Senators.91 Later, that 
afternoon Stevens made a round of half-hour 
visits with eight other Senators. This was not the 
usual practice (until after Stevens' nomina­
tion). But as Senator Philip Hart told the 
nominee, some Senators thought they may have 
misjudged Haynsworth because they had not 
met him before his confirmation hearings. 
Haynsworth had a slight speech impediment 
which, during his testimony before the judiciary 
committee, some mistook as a sign ofduplicity. 
Hence, Hart and others wanted to informally 
chat with Stevens before his hearings. 

The Senators, recalls Stevens, were very 
cautious about questioning him about contro­
versial matters that might come before him 
once on the Court. While not asking Stevens his 
views on capital punishment at that time, South 
Carolina's Senator Strom Thurmond impressed 
on Stevens his own strong opposition to abol­
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President Ford, Chief Justice Warren Burger and Associate Justice John Paul Stevens on December 19, 1975, the day 
Stevens took the Judicial Oath. 

ishing capital punishment.92 The next day, Ste­
vens met privately for the fIrst time with Chief 
Justice Burger at lunch in the Chiefs cham­
bers.93 Afterwards he made courtesy calls on 
twelve more Senators and met several others 
the following morning. 

A week later, the Senate Judiciary Commit­
tee held three days of hearings on Stevens' 
nomination. Levi and Illinois Senators Percy 
and Adlai Stevenson enthusiastically endorsed 
him. Warren Christopher, chairman of ABA 
Standing Committee on Federal Judiciary, also 
praised the nominee's qualifications. Based on 
its investigation, he reported, the committee 
was 

unanimously of the opinion that Judge Ste­
vens meets high standards of professional 
competence, judicial temperament andinteg­
rity, and that is ourcommittee's highest evalu­
ation. To ourcommittee this means that from 
the standpoint of professional qualification 
Judge Stevens is one of the best persons 
available for appointment to the Supreme 
Court of the United States. 94 

While Stevens's testimony on December 8 

and 9 appeared amicable, his hearings were not 
free of controversy. "AJthough it may have 
seemed to outsiders that I sailed through the 
conflfDlation process," he remembers, "it didn't 
seem that way to me. It's more trying than it 
might appear to be to the outsiders.'>95 

The onJy political opposition came from 
women's organizations--the National Organi­
zation of Women (NOW) and the Women's 
Legal Defense Fund. Testifying for NOW, 
Margaret Drachsler claimed that Stevens was 
insensitive to women's rights and misapplied 
the law in several sex discrimination cases. In 
her view, he "lack[ed] impartiality, a requisite 
for appointment to the Supreme Court.'>96 
Stevens stood on his record, though. Admit­
tedly, he did not look favorably on the proposed 
Equal Rights Amendment to the Constitution. 
"Other than its syrnbolicvalue," he was not sure 
it would accomplish anything beyond that al­
ready available under the equal protection clause 
of the Fourteenth Amendment. "Women have 
not achieved full equality yet, but are marching 
in that direction," he observed while affirming 
his commitment to following precedent and de­
veloping trends in the law. As to his standard 
for applying the Fourteenth Amendment, he 
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said it was "the same when a man or woman 
claims discrimination: Would he or she have 
fared better if he or she had been of the oppo­
site sex?,>97 The Judiciary Committee was per­
suaded that "the cases cited as bases of opposi­
tion [to Stevens' confirmation] reflect [his] com­
mitment to precedent and established proce­
dures rather than any sexual bias.'>98 

In addition, three private citizens testified in 
opposition on December 10. Anthony R. Mar­
tin-Trigona from Chicago charged that Stevens 
participated in a cover-up years earlier when 
serving as counsel to a special commission 
investigating members of the Illinois Supreme 
Court. But, Stevens testified that it was "simply 
not true" and the charges went uncorrobo­
rated. Rocco Ferran, testifying on behalf of the 
Citizens for Legislative Reform, opposed con­
firming another lawyer for the Court because 
experts from other disciplines should be repre­
sented as well. And Robert J. Smith of Michi­
gan City, Indiana, in lengthy and rambling tes­
timony contended several of Stevens' appellate 
rulings had cost him a livelihood. 

On December 11, the Senate Judiciary Com­
mittee unanimously recommended Stevens' 
confirmation by the full Senate. Less than a 
week later, on December 17, after very brief 
discussion the Senate voted 98-to-0 to confirm 
him. Justice Stevens recalls "a sort of sense of 
disbelief' at returning to the Court. It was 
"very strange that here I should be sitting in the 
same Court where I had clerked a quarter 
century before, watched Thurgood Marshall 
argue before the bench, and read memos writ­
ten by Byron White." Yet, he also felt "there 
was a sort of sense of continuity about the place, 
that the same names come back and forth.'>99 

Conclusion 

Justice Stevens' appointment was as much a 
product of Ford's "accidental Presidency" as 
the President's determined professionalism in 
restoring public confidence in government. 
Unyielding to the cross-cutting pressures within 
his Presidency pushing for a more politically 
symbolic nomination--whether of a woman or a 
well-known conservative--Ford adhered to his 
vision of what the Court and the country needed. 
And Stevens, as Ford puts it, "was the right man 
for the times."loo 

Stevens' opinions on the appellate bench 
struck Ford as "concise, persuasive and legally 
sound."lOl Comparing them with those written 
since being elevated to the Court reveals an 
impressive coherence, consistency, and careful 
attention to the facts in each case.102 They also 
disclose a judicial philosophy and self-percep­
tion bearing a remarkable affinity with Presi­
dent Ford's conservativism--the conservativism 
of a measured professional approach to deci­
sionmaking, not that of sharp ideological com­
mitment. When tackling issues of public policy, 
as in filling the vacancy on the Court, James M. 
Cannon, the director ofFord's Domestic Coun­
cil, recalls the President typically preferring 
"the combination of a good memorandum and 
a firm discussion, a civil and correct discussion. 
He treat[ ed issues] more as if he were a judge. 
He listen[ ed] to one argument and the other 
argument, then he retire[ d] into his office and 
[made] a decision on it."l03 Regarding himself 
as ''the most conservative member of the Court," 
Justice Stevens emphasizes he "never had an 
agenda" when explaining: 104 

that's because I really try very hard to mini­
mize the influence of my own views and 
what's socially desirable in resolving the is­
sues in the case. And I sometimes concfude 
that some ofmy colleagues are less inc/in"ed 
to do no more than is necessary to decide the 
case. I just think that the work of a judge is 
work that he does in response to the problems 
that come to him. And I really don't consider 
it part of a judge's function to set out in a 
pioneering fashion and make new law. You 
do it as an incidental part ofyour work when 
you have to. But you don't chart your course 
in that way. 

Justice Stevens' brand of judicial conserva­
tivism reflects well on, and seems a fitting 
tribute to, his presidential benefactor. And, 
unlike many Presidents who have been disap­
pointed by their nominees,105 President Ford is 
"proud of Justice Stevens' service on the Court." 
The Justice, Ford says, has "lived up to his 
expectations and been a forthright member of 
the bench."l06 
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The 1924 Term: Recollections of Chief Justice­

Taft's Law Clerk 


C. Dickerman Williams 

My service as a law clerk to Chief Justice 
William Howard Taft may be said to have 
begun in the spring of1924, when Dean Swan of 
Yale Law School called me into his office. This 
was in April, I believe. I expected to graduate in 
June. At that time my own office as editor-in­
chie( of the Yale Law Journal was next door to 
his. He told me that Chief Justice Taft had 
asked him to name a student from the graduat­
ing class to be his law clerk beginning in the 
summer of 1924 and continuing for one year. I 
was aware that Justices Holmes and Brandeis 
made a practice of having as law clerks students 
from the graduating class of the Harvard Law 
School. Taft had originally taken over the law 
clerk of his predecessor, Chief Justice White, 
an older man who served the Chief Justice 
continuously. However, this man had resigned 
and Chief Justice Taft had decided to adopt the 
practice of his colleagues Holmes and Brandeis 
in choosing a successor. Dean Swan told me 
that the faculty had decided to nominate three 
students and let Chief Justice Taft select the 
one he liked best. The other two, he said, were 
Douglas Arant (my predecessor as editor-in­
chiefof the Journal and later to be anoutstand­
ing lawyer in Birmingham, Alabama) and Wil­
liam D. Whitney of my own class (and manag­
ing editor of the Journal). In the midst of a 
brilliant career at Cravath, Whitney saw fit to 
resign to become his wife's business manager-­
she was Adrienne Massey, a prominent British 
actress; the event startled the New York Bar. 

In accordance with Dean Swan's instruc­
tions, I telephoned Chief Justice Taft's office 
and made an appointment to see him two days 
later in Washington. At our conference we 

talked in a general way, especially about my 
studies; he did not ask me about either my 
politics or my religion. My duties, he said, 
would be to digest, i.e., summarize, the facts 
and issues in petitions for certiorari, a petition 
to the Supreme Court to review the decision of 
a lower court, usually a circuit court of appeals, 
the highest court of a state or the u.S. Court of 
Claims. These are now usually called "certs," 
but at that time the full word was used. I would 
also do research to aid him in his written opin­
ions. 

Being in Washington and having to go to 
Union Station for a train back to New Haven, I 
took advantage of the opportunity to visit the 
u.S. Senate, the Capitol being not far from the 
station. From the public gallery I looked down 
on the Senate floor; I was seated immediately 
behind Senators Lodge and LaFollette, who to 
my mind represented extremes in the Republi­
can party. Indeed Senator LaFollette became 
an independent candidate for President later 
that year. The two Senators were talking to 
each other most cordially. 

On my way back I sat in the compartment of 
the Pullman car which was then maintained for 
men to converse. In the course of the conversa­
tion, one of the men identified himself as fa­
ther-in-Iaw of Orme Wilson, Jr., a person who 
had recently achieved great publicity for some 
accomplishment, the nature of which I have 
forgotten. At any rate, on arriving in New 
Haven I felt that I had really arrived, having 
conferred with the Chief Justice of the United 
States; having observed Senators Lodge and 
LaFollette; and having conversed with the fa­
ther-in-Iaw of Orme Wilson, Jr. Several days 
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The author, pictured upon his graduation from Yale Law 
School in 1924. Chief Justice Taft did not follow the 
example of Justices Holmes and Brandeis in recruiting 
clerks from Harvard Law School. 

later, Dean Swan informed me that Chief Jus­
tice Taft had selected me to be his law clerk and 
I should write to him as to when I should report 
for duty. I did so and was told to present myself 
at the Supreme Court conference room on 
August 1 and to write digests of the then pend­
ing petitions for certiorari and send them on to 
him. 

I was, of course, in Washington August l. 
At that time the Supreme Court sat in a room in 
the Capitol which had been used until the 
completion of the Senate wing in 1855 as the 
chamber of the u.S. Senate, the place where 
Senators Clay, Webster, Calhoun and others 
had made their famous speeches. The confer­
ence room was directly across the main corri­
dor from the court room. It was in the charge 
of a librarian, but was only large enough for a 
relatively few books (the United States Re­
ports; the Federal Reports; a number of trea­
tises, and some state court reports). I was ex­
pected and the librarian provided me with a 
typewriter and paper. Mr. Cropley (at that time 
Deputy Clerk of the Court) handed me a batch 
of petitions for certiorari for me to work on. 

In passing, I might say that at that time the 
Chief Justice had only one law clerk rather than 

the three that Chief Justice Rehnquist has. I do 
not want to intimate that I was doing the work 
which now requires three people; it is rather 
that petitions for certiorari are at least five 
times as numerous now as they were in 1924; 
also, that the opinions of those days were much 
shorter and more succinct than those of today 
and less research was regarded as necessary, 
perhaps because in those days the Justices wrote 
their own opinions. 

Chief Justice Taft was not in Washington-­
he was at Murray Bay in Canada, the historic 
summer home of the Taft family (meaning not 
only the Chief Justice, but also his numerous 
brothers, their children and grandchildren). 
After completing a number of digests, I sent 
them to the Chief Justice at Murray Bay. 

During the summer, Washington is very hot 
and there was of course no air-conditioning in 
1924. I took a room at the Shoreham Hotel and 
turned an electric fan on myself when I went to 
bed, and slept all right. I did not then know 
anybody in Washington; the only people whom 
I met were Court personnel. The Court Crier 
(a Mr. Waggaman) and I would occasionally go 
swimming in the Potomac River on the Virginia 
side of the old iron bridge at a place from which 
it was easy to enter the river and remain in not 
too deep water. This area was then in a stat~ of 
nature. This was my only recreation. 

The Court's Term officially began on the 
first Monday in October (October 6, 1924), the 
first day the Court sat to hear argument; how­
ever, the Chief Justice came back several weeks 
earlier to see that everything was in order and to 
preside over the Conference of Senior Circuit 
Judges as provided by the Act of September 14, 
1922.1 Also at that time there were only nine 
circuits; the Tenth was subsequently created 
out of the Eighth and the Eleventh out of the 
Fifth. The Court of Appeals of the District of 
Columbia was not regarded as having the same 
status; there simply was no District of Colum­
bia Circuit, as there is now--a rather anomalous 
kind of circuit. The circuits had originally been 
created by the Judiciary Act of 1789 and histori­
cally served as a group of districts. Getting to 
Washington involved more of an effort than it 
does today; Senior Circuit Judge Gilbert of the 
Ninth Circuit told us how his train had gone 
through a snowstorm ill the course of his four­
day trip from San Francisco to Washington. 
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A freelance photographer snapped this picture of the author strolling the boardwalk of Deauville, France, in July 1924. 

The Conference was also much more informal 
than those provided at present under the Judi­
cial Code, but covered much the same ground. 
The Chief Justice appointed me Secretary of 
the Conference. Each judge reported on the 
status of the docket in each of the district courts 
in his circuit. It was apparent that in some 
districts the judges were overworked while in 
others the judges had varying amounts of spare 
time. I do not recall the comment of any 
particular judge other than Judge Killitts, Dis­
trict Judge in the Northern District of Ohio, and 
apparently a rather headstrong judge. Judge 
Denison, Senior Circuit Judge of the Sixth Cir­
cuit, reporting for that District, seemed hesi­
tant in his comment. The Chief Justice said: 
"Do not hesitate to speak frankly about Kil­
litts--you know I appointed him." 

After the survey of the courts the Chief 
Justice took up "possible suggestions that may 
seem in the interest of uniformity and expedi­
tion of business." The first was the wayin which 
in jury cases many lawyers conducted long-­
almost interminable--examinations of prospec­
tive jurors on the voir dire. The Chief Justice 
reminded the judges that at common law, which 
under the Seventh Amendment governed fed­
eral trials, it was the judges--not the lawyers-­

who conducted the voir dire. At the suggestion 
of the Chief Justice the Conference resolved 
that that procedure (i.e., questions put by the 
judges) should be followed in the federal courts. 
When this ruling was made public, there was a 
considerable controversy in the newspapers in 
the form of letters from lawyers who did not like 
to have this privilege taken away. But Professor 
(as he then was) Frankfurter, in a letter to TIle 
New York Times, ardently defended the Con­
ference ruling. 

The Chief Justice then moved on to another 
grievance; the apparently automatic way in which 
district judges granted bail pending appeal to 
defendants convicted in criminal cases. Here 
he was taken aback by Judge Sanborn,2 who 
said in substance: "Mr. Chief Justice, the Su­
preme Court ruled in Hudson v. Parker,3 that 
the accused defendant in criminal cases should 
not be imprisoned until his conviction has been 
affirmed by the court of last resort." Appar­
ently the Chief Justice was not aware of (or had 
forgotten) Hudson v. Parker and could only 
express his thought that it was unfortunate that 
a convicted defendant could simply walk out of 
the courtroom after a verdict of "guilty." The 
Chief Justice did not argue with Judge Sanborn 
but bided his time. 
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ChiefJustice TaR lobbied bard for refonns to modernize 
the clogged, decentralized judicial system. He also lob­
bied successfully for a new building for the Supreme 
Court; the cornerstone was laid after his death in 1932. 

When the Chief Justice returned from 
summer vacation, I lost my office in the Court 
conference room and was assigned an office in 
the attic of the Chief Justice's home. He lived 
on Wyoming A venue, a short distance from 
Connecticut A venue, in a substantial but un­
pretentious brick house. His secretary, Mr. 
W.W. Mischler, ordinarily known as "Misch," 
was also in the attic. Misch and I did not hit it 
off; I think that he resented me, but we never 
had any open quarrel and, of course, I spent a 
good deal of time at the Supreme Court Li­
brary. The Chief Justice had his chambers in 
what I suppose had once been a bedroom. As 
I recall, he had only the United States and 
Federal Reports and a few treatises in his 
chambers. As my research often was con­
cerned with non-federal cases and both federal 
and non-federal statutes, I was frequently re­
quired to use the Supreme Court Library; this 
was a room on the ground floor of the Capitol, 
just inside to the right from the main steps of the 

building. What was then the Library had been 
the courtroom of the Court until it had moved 
to the former Senate chamber. This had the 
incidental result of requiring me to be in the 
Capitol building many times and enabling me to 
go up to the courtroom to listen to arguments of 
outstanding interest, provided that the listening 
was not excessive in duration. 

All the Justices were in town prior to Octo­
ber 6. The Chief Justice called a couple of 
meetings before the formal opening to make 
progress on the certiorari petitions and, I sup­
pose, to greet each other. The Chief Justice 
went in his car, driven by a chauffeur, for the 
first meeting and asked me to go with him. He 
said we were going to pick up Justice Brandeis 
en route. I was curious about the greeting he 
would give to Justice Brandeis, as I was aware 
that he had testified before the Senate Judiciary 
Committee against Justice Brandeis' nomina­
tion, as in fact had several--if not most--of the 
ex-Presidents of the American Bar Associa­
tion. As we approached Justice Brandeis' apart­
ment house, we saw him standing on the side­
walk in front, waiting. The Chief Justice told 
me to get out of the car promptly when we 
reached Justice Brandeis and I did so. He then 
got out right after me, and going up to Brandeis 
threw his arms around him with every appear­
ance of affection and said "My brother." , I 
concluded that whatever animosity had previ­
ously existed between them had ended. 

On Saturdays, the Court met in conference 
to decide petitions for certiorari, cases argued 
during the week and other matters, if any. The 
Clerk would supply a formal list. Each petition 
had a number given according to the chrono­
logical order of filing, and argued cases in 
chronological order of argument. The Chief 
Justice would make a presentation of the case. 
After such discussion as seemed necessary the 
Justices would vote, the junior Justice voting 
first. Each Justice had a docket book and would 
note in his docket how the various Justices had 
voted. Before the conference the Chief Justice 
and I would make a pile of the cases, his digest, 
the briefs and the record in each case being 
bound by a rubber band. When the conference 
'was over, he would return to his home with his 
docket book, the Clerk's list and printed assign­
ment sheets. He would then assign each argued 
case to a particular Justice to write the opinion. 
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I would note the assignment on the assignment 
sheet. I would also note "granted" or "denied" 
against each certiorari petition. The assign­
ment sheets were then delivered immediately 
to the other Justices by Burke, his messenger, 
by motorcycle. The actions on the certiorari 
were on a separate sheet which I delivered to 
Mr. Cropley on the following Monday morning. 

I recall that he once told me to write "granted" 
respecting a particular petition. As I could see 
from the docket book that five Justices had 
voted against certiorari, I said, "Mr. Chief Jus­
tice, there was a majority against." He replied 
that as four Justices had favored certiorari, it 
would be granted. This is the so-called "rule of 
four." The Chief Justice had certain tendencies 
in his assignments. Cases involving jurisdiction 
would often go to McReynolds or himself; cases 
involving public lands would go to Van Devan­
ter (he had been Assistant Attorney General 
assigned to the Interior Departmentent). As 
tHe Term proceeded, the Chief Justice was 
m~re and more influenced by the state of the 
Justices' work. If a Justice had several cases in 
which he had not yet circulated a draft opinion, 
he was less likely to get any more. On the other 
hand, if a Justice was current, as Holmes for 
instance always was, he would be more likely to 
get an assignment. Holmes in fact wrote a 
skeleton opinion in every case during the argu­
ment and on the cover of the record in this case. 
(He would then doze--or at least close his eyes-­
until the next case was reached.) 

I was, of course, curious to see what dispo­
sition the Court would make of the various 
petitions. According to its own rules, the Court 
took cases according to the im portance of the 
question presented, but in fact it often took a 
case because it disagreed with the decision of 
the lower court even if the case was (or seemed 
to me) of minor importance. Except in a few 
cases of obvious national interest, and in a few 
others of total insignificance, I was quite unable 
to predict when the Court would grant certio­
rari. This was true at the end of the year as 
much as at the beginning. 

A problem facing the Court, and one which 
Chief Justice Taft felt he must deal with 
promptly, was the aging and declining strength 
of Justice McKenna, at that time the Senior 
Associate Justice of the Court. He had been 
failing for some time and his opinions were not 

of the standard which the other Justices thought 
the Court's opinions should be. Of course the 
Justices made suggestions and even demands 
regarding each other's opinions, but that could 
hardly be extended to completely rewriting an 
opinion. The Chief Justice did not involve me in 
any move to cajole McKenna into retirement, 
but he did refer to the situation from time to 
time in discussing McKenna's opinions. He 
concluded that McKenna would not resign 
unless he were prompted to do so, but that ifhe 
were prompted in a nice way and with due ap­
preciation of his work on the Court (which had 
extended over a period of more than 20 years), 
he would step aside. The next Justice in senior­
ity (Holmes) had been appointed by President 
Theodore Roosevelt and McKenna by Presi­
dent McKinley. One might suppose that, be­
fore taking steps in the matter, the Chief Justice 
would consult the next Senior Associate Justice 
(i.e., Holmes), but he may have felt that Holmes' 
reaction would be "I suppose I am next." In­
deed, he may have consulted Holmes and per­
haps others, but I was not aware of it. 

There was a current story that Justice 
Brewer had been one of a committee to urge 
Justice Field to resign because of age. When 
years later a committee of Justices made the 
same suggestion to Brewer and had referred to 
his own approach to Field, he had said, "Yes, 
and a dirtier day's work I never did in my life." 
At any rate, it was Justice Van Devanter whom 
the Chief Justice consulted so far as I am aware 
and who concurred in his thought that pressure 
should be put on McKenna. Taft did so; of 
course, I was not present, but I gathered from 
the Chief Justice that after a preliminary hesi­
tancy, McKenna did agree to resign. He did so. 
I remarked to the Chief Justice that Holmes-­
as Senior Associate J ustice--would now sit on 
his right and the Chief Justice commented in 
substance, "I imagine that he is pretty bitter 
that he has not been there since McKenna 
began to fail." 

Of course Justice McKenna's resignation 
created a vacancy and thus the need for a new 
appointment. The then Attorney General was 
Harlan F. Stone, who had been appointed to 
succeed Attorney General Daugherty, who had 
become involved in scandals of the Harding 
Administration. The Chief Justice had not 
known Stone intimately, although presumably 
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Chief justice Tall consulted justice Van Devanter about 
how 10 persuade an aging justice McKenna (pictured 
above) 10 resign. 

they were acquainted as Stone had been Dean 
of Columbia Law School while Taft had been a 
Professor at the Yale Law School. (S tone later 
became a partner in the fum of Sullivan & 
Cromwell.) Stone was highly regarded by the 
faculty of the Yale Law School while I was a 
student there and presumably Taft either shared 
orwas aware of this regard. The fmal touch was 
Stone's presentation, on behalf of the Presi­
dent, in the case ofExparte Grossman .5 Gross­
man had been convicted of contempt of court in 
violating an injunction used under the Volstead 
(National Prohibition) Act and then pardoned 
by President Coolidge. Judges Carpenter and 
Wilkerson of the District Court for the North­
ern District of I1linois refused to release him, 
holding that the Judiciary and Executive De­
partments were entirely separate and that the 
President could not alter ajudgment of a court. 
The Attorney General, as the principal lawyer 
of the Executive branch, made the argument on 
behalf of the validity of the pardon (ordinarily 
the Solicitor General argued im portant cases in 
the Supreme Court); the Department ofJustice 
engaged two eminent lawyers to make the argu­
ment against its validity. Chief Justice Taft, 
having been President and knowing the prob­

lems of the Presidency, was inclined to sustain 
the pardon. He found the Attorney General's 
brief to be excellent. As S tone stood before the 
Court for about an hour making his oral argu­
ments, the Chief Justice had a good chance to 
look him over and was greatly impressed. He 
recommended to President Coolidge that Stone 
be appointed and Coolidge accepted the rec­
ommendation. (I believe Stone had other sup­
port as well.) 

The Chief Justice wanted to head off the 
appointment of anyone other than Stone (there 
was gossip that Chief Justice von Moschzisker 
of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court wanted the 
appointment and had the support of the Penn­
sylvania Senators) . Hence he arranged that the 
resignation of McKenna and the nomination of 
Stone be simultaneous, and they were. On 
January 5, 1925, McKenna resigned at noon 
and President Coolidge sent Stone's nomina­
tion to the Senate that afternoon. Nobody had 
a chance to persuade President Coolidge to ap­
point anyone else. 

On the night before Stone's induction, Taft 
and Stone conferred at the Chief Justice's home. 
The Chief Justice described to Stone the proce­
dures of the Court (the docket, the assignment 
procedure, etc.). I was on hand to present 
Stone's docket to him and point to the various 
entries which the procedure of the Court would 
call upon him to make and show such other 
papers as the Chief Justice wanted him to see. 

The Chief Justice was soon lobbying Con­
gress to enact what became the Act of February 
13, 1925 (43 Stat. 936), greatly reducing the 
mandatory jurisdiction of the Supreme Court 
and enlarging its certiorari jurisdiction. The 
Act of March 3, 1891 (26 Stat. 826), created the 
Circuit Courts of Appeal; it had given those 
courts appellate jurisdiction over criminal, 
admiralty, patent, revenue and diversity cases, 
subject only to certiorari review by the Su­
preme Court. The Act had left unimpaired the 
mandatory jurisdiction of the Court in constitu­
tional and other statutory cases, especially rail­
road liability cases; the latter involved primarily 
personal injuries suffered by railroad employ­
ees. Issues in the Court of Claims also could be 
appealed as of right. The Court as the highest 
court in the land was bored constantly having to 
deal with the details of personal injuries, which 
were numerous, especially as before reaching 
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the Court, since two other courts would have 
already considered the merits of such cases. 

The Act of February 13, 1925, is a long and 
elaborate statute dealing with numerous as­
pects of federal court jurisdiction. I have 
mentioned the only feature of it which seemed 
important to the Chief Justice in conversations 
we had. 

I understood from Chief Justice Taft that 
the Court was unanimously in support of the bill 
which became the Act. It was supported byap­
pearances before the Judiciary Committees of 
Congress by a committee of Justices including 
the Chief Justice, Justice Van Devanter, and 
Justice McReynolds I do not know who actually 
drafted the bill, but it was not the Chief Justice. 

Enlarging the certiorari jurisdiction of the 
Court of course meant more work for the law 
clerks. Fortunately, at least for the 1924 Term 
law clerks, the Act provided that it should not 
take effect for three months, i.e., until May 13, 
192.5. In the fIrst few days of May the Govern­
ment fIled a large number of appeals from the 
Court of Claims, about twenty, I think, and I 
thought, "Thank God I have been spared the 
need to summarize these cases." 

All draft opinions were circulated to the 
members of the Court; the Chief Justice had a 
messenger (Burke), who delivered to the other 
Justices the draft opinions and the assignment 
sheets. All the Judges had messengers to circu­
late the draft opinions to be discussed at the 
next conference and approved (or modifIed). 
My recollection is that none of the early opin­
ions were modifIed substantially as a result of 
points (if any) raised by other Justices at the 
conferences. Not only the Chief Justice, but 
also the other Justices had only relatively minor 
opinions in the early part of the Term. 

Important cases came in December. One 
was Sanitary DistJict of Chicago v. United States,S 
which the Chief Justice assigned to Justice 
Holmes. Unlike the present situation when the 
numerous law clerks have lunch with one an­
other in a dining room set aside for that pur­
pose, the law clerks of those days had relatively 
little contact with each other. It so happened 
that I did know Barton Leach, law clerk to 
Justice Holmes and Warren Ege, law clerk to 
Justice Brandeis; we had lunch together from 
time to time, but only by prearrangement. I 
recall that Leach told me that Holmes hoped to 

get the Sanitary DistJict case. When the Chief 
Justice did assign it to him, I told him that I 
happened to know from his law clerk that 
Holmes had wanted to get that case. The Chief 
Justice said that Holmes, without directly ask­
ing him, had conveyed that idea to him also and 
he was pleased to gratify him. Although I did 
not think especially about it at the time, I now 
realize that from my remark the Chief Justice 
would know that the various law clerks (includ­
ing his own) were discussing the work of the 
Court among each other. He apparently acqui­
esced. 

By a curious coincidence, two highly impor­
tant cases came before the Court on December 
5, 1924, Myers v. United States, 6 and McGrain v. 
Daugherty.7 I happened to be in the courtroom 
when the Myers case was originally reached for 
argument. The issue was the constitutionality 
of a statute requiring that the Senate approve 
the removal of an offIcer appointed by the 
President with the consent of the Senate. So­
licitor General Beck represented the Govern­
ment and upheld the removal of a postmaster 
by President Wilson without the consent of the 
Senate. There was no appearance for the estate 
of the removed offIcer; he had died before the 
case reached the Supreme Court. Mr. Beck 
told the Court that he regretted this non-ap­
pearance, because in his opinion the opinion of 
the District Court could not be sustained. The 
District Court had dismissed the case on a 
technicality which Mr. Beck regarded as unper­
suasive and had hence concluded that the case 
squarely presented the constitutional issue. The 
Court agreed with Mr. Beck and decided to 
request the Senate to designate a counsel to 
present the arguments on behalf of the consti­
tutionality of the statute. The Senate did so and 
appointed George Wharton Pepper, an out­
standing Philadelphia lawyer and United States 
Senator from Pennsylvania. I listened in April 
to the arguments when the case was fully ar­
gued by Messrs. Beck and Pepper. I shall not 
attempt to summarize the arguments. 

At my next meeting with Chief Justice Taft 
after the arguments, he assigned the opinion to 
himself but said that the case was so important 
that he would not try to get out an opinion 
during the 1924 Term, but would work on it 
during the summer and the following year. The 
opinion was 71 pages long, and there were long 
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dissents by Brandeis (in which Holmes con­
curred) and by McReynolds. Meanwhile, he 
instructed me to make a study of the impeach­
ment of President Johnson which had pre­
sented the same issue. I did so in the last part 
of the Term and wrote an exhaustive paper. It 
was really an immersion into the impeachment 
proceedings. The key argument for President 
Johnson was that the first Congress had re­
jected as unconstitutional a proposed similar 
limitation on the President's power of removal 
of the Secretary for "Foreign Affairs." 

Presumably because he was the only mem­
ber of the Court who had been President and 
therefore was most familiar with the problems 
of the Presidency, the Chief Justice assigned the 
opinion in Ex parte Grossman to himself. In 
spite of the excellence of the Attorney Gen­
eral's brief and the similar excellence of the 
brief on behalf of Judges Carpenter and Wilk­
erson, the Chief Justice was determined to 
make his opinion invulnerable. I was assigned 
to research various ideas that might conceiva­
blyoccur to a constitutional scholar, such as the 
legal effect of pardons by the King of England, 

consideration by the Constitutional Conven­
tion and other federal cases. The other mem­
bers of the Court concurred without reserva­
tion in Chief Justice Taft's opinion upholding 
the pardon. 

Also, I was called upon for extensive re­
search in the case of Carroll v. United States.8 

This case was an appeal from a conviction of 
transporting liquor in violation of the Volstead 
Act. The case had originally been argued at the 
1923 Term; the Court had decided to affirm. 
The Chief Justice had assigned the opinion to 
Justice McReynolds. In the course of writing 
the opinion, McReynolds changed his mind and 
concluded that the judgment should be re­
versed. The case was then reargued at a later 
date in the 1923 Term. Again the Court voted 
to affirm; McReynolds and Sutherland dissented. 
The Chief Justice this time assigned the opinion 
to himself, but the opinion was not finally deliv­
ered until March 2,1925, almost a year after the 
reargument. 

The opinion was elaborate. The facts were 
as follows. The law officers whose action was 
challenged had been engaged in patrolling the 

The TaR Court: (seated from left) Willis Van Devanter, Joseph McKenna, Chief Justice TaR, Oliver W. Holmes, 

JamesC. McReynolds; (standingfrom leR) Pierce Buller, Louis D. Brandeis, George Sutherland, EdwardT. Sanford. 
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highway between Detroit and Grand Rapids, 
Detroit being well known as a place for the 
unlawful importation of liquor. The officers 
saw a car on the way from Detroit going west in 
the direction of Grand Rapids; one of the offi­
cers recognized the driver as a man who had 
made an agreement to sell him liquor (the 
officer posing as a bootlegger). He had taken 
$50 for the liquor, but had failed to keep his 
engagement to deliver. It was accepted law 
(recognized by all the members of the Court) 
that a law officer would only arrest a man for a 
misdemeanor if it was committed in his pres­
ence, whereas in the case of a felony, he could 
make an arrest in the reasonable belief that the 
man was guilty. It was also a given that trans­
porting liquor was only a misdemeanor; how­
ever, after having stopped the car, the officers 
had kicked the upholstery and found it hard. 
They thereupon had torn the upholstery and 
found secreted underneath it numerous bottles 
of liQ.uor. They seized the liquor and delivered 
it to the U.S. Marshal for destruction. 

The men, whom they then took to the local 
police station, were prosecuted and convicted. 
They appealed, principally on the ground that 
an officer can arrest for a misdemeanor only 
when he sees it committed in his presence. The 
Chief Justice's opinion drew a distinction be­
tween the evidence necessary to make an arrest 
of a person and that necessary to seize contra­
band. He pointed out that the liquor was illicit 
and possibly subject to seizure at any time; in 
other words, the question was not what war­
rants the arrest of an individual, but what war­
rants the seizure of contraband. He found-­
with my assistance9--cases showing that goods 
could be seized if the officer reasonably be­
lieved them to be contraband. He pointed out 
that the route westward from Detroit to Grand 
Rapids was well known for its use to import 
illegal liquor and that the very defendants in­
volved had made an illegal agreement only a 
few days earlier for the delivery of liquor. This 
made it reasonable for the officers to believe 
that the automobile contained contraband and 
was therefore lawfully seized. Having seized 
the liquor there could be no doubt that the men 
transporting it had done so in their presence. 
Therefore the requirements for the seizure of 
contraband and the arrest of persons had been 
met. McReynolds' dissent was acid and he 

accused the Chief Justice of disregarding con­
stitutional principles because he thought there 
was a great deal of violation of the Volstead 
Act. He more or less ridiculed the theory of 
contraband which, he asserted, was an after­
thought. 

The Chief Justice assigned himself other 
cases. With the exception of the Myers and 
Carroll cases, to which I have referred, I do not 
recall specifically the cases in which I did re­
search. Also, I saw the successive drafts of his 
opinions and, from time to time, made sugges­
tions. I recall in particular one suggestion 
which he told me to write out for inclusion in his 
opinion. Itwas quite brief--only two sentences-­
and, in fact, he revised the sentences, but did 
include them in his opinion. I recall that on that 
Saturday afternoon when he came back from 
the conference his first remark was "Well, 
Williams, you have lost your two sentences. 
McReynolds (who had dissented) said that he 
would concur if I would strike out those sen­
tences, so I agreed to do so." I said, "Mr. Chief 
Justice, you must admit that the sentences did 
prove of some use--they did get McReynolds to 
concur." 

I have already mentioned that two impor­
tant cases came before the Court on December 
5--Myers v. UnitedSlales and McGrain v. Dough­
erty.lO I did not work on McGrain v. Daugherty, 
but I believe that it is important and the fact that 
the Court changed its mind while the case was 
under advisement makes it deserving of more 
than passing mention. 

McGrain was a deputy of the Sergeant at 
Arms of the U.S. Senate (the Daugherty in the 
case was not the former Attorney General, but 
his brother Malley S. Daugherty). This case 
arose out of the scandals of the Department of 
Justice under Attorney General Daugherty and 
held unequivocally that Congress could investi­
gate the Executive departments, notwithstand­
ing that the investigation might discredit an in­
dividual. The District Court had reached a 
contrary conclusion, 11 and granted the writ of 
habeas corpus. At the initial conference on this 
case the Supreme Court had agreed with the 
District Court and voted to affirm. If it had 
adhered to that decision, the great congres­
sional investigations of recent years either could 
not have taken place at all or would have been 
severely hampered. 



49 TAFT'S CLERK 

So far as I am aware it has never previously 
been revealed that the original vote of the Court 
had been to affum. I never mentioned the 
subject because I thought it confidential. As 
over sixty years have passed and all the parties 
(except perhaps some Jaw clerks of that day) 
are dead, I think it now a matter of history and 
appropriately stated in an article to be pub­
lished. 

Chief Justice Taft assigned the opinion in 
McGrain v. Daugherty to Justice Van Devanter. 
The Chief Justice had high regard for Van 
Devanter's opinions. According to the Chief 
Justice he worked with great care and thor­
oughness, and polished his opinions most 
thoughtfully. He regarded Van Devanter's 
opinions as the best of those of any member of 
the Court. 

Before the end of the Term, the Chief J us­
tice summoned another meeting of the Senior 
Circuit Judges.12 Although as previously noted, 
the Conference was primarily occupied with a 
review of the work in the District Courts, the 
Chief Justice managed to have the Conference 
put a limitation on Hudson v. Parker, whose 
reference to it byJudge Sanborn had so discon­
certed him at the September Conference. The 
June Conference, albeit making a reference to 
"the purpose of the federal statutes not to 

C. Dickerman Williams (pictured in 1962) recalls that 
Chief Justice Tan onen invited Justices Van Devanter or 
Butler to ride in his automobile with him. 

subject to punishment anyone until he has been 
fInally adjudged guilty in the court of last re­
sort," added the following significant sentence: 
"But the judicial discretion of the federal courts 
and judges in granting or withholding bail after 
conviction should be exercised to discourage 
review sought, not with the hope of new trial, 
but on frivolous grounds merely for delay." 

Further discussed at the June Conference 
was the excessive use by prosecutors of the 
conspiracy statute when only misdemeanors 
were involved: as conspiracy was a felony, a 
conviction provided a more severe sentence 
than a misdemeanor conviction, even if the 
conspiracy had been only one to commit misde­
meanors. Also, evidence was admissible in 
conspiracy cases more readily. It was resolved 
that the District Judges and the Attorney Gen­
eral should caution the United States Attor­
neys. 

* * * * * 

Some miscel1aneous matters not connected 
with legal work for the Chief Justice are the 
following: 

Miss Gertrude Ely, a Bryn Mawr woman 
with an interest in public affairs and some 
acquaintance with the Chief Justice, came ~n to 
see him one day. She showed him a photograph 
and said, "This is a drinking fountain that the 
City of Geneva has built in honor of President 
Wilson and his contribution to the League of 
Nations." I had never before seen the Chief 
Justice angry. He said in a loud and angry voice: 
"Wilson doesn't deserve a drinking fountain or 
whatever. It was his stupidity and obstinancy 
that kept us out of the League of Nations. Ifwe 
had once gotten into the League of Nations no 
one would ever have heard of the reservations." 

My status as the Chief Justice's law clerk 
made me eligible to High Society; more specifI­
cally I should say, to the balls given by a Mrs. 
Leiter, who had a magnifIcent house on Du­
Pont Circle. Also I was invited to other parties 
by socially prominent people. In this way I met 
a number of young men and women. I remem­
ber in particular two lovely girls whom I got to 
know, Miss Helena Lodge, the granddaughter 
of Senator Lodge, and Miss Eleanor Wilson, 
whose father had been u.S. Attorney for the 
District of Columbia during the administration 
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of President Taft. 
My mother and one of her sisters, also a 

widow, took a home on Florida Avenue adja­
cent to what is now the Cosmos Club. (The 
house has since been destroyed.) Mrs. Taft 
invited all of us to Thanksgiving Day dinner. 
After dinner, coffee was served and the Chief 
Justice handed coffee cups to my mother and 
aunt. I think that mother got quite a kick out of 
being handed coffee by a former President of 
the United States. 

In going to work I walked along Florida to 
Connecticut, up Connecticut to Wyoming, and 
then turned left to the Chief Justice's home. 
The Holton Arms, a school for girls, was at the 
corner of Florida and Connecticut. I would be 
walking by a few minutes before nine. In good 
weather I would see the girls, many of whom 
were quite pretty, sitting on the lawn of the 
school. We would wave at each other. Senator 
LaFollette lived at the corner of Connecticut 
and, Wyoming; he was a great gardener. I 
would often see him with trowel and spade 
working on his garden as I went by. 

In those days the Court sat from 12 noon to 
2 p.m. and from 2:30 p.m. to 4:30 p.m. The 
Chief Justice enjoyed an automobile ride after 
Court. It so happened that I would often 
observe who his companion was. Most often it 
would be Justice Van Devanter and next most 
often Justice Butler. I never observed him with 
any other member of the Court. I felt that these 
Justices were closest to him. Sometirnes--pre­
sum ably when no Justice was available--he chose 
me. I can't say that he made any startling 
revelations to me. 

He never mentioned his controversies with 
Roosevelt, MacArthur or Pinchot. He would 
more often refer to the cases argued that day 
and the lawyers who had argued them. He 
occasionally mentioned other members of the 
Court, but I already stated any comment on 
them of any present interest. In general, he did 
not like the influence that Senators had in the 
appointment of lower court judges. He be­
lieved that the appointments ofSouthern judges 
he had made as President were excellent--he 
had had a free hand because no Southern Sena­
tor was a Republican. He had an attachment to 
all Republicans who had remained faithful in 
1912--he was not hostile to all who had not; in 
fact, a majority of Republicans had voted against 

him but his feelings towards them did not have 
the warmth of his feelings for the faithful. 
surmise that, although he never said so, the 
disgrace of Daugherty and the semi-disgrace of 
Harding were bitter blows to him. They had 
both been completely loyal to him in 1912. 

He did not like dissents, although he did 
recognize that occasionally dissents were called 
for. He himself had dissented on the Minimum 
Wage Case of 1924. Although he always spoke 
favorably of Brandeis and Holmes, he felt that 
their fairly frequent dissents were a cross which 
he had to bear. He was opposed tothe appoint­
ment of any new Associate Justice who might 
be expected to join Holmes or Brandeis. He did 
recognize their ability; I recall in particular that 
he once said of an opinion by Brandeis in some 
case, "Brandeis has written an opinion that I 
can only describe as masterly." 

He considered McReynolds a difficult per­
sonality (as everyone else did, too). In particu­
lar, he was annoyed that McReynolds demanded 
that he take up with the Chief ofProtocol at the 
State Department that Justices of the Supreme 
Court had the right to be seated with appropri­
ate distinction at Washington dinner parties. 
He once remarked: "McReynolds seems to 
think that the hostesses of Washington are in a 
conspiracy to denigrate the Supreme Court." 
On one occasion McReynolds, having been 
seated at a dinner party below an official whom 
he deemed of inferior status, demanded that 
the Chief Justice make a specific protest to the 
Chief of Protocol. 

I cannot recall that he ever made a comment 
on Sutherland or Sanford. 

In general it was my impression that, apart 
from an occasional annoyance, he respected his 
colleagues and that under his guidance the 
Court was working well together. 

In that quiet era, the Court was able to 
adjourn the Term on June 8,1925. The Chief 
Justice and I took the same train, "The Montre­
aler," that day; he was going to New Haven for 
a meeting of the Yale Corporation; I got off at 
New York to study for and take my bar exami­
nations; that was the last time that we saw each 
other in an intimate relationship. That relation­
ship had always been pleasant and agreeable 
but he was exacting as regards my work. 
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Endnotes 

1. The Act of September 14, 1922 (42 Stat. 
837), adopted by Congress at the request of the 
Chief Justice, provided for a conference of the 
Chief Justice and the Senior Circuit Judges on 
the last Monday of September. The Act of1922 
also provided a revised method of transferring 
judges with spare time to districts overbur­
dened with cases. An additional provision of 
the Act of 1922 authorized the Conference to 
"submit [further] ...suggestions to the various 
courts as may seem in the interest ofuniformity 
and expedition." Presently this conference is 
regulated by 28 U.s.c. Sec. 331. Last revised by 
the Act of November 19, 1988 (102 Stat. 4650). 
The present "Judicial Conference" is far more 
elaborate and generally formidable than the 
simple conference provided by the Act of 1922. 

2. Senior circuit judge of the 8th Circuit. 

3. 156 U.S. 277 (1895). 
4. 2f)7 U.S. 87 (1925) . 
s. 2f)6 U.S. 405 (1925). 
6. 272 U.S. 52 (192f)). 

7'273 U.S. 135 (1927). 

8. 2f)7 U.S. 132 (1925). 
9. If I can be said to have made any contribu­

tion to constitutional law during my service to 
the Chief Justice, it was my work in the Ca"o/l 
case. 

10. 272 U.S. 52 (192f)); 273 U.S. 135 (1927). 
11. 299 Fed. 620 (S.D. Ohio, 1924). 
12. This subject is thoroughly discussed and 

the foregoing language quoted in an opinion by 
Justice Butler, sitting as Circuit Justice for the 
Seventh Circuit in 192f) and quoted at 10 F. 2d 
657, United States v. Mollow. 



Justice Robert H. Jackson and Segregation: 
A Study of the Limitations and Proper Basis 

of Judicial Action 

Jeffrey D. Hockett 

The ruling in Brown v. Board of Education 
oJ Topeka1-that racially segregpted public schools 
violate the Equal Protection Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment--has rightfuUy come 
to be one of the most celebrated decisions ever 
rendeJ;ed by the Supreme Court.2 When an­
nounced, however, the form as weU as the 
substance of Chief Justice Earl Warren's opin­
ion drew bitter criticism.3 Despite its moderate 
and nonaccusatory tone, negative commentary 
was directed at the opinion even by those who 
strongly approved of its purpose.4 The appar­
ent lack of a legal basis for the ruling, and 
Warren's reference to sociological studies pur­
porting to demonstrate the harmful effects of 
segregation on black children,s struck many as 
evidence of a policy-making Court or an in­
stance of judicial usurpation of the legislative 
function. 6 While the form of Warren's opinion 
was not the primary reason for the protracted 
noncompliance that followed the ruling,? the 
misgivings engendered by the decision were 
undoubtedly exacerbated by the vulnerability of 
the Court's argument. 

Many of the criticisms leveled at Brown 
could have been avoided or blunted had some 
of Justice Robert H. Jackson's ideas been in­
corporated into the Court's opinion. Jackson's 
working papers on the case reveal that he pos­
sessed a certain prescience concerning public 
reaction to judicial attempts to depart from 
long-standing constitutional doctrine and to 
reinterpret provisions in light of current pre­
sum ptions and conditions. And he believed 
that this case, more than most cases, demanded 
consideration of the limitations of the judicial 

process in dealing with complex social issues.8 

Jackson's careful attention to the inherent limi­
tations of judicial efforts to reform society and 
the informal restraints placed on these efforts 
by public opinion resulted, paradoxically, in a 
sounder approach to securing the rights of the 
plaintiffs in Brown. This is not to say that 
Jackson afforded an ideal means to effect the 
needed change in constitutional doctrine. Sig­
nificant revisions of his argument would have 
been necessary, and Chief Justice Warren an­
ticipated certain criticisms not accounted for by 
Jackson. Nevertheless, an examination of 
Jackson's writings provides valuable insights 
into the politics of constitutional revision by the 
judiciary--insights that would have facilitated 
the implementation of Brown and that are rele­
vant to contemporary circumstances. 

Justice Jackson, Segregation and the Four­
teenth Amendment 

Several scholars, in reconstructing the judi­
cial deliberations in Brown, have noted Jackson's 
reservations and concerns which complicated 
the quest for Supreme Court unanimity.9 
However, there has been no thorough analysis 
of Jackson's views concerning the unconstitu­
tionality of segregation which were formed af­
ter he resolved his doubts. Jackson's argument 
for ending segregation was set forth at length in 
an unpublished memorandum which he com­
posed in 1954.10 This opinion probably was 
suppressed in the interest of Court unanimity 
and because of Jackson's debilitated condition 
following his heart attack of the same year. ll 
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The first section ofJackson's memorandum 
provides a brief discussion of the complexity of 
the situation before the Court. The eradication 
of segregation presents a formidable task, he 
believed, since it "involves nothing less than a 
substantial reconstruction of legal institution[ s] 
and of society." Segregation is established not 
only in the laws of seventeen states and the 
nation's capital but also is embedded in the 
social customs of a large part of the country. 
Segregation persists, according to Jackson, 
because of fears, prides and prejudices, "which 
even in the North are latent," and which the 
Court cannot efface. And however sym pathetic 
the members of the judiciary may be "with the 
resentments of those who are coerced into 
segregation,-we cannot, in considering a recast­
ing of society by judicial fiat, ignore the claims 
of those who are to be coerced out of it." The 
tendency toward separation is fundamental in 
mankind and is not limited to this country or to 
racial considerations. "It has seemed almost 
instinctive with every race, faith, state or culture 
to resort to some isolating device to protect and 
perpetuate those qualities, real or fancied, which 
it especially values in itself." Separatism is 
sometimes desired even by minorities. It is 
currently practiced on a voluntary basis by cer­
tain religious groups that forbid intermarriage, 
establish separate denominational schools and 
"seek to prevent contacts which threaten dilu­
tion of blood or dissipation of faith ." This 
"instinct for self-preservation," Jackson argued, 
accounts for the existence of segregation in 
several Northern states as well as in the South. 

The Southern situation, in Jackson's view, is 
complicated by antagonisms toward blacks that 
do not exist in the North. The white South still 
deeply resents the program of reconstruction 
and the humiliation of carpetbag government. 
Whatever the necessity or merit of these recon­
struction measures, "the North made the Ne­
gro their emotional symbol and professed 
beneficiary, with the material consequence of 
identifying him with all that was suffered from 
his Northern champions." The race problem in 
the South thus involves more than mere racial 
prejudice; it is characterized by the enmity 
resulting from "a white war and white politics." 

Consideration of the conditions which brought 
about and sustained segregation, Jackson be­
lieved, should deter the Court from adopting "a 

This photo of Associatejustice Robert Jackson was taken 
on October 16, 1941, the year he joined the Supreme 
Court. Although he attended Albany Law School--where 
he completed the two-year course in one year--he learned 
the law mostly by apprenticing and attending trials in his 
hometown of Jamestown, N.Y. 

Pharisaic and self-righteous approach" to these 
cases and from promulgating a "needlessly 
ruthless decree." 

After appraising the complexity of the con­
troversy before the Court, Jackson turned in 
the second part of his memo to the question of 
whether existing law condemned segregation: 

Layman as well as lawyer must query how 
it is that the Constitution this momingforbids 
what for three-quarters of a century it has 
tolerated or approved. He must furth er 
speculate as to how this reversal ofits meal1­
ing [could have been initiated] by the branch 
of the Govemment supposed not to make 
new law but only to declare existing law and 
which has exactly the same constitutional 
materials that so far as the states are con­
cemedhaveexistedsince 1868and in the case 
of the District of Columbia since 1791. 

Since segregation has existed in this country for 
so long, Jackson argued, it is difficult to believe 
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"that the states which have maintained segre­
gated schools have not, until today, been justi­
fied in understanding their practice to be con­
stitutional." 

Several considerations, according to Jackson, 
support the notion that segregated schools are 
constitutional. The language of the Fourteenth 
Amendment does not furnish a definitive basis 
for outlawing segregated schools, as ratification 
of the Fifteenth Amendment was required even 
to assure equal voting rights to blacks. With the 
deficiencies of the Equal Protection Clause 
obvious, the Fifteenth Amendment included no 
language referring to either segregation or 
education. 

Historical analysis reinforces the view that 
the Fourteenth Amendment does not prohibit 
segregated schools. It is difficult to support the 
contention, Jackson argued, that any influential 
body of the movement behind the Fourteenth 
Amendment intended this provision to eradi­
cate' segregated schools or had even thought 
about either segregation or the education of 
blacks as a current problem. Although a few 
individuals involved in the framing and passage 
of that provision hoped it would establish 
complete social equality between the races and 
assimilation of liberated blacks into the Ameri­
can population, a majority of those who sup­
ported the Amendment were concerned merely 
with "ending all questions as to the constitu­
tionality of the contemporaneous statutes con­
ferring upon the freed men certain limited civil 
rights.'>l2 

If deeds are consulted as evidence of pur­
pose, Jackson argued, the behavior of neither 
Congress nor the states indicates that the Four­
teenth Amendment was aimed at prohibiting 
segregation in education. The very Congress 
that proposed the Amendment, and every sub­
sequent Congress, maintained segregated schools 
in the District of Columbia. Furthermore, 
while Confederate states were readmitted to 
the Union only upon acceptance of the Four­
teenth Amendment, Congress never indicated 
that segregated schools violated the conditions 
of reinstatement. It is true that five states 
abandoned segregated schools when the Amend­
ment was submitted to them, and four states 
which had segregated schools refused to ratify 
the provision. But nine Northern states and 
two border states continued or established seg­

regated educational facilities after ratifying the 
Fourteenth Amendment, and the eight recon­
structed states all instituted segregated schools. 
"Plainly," Jackson concluded, "there was no 
consensus among state legislators or educators 
ratifying the Amendment any more than in 
Congress that it was to end segregation." 

Judicial precedent, in Jackson's view, also 
supports the view that segregation is constitu­
tional. Indeed, almost a century of case law 
conflIms this view. Even Northern state judges 
and the Northern members of the United States 
Supreme Court have held continuously that the 
Fourteenth Amendment does not of its own 
force prohibit the states from establishing sepa­
rate educational facilities for the races. 

An examination of the language, history and 
case law of the Fourteenth Amendment led 
Jackson to conclude: 

Con venient as it would be to reach an op­
posite conclusion, I simply cannot find in the 
conventional material ofconstitutional inter­
pretation any justification for saying that in 
maintaining segregated schools any state or 
the District of Columbia can be judicially 
decreed, up to the date of this decision, to 
have violated the Fourteenth Amendment. 

In the next section of this memorandum, 
Jackson focused on the difficulties attending 
the enforcement of a judicial decision invalidat­
ing segregation. In view of the Court's inability 
to ensure the equality of separate facilities after 
Plessy v. Ferguson,!3 he argued, there is "no 
reason to expect a pronouncement that segre­
gation is unconstitutional will be any more self­
executing or any more efficiently executed." 
This pessimistic prediction is warranted since 
the Court lacks the power to enforce general 
declarations of law by applying sanctions against 
persons not before it in a particular case. Fur­
thermore, the school districts can be expected 
to continue segregation without the aid of leg­
islation, since racial separation "exists inde­
pendently of any statute or decision as a local 
usage and deep-seated custom." If the Court 
must rely entirely upon its own resources, a 
decision invalidating segregation is thus likely 
to "bring the court into contempt and the judi­
cial process into discredit." 

Any constructive policy for abolishing seg­



55 JACKSON AND SEGREGATION 

regation, Jackson believed, must come from 
Congress. The power of this branch to imple­
ment its decisions far exceeds that of the Court. 
Congress can enact laws binding all states and 
districts and can delegate supervision to admin­
istrative agencies that may apply sanctions 
against those who fail to comply with the law. 
Moreover, Congress can supply federal funds 
to facilitate changes that are beyond the means 
of particular communities. Finally, Congress 
can assume the burden of expensive litigation 
against recalcitrant states. 

Jackson rejected the argument of the Eisen­
hower Administration that the federal District 
Courts must assume the burden of implement­
ing a decision invalidating segregation since 
Congress may refuse to act. 14 In Jackson's view, 
the belief that the courts must act because the 
representative system has failed is an insuffi­
cient basis for judicial action. The judiciary 
must first be capable of supervising educational 
authorities on a continuing basis. This task, 
however, is "manifestly beyond judicial power 
or functions," as "[a] gigantic administrative 
job has to be undertaken." "Local or state or 
federal action will have to build the integrated 
school systems if they are to exist." Another 
reason the judiciary should not be asked to 
implement a ruling invalidating segregation is 
that the federal government offered no guid­
ance to determine when and how school sys­
tems should be reconstructed. Jackson refused 
to 

be a party to thus casting upon the lower 
courts a burden ofcontinued litigation under 
circumstances which subject district judges to 
local pressures and provide them with no 
standards to justify their decisions to their 
neighbors whose opinions they must resist. 

While most of his opinion was devoted to an 
examination of the difficulties attending the 
execution and justification of a decision invali­
dating segregation, Jackson explained in the 
fmal section of this memorandum why the 
constitutionality of the practice could be main­
tained no longer. He began this section with the 
conciliatory statement that "[u]ntil today Con­
gress has been justified in believing that segre­
gation does not offend the Constitution." 
Congress and the states have relied on the 

Court's holdings that the requirement of equal 
protection does not prohibit reasonable classi­
fications of citizens nor require government to 
accord identical treatment to all. In its holding 
in this case, Jackson argued, the Court does not 
invalidate the principle that equal protection 
allows classifications that "rest upon real not 
upon feigned distinctions" and that have a 
"rational relation to the subject matter for 
which the classification is adopted." 

What the Court does invalidate, however, 
are classifications in education based upon race. 
It is now possible to see, according to Jackson, 
that the primary basis of these classifications-­
that there are "differences between the Negro 
and the white races, viewed as a whole, such as 
to warrant separate classification and discrimi­
nation" in educational facilities--is incorrect. 
Jackson conceded that he did not know whether 
this presumption was warranted in earlier times. 
When first liberated, blacks had little opportu­
nityto demonstrate their capacity for education 
or even for self-support. Consequently, Jackson 
did not want 

to stigmatize as hateful or unintelligent the 
early assumption that Negro education pre­
sented problems that were elementary, spe­
cial and peculiar and that the mass tedc~ing 
ofNegroes was an experiment not easily tied 
in with the education of pupils of more 
favored background. 

The spectacular progress made by blacks, 
however-- "one of the swiftest and most dra­
matic advances in the annals of man"--has 
enabled them "to outgrow and to overcome the 
presumptions on which it [segregation] was 
based." In other words, 

[t}he handicap of inheritance and environ­
ment has been too widely overcome today to 
warrant these earlier presumptions based on 
race alone. I do not say that every Negro 
everywhere is so advanced, nor would I know 
whether the proportion who have shown edu­
cational capacity is or is not in all sections 
similar. But it seems sufficiently general to 
require one to say that mere possession of 
colored blood, in whole or in part, no longer 
affords a reasonable basis for a classification 
for educational purposes and that each indi­
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vidual must be rated on his own merit. Re­
tarded or subnonnal ones, like the same kind 
of whites, may be accorded separate educa­
tional treatment. All that is required is that 
they be classified as individuals and not as a 
race for their learning, aptitude and disci­
pline. 

The necessity for judicial action on this subject 
thus "arises from the doctrine concerning it 
which is already on our books." 

The breakdown of racial distinctions in 
American society also contributes to the unrea­
sonableness of segregation. "Blush or shudder, 
as many will," Jackson noted, "mixture of 
blood has been making inroads on segregation 
faster than change in law." An increasing 
population with mixed blood baffles anyone 
attempting to classify the races. 

The fact that segregation had been upheld 
for so many years is insufficient reason for the 
Court to continue to place its imprimatur upon 
the practice. "It is neither novel nor radical 
doctrine," Jackson argued, "that statutes once 
held constitutional may become invalid by rea­
son of changing conditions, and those held to be 

good in one state of facts may be held to be bad 
in another." 

Jackson ended his memorandum with the 
statement that he favored "going no farther 
than to enter a decree that the state constitu­
tions and statutes, relied upon as requiring or 
authorizing segregation merely on account of 
race or color, are unconstitutional." He called 
for reargument on the nature of the decree that 
would provide a remedy to the petitioners in 
this case. But Jackson anticipated that the 
Court would have to allow for varying periods 
of compliance. In view of the complex and 
diverse circumstances surrounding the issue, 
Jackson held that "only a reasonably consider­
ate decree would be an expedient one for the 
persons it has sought to benefit hereby." 

The Jackson Memorandum: A Statement 
of the Limitations and Proper Basis of 
Judicial Action 

The most fundamental difference between 
the opinions of Warren and Jackson was the 
challenge posed in the latter to the underlying 
premise of segregation. Jackson's opinion was 

E.Barrett Prettyman.Jr., who served as JusticeJackson's law clerk in 1953-54, cautioned that Jackson'S memorandum 
was too negative in tone to gamer public support. Below, he talks with Justice Kennedy (right) at the Society's annual 
lecture in 1989. 
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predicated upon the accurate assumption that 
the primary justification for racial classifica­
tions was a belief in the inferiority of blacks. 
The notion of black intellectual and moral infrr­
mity was widely accepted by individuals and 
groups (both Northern and Southern) whose 
views dominated public discourse during the 
latter part of the nineteenth century. These 
allegedly immutable racial distinctions were 
thought to necessitate and justify segregation in 
general (so as to avoid the debilitation of the 
white race through interbreeding) and separa­
tion of the races for purposes of education in 
particular (since blacks could not benefit from 
the education afforded to whites).ls Jackson's 
bold decision to examine the sensitive issue of 
racial differences contrasted with Warren's strat­
egy of focusing on the harms caused by segrega­
tion.16 

Before examing the implications of these 
strategies, it must be noted that the boldness of 
the final section ofJackson's memorandum was 
offset by a marked concern evident throughout 
much of the opinion with the vexing difficulties 
of enforcement and justification. The cautious 
tone of Jackson's memorandum disturbed E. 
Barrett Prettyman, Jr., Jackson's law clerk 
during the 1953-54 Term and Justice Harlan's 
clerk during the 1955 Term. In a reply memo, 
Prettyman told Jackson that his argument was 
unlikely to generate public or political support 
because of its "negative attitude" and preoccu­
pation with "doubts and fears." "If you are 
going to reach the decision you do," he wrote to 
Jackson, "you should not write as if you were 
ashamed to reach it.,,17 Prettyman's criticisms 
ofJackson's memorandum are compelling. He 
was justified in pointing out to the Justice that it 
is one thing to express numerous concerns 
about a difficult decision, but "it is another 
thing to state them at such length and in such 
precedence over your affrrmative views that the 
result you reach is swallowed up in them." 
Jackson would have been wise to heed Pret­
tyman's suggestion that the memo begin with a 
clear, affrrmative, and extended discussion of 
the legal position adopted in the final section of 
the opinion. IS Without these revisions (and 
others to be discussed shortly), it is unlikely that 
Jackson's opinion would have generated public 
and political support. 

Yet, an opinion which failed to take Jackson's 

concerns into account would not have gener­
ated much support, either. Jackson anticipated 
intense opposition to a decision invalidating 
segregation, and he wisely counseled his breth­
ren to concern themselves with the limitations 
of the judicial process and the difficulties at­
tending the execution of the Court's rulings. As 
Walter Murphy suggests, a Justice of the Su­
preme Court "is not often in a particularly 
favorable position to exert the dynamic sort of 
leadership which can mobilize effective reform 
or counterrefonn movements,"19 since the Court 
has control of neither purse nor sword. For this 
reason, Jackson believed the considerable powers 
of Congress would have to be enlisted to aid in 
desegregation efforts. His discussion of con­
gressional power, his confession of judicial in­
capacity to direct the implementation ofBrown, 
and his statement that a solitary judicial effort 
to erailicate segregation would ultimately damage 
the institutional prestige of the courts were in­
tended to solicit the aid and enlist the moral 
authority of Congress.20 

Jackson's suggestion that Brown would 
remain an empty gesture without congressional 
involvement was borne out. In 1964, ten years 
after the decision, only slightly more than 1 
percent of Southern black children attended 
school with whites, and several states had no 
public school integration. Significant progress 
toward desegregated schools was made only in 
the late 1960s, after the fiscal power of Con­
gress was brought to bear on recalcitrant states. 21 

Of course, a judicial appeal for congressional 
assistance in desegregation efforts was unlikely 
to be successful in 1954, given that Southern 
Congressmen held influential positions on im­
portant committees.22 A slightly more promis­
ing strategy would have been to combine the 
appeal for congressional support with a plea for 
assistance from the Executive, as President 
Eisenhower oftentimes stated that he was obli­
gated to enforce the law as interpreted by the 
Court regardless of his personal beliefs.Zl Such 
a request might have served as the catalyst 
needed to activate an Administration that was, 
for the most part, apathetic toward civil rights 
issues.2A Jackson was correct, however, in as­
suming that congressional involvement was 
essential to the success of Brown (i.e., a Presi­
dent can only propose necessary legislation), 
and his opinion, unlike Warren's, was crafted to 
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induce a legislative response. 
Jackson's appeal for positive congressional 

action would not have been heeded unless the 
form or rationale of his opinion was compel­
ling. His attempt to persuade representatives 
and their constituents of the unconstitutionality 
of segregated public schools differed consid­
erably from the logic of Brown. And it is likely 
that, overall, Jackson's approach would have 
been less vulnerable to the attacks of segrega­
tionists and more persuasive in the minds of 
those who had no interest in perpetuating the 
practice but would insist that an exercise of 
judicial power be "legitimate." Jackson real­
ized that the Justices could not invoke the spe­
cific intent of the framers of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to justify the desired change in 
constitutional doctrine. Contrary to Warren's 
contention that the circumstances surrounding 
the adoption of the Amendment are "[a]t 
best...inconclusive,"25 Alexander Bickel's his­
toric'a} investigation (published in the year fol­

lowing the Court's ruling) demonstrated that 
segregation in educational facilities was pres­
ent to the minds of the framers, but they chose 
not to ban the practice. Warren's dismissal of 
the constitutional record thus left the Court 
open to the charge that the Justices had willfuUy 
ignored history.26 

Yet, Jackson's frank and protracted histori­
cal discussion also would have made the ruling 
vulnerable. He emphasized the history behind 
the Amendment so as to avoid the impression 
that the Court was accusing the states of behav­
ing unconstitutionally in the past.Z7 But it is 
doubtful the South would have looked upon the 
decision more favorably had the opinion dwelt 
upon this information. Indeed, this probably 
would have incited resistance by fostering a 
feeling that an injustice had been inflicted upon 
the states. A more prudent strategy--and a 
strategy more well founded than Warren's-­
would have been to acknowledge briefly the 
circumstances surrounding the Amendment while 

ChiefJustice and Mrs. Earl Warren meet with President Dwight D. Eisenhower and the First Lady at the White House. 
The author suggests that the Court would have been wise to appeal to Eisenhower for help in desegregation matters 
in order to rally support from the Executive branch. 
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emphasizing the reasons segregation should 
still be viewed as a violation of the Equal Pro­
tection Clause. Trus would have required that 
Jackson juxtapose the second and final sections 
of his opinion to make the point explicit that the 
notion of constitutional intent has never been 
restricted to the particular conceptions of the 
framers of a provision. Jackson needed to 
emphasize that the general proscription of 
unreasonable classifications is part ofthe mean­
ing of the equal protection requirement.28 

These problems of emphasis and organiza­
tion aside, Jackson's justification for invalidat­
ing segregation in public schools was less sus­
ceptible to the charge ofjudicial legislation than 
was the rationale employed in the Court's opin­
ion. Prior to Brown, the Justices never chal­
lenged the Plessy standard itself; at most, they 
insisted that separate educational facilities be 
equal.29 By maintaining that separate schools 
could never be equal,30 Brown departed signifi­
cantly from previous decisions. Jackson real­
ized that "the holy rite of judges consulting a 
rugher law loses some of its mysterious power," 
to use Walter Murphy's words, "[w]hen the 
Court reverses itself or makes new law out of 
whole cloth [and] reveals its policy-making role 
for all to see."31 And he believed the Court 
could act to preserve its institutional integrity 
or prestige by resting its decision upon a "legal" 
foundation.32 That is, while the Justices would 
reverse constitutional doctrine--invalidate the 
notion of "separate but equal"--they would do 
so by employing the standard used in previous 
equal protection cases, namely, classifications 
between groups or individuals are allowable 
only if they reasonably relate to legislative pur­
pose and are based upon real distinctions.33 

Jackson's expectation that the Justices would 
receive harsh criticism for deviating from past 
rulings was well founded. A common charge 
directed at the Court was that it "blatantly 
ignored all law and precedent."34 Some suggest 
the Court could have strengthened its argu­
ment by elaborating upon Warren's point that 
the notion of "separate but equal" was actually 
a departure from earlier rulings, wruch held 
that the Fourteenth Amendment proscribed all 
state-imposed discriminations against blacks.35 

Warren's failure to follow trus tack, however, 
was fortunate, and perhaps purposeful. These 
earlier rulings would have been subjected to 

severe and compelling historical critiques had 
the Justices based the decision on the claim that 
they were merely returning to the original 
understanding of the Amendment as articu­
lated by an earlier Court.36 The rustorical 
accuracy of the basis of Jackson's argument 
(i.e., that constitutional provisions should be 
interpreted as general concepts not restricted 
to the particular conceptions of the framers) 
has been debated recently.37 But the idea that 
the Equal Protection Clause prohibits unrea­
sonable classilications generally was not con­
troversial and was unlikely to be challenged 
seriously.38 Certainly, Jackson would have 
been criticized for departing from the under­
standing that racial classifications in education 
are reasonable. His approach, however, en­
abled rum to use language emphasizing conti­
nuity with previous rulings that Warren could 
not employ.39 

Another sense in which Jackson's argument 
was less susceptible to the charge of judicial 
legislation was that it did not appear to rely 
upon "extralegal" materials.40 Conspicuously 
absent from Jackson's opinion were references 
to the sociological data that had figured promi­
nently in the petitioner's arguments and were 
mentioned in Warren's opinion.41 In view of the 
fact that studies demonstrating the harmful 
effects of segregation were irrelevant to Jackson's 
holding (i.e., his contention that racial classifi­
cations in education are unreasonable did not 
depend upon whether segregation created a 
feeling of inferiority in black children), he had 
no reason to refer to the data. In an earlier draft 
of rus memorandum, however, Jackson ex­
pressed extreme skepticism concerning the 
wisdom of incorporating social science evidence 
into Fourteenth Amendment jurisprudence. "I 
do not think," he argued, that "we should read 
into the concept of equal protection the shad­
owy and changing doctrines relating to mental 
and emotional reactions."42 

Jackson's skepticism concerning the wis­
dom of incorporating such evidence into the 
Court's opinion was warranted. Warren's use 
of sociological studies was taken by many as 
proof that Brown was a political decision, one 
that merely implemented the personal value 
preferences of the J ustices.43 Warren's opinion, 
according to one commentator, "read more 
like an expert paper on sociology than a Su­
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The Court Ihat handed down Ihe unanimous Brown v. Board detision on May 17, 1954: (silting, left 10 righl)Felix 
Frankfurter, Hugo L. Black, Earl Warren, Stanley F. Reed, William O. Douglas; (standing, left 10 right)Tom C. Clark, 
Robert H. Jackson, Harold H. Burton, and Shemlan Minton. 

preme Court opinion."44 Although legal con­
troversies are oftentimes bound up with empiri­
cal questions, and such cases should be decided 
in the context of facts derived from the most 
reliable sources, the public generally views law 
and science as insular disciplines. Most believe 
the Court's only legitimate function is to inter­
pret law (without reference to "nonlegal" 
sources), and judicial use of sociological data is 
regarded as evidence of policy-making Jus­
tices.45 

Some scholars suggest that the sociological 
evidence was incidental to Warren's opinion 
and could have been dropped without weaken­
ing the Court's argument. The cruelty ofsegre­
gation, they believe, was obvious and required 
only a common-sense discussion to rebut the 
antiquated psychology underpinning Plessy.46 
Other scholars argue quite persuasively, how­
ever, that the Court was obligated to make 
reference to the studies.47 The proximity and 
number of prior rulings accepting the possibil­
ity that separate facilities can be equal com­
pelled the Justices to move beyond common­
sense arguments in explaining the sudden de­
parture from precedent.48 Warren's approach, 
then, was vulnerable whether or not reference 
was made to the findings of social science. By 

contrast, though Jackson based his opinion upon 
an empirical proposition (i.e., that blacks are 
not inferior to whites), he was not obligated to 
employ extralegal materials, since there were 
no direct recent rulings examining the basis of 
racial c1assifications.49 U nlike Warren, Jackson 
was able to resort to a common-sense discus­
sion of changed presumptions and conditions 
which necessitated a modification in constitu­
tional doctrine.5O 

The basis of Jackson's holding was useful 
not only for the purpose of preserving the 
Court's institutional integrity. Jackson's argu­
ment also placed the right of the petitioners to 
equal protection ofthe laws on a secure founda­
tion--a foundation more secure than that pro­
vided by the claim that segregation creates a 
feeling of inferiority in black children.51 The 
shortcomings of Warren's approach were 
demonstrated by the efforts of segregationists 
to have Brown reversed. Proponents of segre­
gation initially sought to have the decision over­
turned by claiming science had shown blacks to 
be an inferior race -- a race undeserving of the 
rights and privileges accorded to whites. This 
unfounded assertion and unsuccessful tactic 
was followed by the accumulation of evidence 
ostensibly demonstrating the preferability of 
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segregated to integrated schools.52 Segrega­
tionists referred to the works of scholars such as 
A. James Gregor, who argued that racial sepa­
ration actually enhances the development of a 
healthy personality in the black child "by reduc­
ing the psychological pressure to which the 
child is subjected" through contact with whites. 
In an ironic paraphrase of Warren's language in 
Brown, Gregor concluded that integration "gives 
every evidence of creating insurmountable 
tensions for the individual Negro child and im­
pairing his personality in a manner never likely 
to be undone."SJ Criticism of the Court's argu­
ment was found not onJy in the writings of seg­
regationists. Several scholars sympathetic to 
Brown doubted that the empirical basis of the 
Court's holding had been demonstrated con­
vincingly by the findings of social science. 54 

While the effect of segregation on the per­
sonalities of black children was a matter of 
some controversy, the overwhelming weight of 
scientific opinion supported the view that all 
significant disparities in achievement between 
blacks and whites were traceable to environ­
mental rather than biological causes. When 
Brown was rendered (and since then), scientific 
racism attracted little attention and virtually no 
support from the social science community.55 
Considering the segregationists' failure to 
demonstrate the inferiority of blacks, 56 Jackson's 
assumption that his declaration concerning the 
irrationality of segregation would withstand 
criticism or challenge was well founded.57 

While Jackson's position on segregation 
survives the challenges of racists, it remains 
open (as does the Court's im plementation deci­
sion)58 to the criticisms of proponents of deseg­
regation. Although he died before the Court 
heard arguments on the form of its remedial 
decree;59 Jackson accepted the strategy ulti­
mately adopted by the Justices. He was willing 
to defer relief to the victims of segregation by 
aJJowing for varying periods of compliance with 
the ruling as to accommodate diverse local 
conditions.60 By failing to require immediate 
compliance with a declaration of unconstitu­
tionality, Jackson essentially tolerated a depri­
vation of constitutional guarantees. The apol­
ogy for this position -- that compliance is only 
deferred and not evaded -- is little consolation 
to those individuals who must hope for good 
faith efforts by state officials toward compli-

In 1951, Oliver Brown of Topeka, KBnsas, sued the city 
school board on behalf of his eigbt-year-old daughter, 
Linda Carol, who had to walk 21 blocks to get to a black 
school when a white school was only 5 blocks away. She 
later became Mrs. Charles D. Smith, and is pictured 
above with her two children. 

ance and who are deprived of a public be·nefit 
that is rightfully theirs. It is arguable that the 
Justices must ensure that no individuals are de­
prived of their constitutional rights for reasons 
of expediency if the Court is to act in a prin­
cipled manner.61 

As Alexander Bickel argued, however, a 
large and heterogeneous society like ours would 
disintegrate if it were deprived of the art of 
compromise or were "principle-ridden." Our 
society cannot be governed entirely by prin­
ciple in some matters and exclusively by expedi­
ency in others. Often, guiding principle must 
co-exist with expedient compromise. Univer­
sal, immediate compliance with a declaration of 
unconstitutionality, while attractive, may be 
impossible to achieve in a particular situation, 
given the complexity of the task involved, the 
intransigence of public opinion, or the vulnera­
bility of the Court's institutional prestige. Bickel 
maintained, however (and there is no reason to 
believe Jackson would have disagreed), that if a 
principle enunciated by the Court cannot be the 
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"immutable governing rule," it must affect or 
guide the tendency of policies of expediency.62 

The Limitations of the Jackson Memorandum 

While the form of Jackson's memorandum 
would have stifled or blunted much of the 
criticism directed at the Court's decision, his 
argument for ending segregation was vulner­
able in ways that Warren's opinion was not. 
Jackson was correct in claiming that the pri­
mary justification for racial classifications was 
a belief in the inferiority of blacks.63 Segrega­
tionists, however, proffered other justifications 
for the practice. Some defended the dubious 
claim that racial separation was merely the 
form of social organization preferred by both 
races.64 Human beings, it was argued, find their 
greatest happiness when among people of simi­
lar cultural, historical, and social background.65 

Jackson would thus have been subject to the 
charge that his analysis of segregation was 
simplistic. The Court was particularly suscep­
tible to this sort of criticism since most of its 
members were Northerners.66 

Alternatively, Jackson would have been 
criticized for failing to acknowledge the impli­
cations of the first section of his opinion, where 
he discussed the "instinctive" drive for separa­
tion present in every race, faith or state.67 Jackson 
intended to convince the South forthwith that 
the Court was aware of the complexities of 
desegregation and to assuage fears that the 
Justices sought to engage in the wholesale dis­
mantling of Southern culture.68 He failed to 
realize, however, that by entertaining the disin­
genuous arguments of segregationists, he under­
cut his efforts to demonstrate the unreasona­
bleness of racial c1assifications.69 

Warren's opinion did not elicit charges of 
oversimplification or inconsistency, since he 
made no observations about the underlying 
premises of segregation. His argument was 
limited to an inquiry concerning the effects of 
the practice. True, the Court was implored 
during the hearings on the nature of its reme­
dial decree to respect the complex structure of 
customs and traditions that had grown up around 
segregation.70 . But, in declaring the practice 
unconstitutional, Warren did not incite resis­
tance by fostering the im pression that the Court 
had misunderstood the distinctive culture of a 

significant portion of the country. 
It is arguable that Warren's avoidance of 

any discussion of the rationale underpinning 
segregation precluded him from expressing a 
sufficiently strong judicial commitment to a 
philosophy of racial equality.71 Jackson's opin­
ion--with its profession of the fundamental 
sameness of the races72 --may have been more 
appropriate for a ruling that marked a long 
overdue change in American race relations.73 

But Brown was and is generally regarded as a 
momentous decision and the product of an 
egalitarian political philosophy?4 Moreover, 
Jackson's opinion would have had the unfortu­
nate effect of subjecting blacks to the demean­
ing and superficial arguments of racists. The 
post-Brown developments demonstrated that 
certain proponents of segregation did not hesi­
tate to defend the notion of immutable racial 
distinctions.75 These repulsive arguments would 
have persisted and received wider exposure had 
the Court's opinion struck at the roots of the 
practice.76 

Jackson's explicit challenge of the primary 
justification for segregation also would have 
made the Court's opinion appear somewhat 
self-righteous. Jackson held that the irrational­
ity of segregation was apparent to aU reason­
able minds, and the obverse of this is that only 
unreasonable (or moraUy deficient) people 
continue to see any justification for racial clas­
sifications. Warren's opinion (although nonac­
cusatory) also drew attention to the moral defi­
ciency of segregationists. He maintained that 
segregation caused permanent harm, and all 
America knew where culpability lay.77 Never­
theless, the psychological damage caused by 
segregation was not presented as a self-evident 
truth; social science data was used to demon­
strate the existence ofthe harm. The infliction 
of this injury was thus less blameworthy than a 
belief in racial inferiority?8 

Another problem stemming from Jackson's 
decision to challenge the underlying premise of 
segregation is the breadth of his ruling. Jackson's 
argument was likely to alarm the South since it 
effectively undercut all forms of segregation 
(i.e., if blacks are not inferior, the legal separa­
tion of the races cannot be justified in any social 
setting). By contrast, Warren narrowed the 
scope of his ruling by stressing the peculiar 
importance of public education and hence the 
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need for vigilance in detecting inequality in this 
area alone.79 This argument was expected to 
minimize the misgivings of those affected by the 
ruling.so Brown, however, could scarcely have 
engendered more controversy, as education 
was the most sensitive area in which desegrega­
tion could occur. School integration was viewed 
widely as a harbinger of what segregationists 
regarded as an execrable development in race 
relations--miscegenation. The period of ado­
lescence was thought to be critical for the for­
mation of social barriers between the races.81 

That segregation fell relatively easily in most 
areas except education suggests that the breadth 
of Jackson's opinion would not have generated 
significantly more opposition than Warren's 
ruling.82 

While the drawbacks associated exclusively 
with Jackson's memorandum would have war­
ranted concern, these problems were surmount­
able or were not as significant as the problems 
presented by Warren's opinion. Jackson mini­
mized the accusatory or self-righteous tone of 
his opinion by noting that racial separation was 
not restricted to the South and stating that 
those who accepted the notion of racial distinc­
tions should not be stigmatized or censured.83 

Charges that Jackson oversimplified the prem­
ises underlying segregation would have sub­
sided as it became clear that alternative justifi­
cations were insupportable.84 That this was 
likely to occur is demonstrated by the fact that 
efforts to prove the biological inferiority of 
blacks waned in part because of evidence to the 
contrary.&S Arguments defending immutable 
racial distinctions would have persisted longer 
had the Court employed Jackson's reasoning. 
But it may be that significant progress toward 
equality in American society required that rac­
ists be challenged to defend their baseless argu­
ments. 

Conclusion 

Since the problems associated with Jackson's 
opinion were not overwhelming, adoption of 
his argument by the Court would have been 

wise. The post-Brown developments demon­
strated that the Court is only as powerful as its 
opinions are persuasive, and Jackson's argu­
ment for ending segregation was less suscep­
tible to criticism than Warren's. Jackson's 
opinion was more consonant with constitu­
tional history and accorded more closely with 
the public'S conception of a permissible exer­
cise ofjudicial power. Neither opinion could be 
characterized as a paean to the triumph of 
racial equality, as both "refused to lift the na­
tion to the magnificence of the principle [they] 
had that day redeemed."86 Even Jackson's 
opinion, which afforded a grand opportunity 
for such a statement,87 seemed uncharacteristi­
cally hesitant and subdued.88 Both Justices real­
ized, however, that eloquence and incandes­
cence had to be sacrificed to avoid the appear­
ance of a pharisaical decree.89 

If Jackson's opinion afforded a more prom­
ising strategy for securing the rights of the 
plaintiffs in Brown, it is reasonable to ask why 
the Court failed to adopt his approach. One 
possibility is that the Justices were unaware of 
this strategy, since Jackson's debilitating heart 
attack prevented him from presenting his case 
to his brethren.90 This does not seem compel­
ling, however, when one considers that during 
the Brown deliberations Warren proposed an 
argument for ending segregation similar to 
Jackson's. S. Sidney Ulmer, drawing upon the 
conference notes of Justice Harold Burton, 
suggests that the Chief Justice initially thought 
the Court should attack the underlying premise 
of segregation.91 Ulmer provides no reason for 
Warren's abandonment of this tack. A likely 
explanation, however, may have been the need 
for unanimity. With three Justices from the 
South, the drawbacks of Jackson's argument 
may have led to its rejection. So, while the form 
of Warren's opinion drew public criticism that 
Jackson's approach may have avoided, the 
Chief Justice delivered something essential for 
the eventual success of a controversial ruling 
that Jackson may have been unable to furnish-­
the force of a Court speaking with one voice.92 
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President Hayes Appoints a Justice 

Loren P. Beth 

Associate Justice David Davis, "Lincoln's 
Manager," was elected to the Senate by the 
Illinois legislature January 25, 1877, and re­
signed his seat on the Court effective March 4. 
Thus, Rutherford B. Hayes knew--even before 
his own election was certain--that there would 
be a Supreme Court vacancy to be filled . Specu­
lation about the appointment naturally began 
immediately, but the possibilities in January 
and February were wide open, since there was 
still a good chance that the new President would 
be a Democrat. It remains mysterious, how­
ever, that Hayes took so long to make his 
appointment, when one might have expected 
that the seat would be filled almost as soon as 
the Cabinet appointments were made. 

Two considerations rendered his decision 
less urgent than it might otherwise have been. 
One was the fact that Congress adjourned shortJy 
after getting itself organized and approving the 
Cabinet appointments in March. Thus any 
appointment to the Court made before it recon­
vened would have to be a recess appointment, 
and under the circumstances of Hayes' rela­
tions with the Republican Stalwarts, such an 
appointment could well cause him nothing but 
embarrassment: there was a real possibility that 
a Justice who had already taken his seat might 
eventually be disapproved by a fractious Sen­
ate. While Hayes intended to call a special 
session to deal with the Army appropriation, 
which Congress had failed to enact, it was found 
possible (and politically desirable) to delay this 
until October 15.1 As a consequence, the Su­
preme Court nomination could not go before 
the Senate until that date. Then too, the Court 
was itself nearing the end of its October 1876 

session; Justice Davis' resignation did not take 
effect until March 4, 1877. Any new Justice 
would thus barely have assumed his seato-even 
assuming prompt Senate action--before the 
Court adjourned for the summer. 

Between these two circumstances, the Presi­
dent found himself with the leisure necessary to 
take his time about what was likely to be a 
contentious nomination. There were good 
reasons, in fact, not to announce the name of 
Davis' successor until Congress could act on it, 
rather than letting debate drag on through the 
summer and fall. There is, however, no reason 

Justice David Davis managed Abraham Lincoln's Senato­
rial campaigns in 1858 and 1860. His lifelong friendship 
with President Lincoln earned him a seat on the Court 
and considerable political clout. 
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to suppose that the President actually made up 
his mind about the appointment until shortly 
before the special session convened October 
15. 

Harlan was in the mind of the President, 
along with several other possibilities, by early 
March. As a matter of fact, Hayes probably 
thought of Harlan as soon as he determined 
that he would not appoint the Kentuckian At­
torneyGeneral. Justice Samuel F. Miller, who 
kept up with this affair, partly because of his 
interest in pushing his own brother-in-law, 
William Pitt Ballinger of Texas, wrote Ballinger 
in mid-March assessing the qualifications the 
President had in mind for the post:2 

Caldwell and Wood [sic] have been pressed 
on his consideration by more men of influ­
ence than any other nominees. Judge Bruce 
ofAlabama who is [a] graduate of my law 
office had an interview three days ago with the 
President as I suppose to favor Wood; but of 
that I am not sure. He told me however, that 
the President was hesitating between Harlan 
ofKentucky or possibly Bristow their interest 
being one, and a real Southern man, and in 
this latter sense he did not consider Wood or 
Caldwell to meet the requirement. Now the 
difficulty of selecting a real Southern man is 
that all the men who before the rebellion had 
made high reputation as lawyers are either 
dead or too old for the place. 

Miller could have added that most promi­
nent Southern lawyers were still tainted by their 
association with the Confederacy. 

Even at this early date, Miller had identified 
the most prominent contenders. Hemy Clay 
Caldwell of Arkansas and William B. Woods of 
Alabama were both federal judges; they were 
not "real" Southerners, being carpetbaggers-­
Woods from Ohio and a Union army officer, 
Caldwell from Iowa and also a Union veteran? 
Woods was apparently very well liked in his 
circuit (or else he orchestrated a cam paign), for 
Hayes' good friend James A. Garfield wrote 
that he felt that he had never seen as many 
sincere recommendations as those which sup­
ported Woods.4 Hayes was sufficiently impressed 
to appoint him to the next Supreme Court 
vacancy, in 1880. 

Woods and Caldwell had, nevertheless, at 

Associate Justice Samuel Miller sat on the Bench from 
1866-1890 and wrote more opinions--616--than any Jus­
tice before him. He advised President Hayes on the 
potential political ramifications of each candidate's 
nomination to the seat vacated by Davis. 

least two advantages over Harlan or Bristow: 
they came from judicial circuits which were 
then unrepresented on the Court. On the other 
hand, Kentucky was in the same circuit as Ohio, 
which already had two Justices--Chief Justice 
Waite and Justice Noah W. Swayne. The Chief 
Justice told Miller that it would be a mistake to 
appoint anyone from Kentucky. In Miller's 
words, "it would be very unpolitic to fill the 
place from a circuit which now has two mem­
bers of the court, and ...this would give Davis's 
circuit just ground of complaint."5 Miller had 
by this time talked personally to the President 
(Waite apparently never did), and presumably 
passed this word on; but the President was by 
this time fully aware of the politics of the situ­
ation. He was being importuned by Illinois 
lawyers and political leaders to nominate Judge 
Thomas Drummond of that state to fill what 
they seemed to regard as the "Illinois seat.,,6 
These men, David Davis himself included, were 
not anti-Harlan as much as they were opposed 
to another appointmentfrom the Sixth Circuit. 

On the same occasion, Hayes asked Justice 
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Miller for his own opinion. Miller, while press­
ing the candidacy of Ballinger, nevertheless 
told the President that both Harlan and Bristow 
"were fully up to the standard required both by 
native ability and professional attainments," 
and that of the two "Harlan was probably a man 
of the most vigorous intellect, while Bristow 
was believed to be if any different of the sound­
est judgment."7 The two agreed, however, that 
Bristow's presidential hopes stood in the way of 
his appointment. 

Harlan had other liabilities, which may have 
given Hayes pause. He had come late to Re­
publicanism and had originally opposed the 
Reconstruction Amendments: Republican Stal­
warts thus distrusted him. They were not en­
couraged by his service on the Louisiana Com­
mission even though that body's work merely 
gave the President a pretext for doing what he 
wished to do anyway. There were, moreover, 
rumors of corruption and even possible bribery 
related to the Louisiana episode which were to 
haunt him during the struggle in the Senate 
over his confirmation. Finally, the Stalwarts 
would never forgive Ben Bristow or the other 
Republican reformers who had prevented their 
man Blaine from being nominated in 1876. 
Harlan was rightly seen as a member of the 
reform wing of the party, and any job given him 
by the Administration would be regarded as a 
reward to Bristow.8 

But if he had weaknesses, Harlan also had 
major strengths. He was the man known to be 
closest to Bristow, so that if Bristow's appoint­
ment was seen to be impolitic, Bristowites like 
Henry Y~ Boynton might be expected to regard 
Harlan as the best available alternative. And in 
general, Hayes needed to maintain his own 
reputation as a reformer who was willing and 
able to battle the Stalwarts and beat them. The 
choice of Harlan would do this. He was, in 
addition, enough of a Southerner to propitiate 
Southern Republicans and appease Southern 
Democrats, thus carrying out an earlier version 
of Nixon's "Southern Strategy." 

But most of all, Hayes owed a good deal to 
John Harlan, much more than he owed to 
Bristow himself. Bristow had been a competi­
tor and was always seen by Hayes people as a 
potential thorn in the President's side whenever 
Hayes might do, or not do, something on which 
the reformers might have strong opinions. Harlan, 

on the other hand, had swung the Kentucky 
delegation to Hayes at a critical moment in the 
Convention. In addition he had incurred some 
substantial political risk by agreeing to serve on 
the Louisiana Commission. Finally, there is no 
doubt that Hayes knew of Harlan's hopes to be 
Attorney General, and felt that there was a 
danger that Kentuckians might turn against 
him if something else was not offered. 

Even so, there is some evidence that Hayes 
would have preferred to appoint Woods, who 
had none of Harlan's political liabilities. His 
offer of the post of Ambassador to the Court of 
St. James's is probably best viewed as an 
attempt to satisfy Harlan without putting him 
on the Supreme Court. Harlan's refusal of that 
offer quite possibly put him in a position in 
which the Court appointment became almost 
inevitable. 

By August, although Justice Miller contin­
ued to press for Ballinger, it had pretty clearly 
become a choice between Woods and Harlan. 
At this juncture, Harlan's friend from Louisi­
ana Commission days, Wayne MacYeagh, wrote 
to the President,9 

I cannot resist the conclusion that you are 
wrong in the tendency you jirst expressed to 
jill [the vacancy] from one of the extreme 
Southern states. I certainly need not protest 
that I am absolutely free from any prejudices 
against that section of our common coun­
try, ... but... I cannot divest myselfofthe con­
viction that if a lawyer of unquestioned abil­
ity, a statesman ofcomprehensive views and 
a thoroughly sound Republican can be found 
living in the more Northern States of the 
South, it is safer to offer him the position. 

I believe General Harlan of Kentucky 
meets all these requirements and that you 
could not possibly do a wiser and better thing 
forthe country as well as foryour Administra­
tion than offer him the existing vacancy. 

.. .1 therefore earnestly hope that you will 
see your way clear to offer the present vacancy 
to General Harlan and to await another op­
portunity before going further South. 

Whether or not MacYeagh's words influ­
enced the President, he did exactly what they 
suggested. 

What was John Harlan doing while all this 
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was going on? As suggested earlier, he was 
concentrating on his law practice, with time out 
to try to obtain or retain federal jobs for his 
friends or political supporters. His oldest son 
Richard was to start at Princeton in the fall and 
money was as usual a problem. 

In addition, there is some evidence that 
Harlan was actively involved in his own candi­
dacy for the Court vacancy. By July it was 
practically certain that President Hayes was not 
going to offer the position to Bristow; this left 
Harlan free to pursue the position as actively as 
he wished. He did not want to do anything 
overt, but it is perhaps true that he worked 
behind the scenes to stimulate support. This 
was nothing more than many others had done 
and were doing. Caldwell, in particular, had 
"campaigned" for the Supreme Court once 
before and was doing so again--although this 
time without the support of Justice Miller, who 
was committed to his brother-in-law. 

How active Harlan really was cannot be 
judged with any certainty. Boynton, accused 
him of politicking for the position in Philadel­
phia with MacVeagh and Cameron as early as 
July. In September and October dozens of 
letters arrived at the White House urging his 
nomination. Most, but not all, of these came 
from Kentucky lawyers or other prominent 
Kentuckians. These could very well have been 
written without any urging from Harlan him­
self: some may have been spontaneous, al­
though it is more likely that a few of his close 
associates orchestrated a letter-writing cam­
paign. Another evidence of his personal inter­
est appears in a letter from Charles W. Fair­
banks to someone close to the White House. lo 

I have just had an interview with Judges 
Gresham and Howland 11 --the fonner you 
know and the latter is Master in Chancery of 
the U.S. Court [in Indianapolis J. 

During the interview the subject ofJudge 
Drummond's case came up. I learned that 
John M. Harlan was, and is, movingeamestly 
for appointment to the Supreme Bench. He 
has been here a number oftimes oflate, and 
I am advised a petition has been started in his 
favor--though it is not signed to any consider­
able extent. The petition is not openly circu­
lated as Judge D [rummondJs was--and such 
as sign it (if any have) do it with the under­

standing that H. should be appointed ifJudge 
D. is not. This is as Judge G. thinks. 

I understand Judge David Davis is very 
pronounced against the President's going South 
for an appointee, andfrom what Judge G. in­
timated Judge D [avis Jwill be very much dis­
appointed if Judge Drummond is not ap­
pointed And he expressed himself to Gresham 
recently as being most decidedly opposed to 
Harlan. I was surprised to learn ofhis strong 
disinclination towards the selection of a 
Southern man. 

I write this upon request of the Judges 
whom I have mentioned. They in common 
with a great many regard it as advisable to 
appoint a Judge to the Supreme Bench from 
the Circuit and think no one is entitled to the 
place above Judge D. 

David Davis was not, in fact, as much op­
posed to Harlan as he was in favor of Drum­
mond. He seems to have had friendly though 
not intimate relations with Harlan and was 
close to Bristow as well. Certainly he supported 
the nomination when it came before the Senate. 

Whatever Harlan himself was doing, other 
candidates were doing also. Then too, many 
who were not in the race themselves had candi­
dates to promote. And thus, quite a few non­
Kentuckians were called upon to comment on 
Harlan's ability and political availability. The 
President's political intimate, William Henry 
Smith (by 1877 director of the Western Associ­
ated Press in Chicago), was asked by the Presi­
dent for his frank opinions. 12 

Confidentially and on the whole is not 
Harlan the man? Of the right age--able--of 
whole character--industrious--fine manner, 
temper and appearance. 

Early in October, Smith's reply was not 
wholly favorable. 13 

Is Harlan the man? I think so. His age, 
vigor--mental and physical--his agreeable 
manners and personal magnetism are strongly 
for him. I think him a very much better man 
in every way than Bristow, and if a Southern 
man is to be taken, he is the man. The 
appointment will offend a good many people 
ofboth paTties ofthis section, who believe the 
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selection should be made from this state 
[IllinoisJ. They will complain at first but in 
time, if the Administration continues in well 
doing, they will forget about it or overlook it. 
This remark applies to the people, not to akti 
politicians who sympathize with Conkling 
and swear you have destroyed the party in 
breaking the machine. I hope, however, the 
appointment ofa judge will not be made at a 
date earlier than November. The more time 
you get, the surer of victory. 

Although still favorable to Harlan, Smith 
was less hopeful a few days later about the 
political reaction that might be expected in the 
Middle West. 14 

I am troubled about that Supreme Court 
business. The offense to the people of this 
District, if an appointment is made out of it, 
is going to strike deeper than I at first thought. 
This District is second to none in importance. 
It will be more important in the future. To ap­
point Harlan will be to give the Ohio Dist. 
three members, & deprive this strongly Re­
publican one ofany. Then the appointment 
ofHarlan would be less acceptable here than 
a man from the Gulf States. That is now 
clear. In view of these facts & the near ap­
proach ofthe Wisconsin Election I hope you 
will postpone the appointment until the regu­
lar Session. Hence I telegraphed through Webb 
today. Give the lawyers ofthis dist. a fair & 
full hearing. 

MacVeagh, too, was at work. He wrote to 
C.B. Lawrence of Chicago (and presumably to 
others) soliciting support for Harlan. Law­
rence thereupon wrote the President that if a 
Southern man were to be appointed; "no lawyer 
could be named from the South who would be 
more acceptable to the bar of this Circuit than 
Gen. Harlan and there can be no question of 
his eminent fitness for the place."15 

Miller, in a letter to Ballinger just a week 
before Hayes' decision was made public, seemed 
resigned to Harlan's appointment, although 
writing to another aspirant he could not openly 

16give up hope. 

I do not see how the President can ap­
point Harlan, though I think he wishes to do 

so. If not Harlan then there is much hope for 
you. His action thus far in making appoint­
ments shows the strong perhaps too strong 
influence of his personal wishes. Next to 
Harlan I think his wishes are in your favor. 

Whether one calls it independence or stub­
bornness, Hayes disregarded the advice of both 
Smith and Miller (who of course had opposing 
alternatives in mind) and on October 16, 1877, 
he had fmally made up his mind, submitting the 
name of John Marshall Harlan. 

***** 

In the American system, nomination by the 
President is far from tantamount to final ap­
pointment. Not only does the Senate have the 
power to "advise and consent," but it is a power 
of which that body is extremely jealous, and 
fairly often uses to delay if not to block appoint­
ment. This is especially true when the President 
is weak, when his party is a minority in the 
Senate, or when there is strong anti-President 
feeling in a numerous faction of his own party. 
Although Hayes appears stronger to contem-

Rutherlord B. Hayes had been the Governor ofOhio and 
a Union general before becoming President. Although 
greatly respected for his integrity, he could not control 
the Republican Stalwarts. 
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porary historians than he often did in his own 
time, he will never be ranked among our really 
strong Presidents. But even a strong man 
would have had difficulty with the Republican 
Stalwarts. To them the only good President was 
one who was under their thumb. It is true that 
Harlan's association with Bristow would have 
led, in any case, to some opposition in the 
Senate. But it is certain that much of the 
opposition--and its strength--was due to Stal­
wart anger at the President's temerity in daring 
to nominate anyone not approved by them. 

The result of this situation was that Harlan's 
conftrmation was held up for six weeks. In 
hindsight, it appears that the Stalwarts did not 
have real hopes of defeating him, but of course 
Harlan did not know this, and these were anx­
ious weeks for the Kentuckian and his growing 
family. 

The reasons for opposition were varied, and 
much depended upon who the objector was. 
Some of the opposition--but not the most seri­
ous or intractable--came from the Seventh Circuit, 
which was losing a seat. This was certainly true 
ofSenator David Davis of Illinois, who felt that 
"his" seat belonged to the Circuit. But he was, 
as Justice Miller reported, "personally friendly 
to Harlan," and ended up voting for his confir­
mation. Senator Timothy O . Howe, Republi­
can of Wisconsin, had dual reasons for oppos­
ing: not only was Harlan from a different Cir­
cuit, but Howe had personal ambitions for the 
seatP Melville W. Fuller, a prominent Chicago 
attorney and Republican leader, opposed the 
appointment almost solely on Circuit grounds. 
He found it "a disagreeable surprise," and went 
on to say that it "accomplished nothing except 
to reward a Louisiana Commissioner, a per­
sonal and secondary consideration. I hope the 
nomination will fail of confirmation."18 It is for­
tunate that Harlan did not know of this letter, 
for in the 1880s he was to send his son James to 
study in Fuller's office; they had become friends 
while Harlan was "on circuit." Fuller went on 
to become Chief Justice in 1888, and the men 
and their families became intimate--an associa­
tion which lasted many years. 

But the most serious attacks came from the 
Eastern Republican Stalwarts, joined by such 
midwesterners as Senator "Zach" Chandler of 
Michigan. To a large extent these men, as 
noted above, were merely trying to deal Hayes 

a defeat: Harlan was incidental, and anyone 
else appointed would have run the same gaunt­
let. Even here there were variations in motive, 
however. The Chairman of the Senate Judici­
ary Committee, George F. Edmunds of Ver­
mont, was a man of rock-like integrity amd 
stubbornness. 19 He distrusted Harlan's Repub­
licanism and, apparently, opposed him for no 
other reason. He set about to collect whatever 
information he could that was critical, writing 
off to acquaintances in Kentucky such as Lin­
coln's Attorney General, James Speed. Speed 
was forced to acknowledge Harlan's sins--his 
opposition to the Civil War Amendments and 
the Civil Rights Bill, his support of McClellan 
for President in 1864, and his relatively recent 
conversion to Republicanism. But he con­
cluded with a strong endorsement of his old 
friend:20 

It is due to Gen'l Harlan to say that eight 
or ten years ago, he sloughed his old pro­
slavery skin and has since been an earnest 
open and able advocate of what he had 
thought wrong or inexpedient. This I know 
from intimate intercourse with him since his 
removal to Louisville. 

From the beginning of our civil troubles 
till General Harlan became anti-slav.ery the 
idea that had led his course was the integrity 
of the country. For that he was ready to 
sacrifice everything. 

But if Edmunds assumed prominence due 
to his titular position as Chairman of the Judi­
ciary Committee, his opposition was more or 
less rational and not self-interested. This was 
not as true of the real focus of Harlan's opposi­
tion, Senator Roscoe Conkling.2! The New 
York machine leader and old-time spoilsman, 
together with Blaine, as Justice Miller hyper­
bolicallysaid, "would prefer to take the chances 
ofwhat would come from a democratic admini­
stration after the next election, to yielding any 
of their ancient rights of controlling public 
patronage and submit to Evarts, Schurz & Co. 
They profess to dislike the policy. They really 
want the offices." 22 

Regardless of the reasons for the trouble, it 
was serious enough to worry Harlan and his 
supporters. Various of these went or were sent 
to Washington to help; his young partner, "Gus" 
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Willson, spent the entire six weeks there. He 
later claimed that he had been of use "during 
the several months Senator Edmunds held up 
the nomination," apparently partly in counter­
ing the hostile moves of Henry V. Boynton.Z3 

Eli Murray also went to Washington at Har­
lan's request. As Harlan explained to President 
Hayes,1A 

I haw information from Washington which 
leads me to believe that there is a purpose 
with some to postpone all consideration of 
my nomination until the regular session in 
December. Underlying this purpose is the de­
sire to defeat my nomination not because my 
Republicanism is doubted but because I was 
a member of the Louisiana Commission. In 
order to cover this plan the air is being filled 
with charges against me, some of which cast 
doubt upon my fidelity to the Republican 
party, andsome imputing to the Commission 
iniproper practices at New Orleans. 

I have requested my friend Gen. MUffay 
to proceed to Washington that he may, if it 
shall seem necessary, take such steps as he 
may deem proper for the protection of my 
good name against those who would assail it. 

The Kentucky Democrats supported Har­
lan almost to a man. This was especially true of 
Senator James B. Beck who, as Harlan re­
minded him, had participated in Preston H. 
Leslie's campaign for the governorship against 
Harlan in 1871.25 House members like John G. 
Carlisle also helped in lending influence, al­
though of course they had no vote. So did John's 
old friend Tom Crittenden, now a Democratic 
Congressman from Missouri. 

Crittenden provided both advice and help. 
Remarking that he hadjust talked with Senator 
Voorhees,2.6 Crittenden admitted that "there is 
a fight against you," but went on, "you can't be 
beat. Keep quiet and be easy ... I have reason to 
believe you will get out of the Committee all 
right." A few days later the Missourian re­
ported having talked to the new Senator from 
Ohio, Stanley Matthews.v Since Matthews was 
a strong Hayes man there was no doubt how his 
vote would go. But Voorhees thought that 
Senator Maxey would support Harlan as well.28 

Tom Crittenden also told his brother to "tell 
Harlan to keep quiet," judging that he would be 

appointed unless he does "some more unwor­
thy thing in a few days" than he has ever done 
before.29 

Harlan defended himself as best he could, 
not in person, since he was not called to testify, 
but by letter. Beck presumably made the best 
use possible of the letter Harlan supplied him 
late in October, in which the nominee summa­
rized his political record, claiming convincingly 
that he was really a Republican and had funda­
mentally changed his opinions from the time 
when he supported McClellan and opposed the 
Civil War amendments. As he pointed out, 
there was really no organized Republican party 
in Kentucky until after 1867, and he had been 
the most prominent leader of the party since 
that time. 30 

Harlan also defended his record as a mem­
ber of the Louisiana Commission. Stalwarts 
had, of course, opposed the Commission itself 
and Hayes' use of its report to justify the with­
drawal of troops from the beleaguered state; 
but to add to this there were charges--appar­
ently stimulated in part by Henry Boynton--that 
the Commissioners had used bribery or were at 
least aware of its use in persuading Republican 
legislators to desert to the other side. while 
Harlan utterly denied that he or any other of the 
Commissioners had offered bribes, he was si­
lent as to the rest of the charge. But since the 
charge was itself minor even if true--Boynton 
wrote no more to Bristow than that "Harlan 
knew that forty thousand dollars was raised by 
the Nicholls men to set the Nicholls govern­
ment on its feet"31 --he undoubtedly did not 
wish to dignify it by replying. 

Harlan defended his resignation from the 
army in 1863 against the implication that it 
occurred because of his opposition to Lincoln's 
Emancipation Proclamation. The only possible 
defense was his own words written at the time; 
and while they were probably true, there was no 
further way to prove it. 

Of course there was no way that Harlan 
could counter the opposition based on geo­
graphical location ofcircuits, but that was not in 
itself very serious anyway. 

Finally there were the usual criticisms, in 
addition, made against many judicial appoint­
ees, that they are not good lawyers, have no 
judicial experience, and do not have a "judicial 
temperament." Thus one writer who had lived 
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in Kentucky from 1865 to 1867 wrote to Iowa 
Senator S. J. Kirkwood:32 

Harlan ... is not a jurist and never was ac­
credited with being. Is not in full sympathy 
with the Republican party and never was. 
Never had any influence in his own state that 
amounted to anything ... He is in fact a milk 
and water politician [,Ja political demogogue 
who all his life has been after office, but his 
fitness as a judge never entered the minds of 
his Kentucky friends ... 

Another critic said much the same:33 

Harlan is deficient in legal and profes­
sional education, such as ought to be had by 
anyone on the Supreme Bench. As for gen­
eral scholarship or literary attainments, he 
has none. I defy anyone to prove from any 
oral, or written, or printed utterance, he ever 
made that a literature, ancient or modem, 
ever existed .. . 

But Harlan also had much active support, 
his old pre-war partner W. F. Bullock, now a 
Democrat, contradicted the above assesments 
of Harlan's legal abilities, calling him "justly 

Named after Chief Justice John Marshall, Justice John 
Harlan was raised to defend both slavery and the Union. 
He did not join the Republican cause until after the Civil 
War when he came to realize the desirability of the 13th 
and 14th Amendments. 

distinguished for his high legal attainments, his 
active and discriminating mind, his studious 
habits, and his illgh sense of Justice and honor."34 
And the judges of the Kentucky Court of Ap­
peals (mostly Democrats) said that Harlan's 
personal character was "above reproach," and 
that "he is an able, enlightened and learned 
lawyer, and one of the most laborious and 
painstaking members of his profession."35 

Lewis N. Dembitz--Louis D. Brandeis' 
father-in-law--agreed. Harlan, he said, was one 
of the two leaders of the Kentucky bar. "He has 
a fine judicial temper--he shows it by the fair­
ness and moderation of his course as an advo­
cate."36 

An Indiana lawyer, doubtless swallowing his 
disappointment that his circuit would lose its 
representation on the Court, nevertheless told 
the President that Harlan's selection "would 
give more general and uniform satisfaction to 
the Republicans of our State than that of any 
other man in the South.'>37 

The remarks in such letters--which could be 
multiplied--are doubtless overblown, yet just as 
certainly they contain an element of sincerity. 
John Harlan had a gift for friendship, a gift for 
advocacy, and he lived in a small, tightly knit 
legal community in which no one's defects could 
be easily hidden. Over a long period in politics 
he had inevitably made enemies, as well: But 
what seems remarkable is that so many of his 
political opponents seem to have respected him 
as a man, as a lawyer, and as a politician. 

Over a six-week period the opposition gradu­
ally dwindled. By November 19 Senator Beck 
was able to assure the impatient Harlan "that 
you are to be reported favorably & I [do not] 
doubt soon will be confirmed." 38 And on No­
vember 26, Texas Democratic Senator Joseph 
E. McDonald announced that Harlan had been 
favorably reported--apparently without a re­
corded committee vote.39 A motion was placed 
before the Senate, in executive session Novem­
ber 29, that Harlan's nomination be confirmed 
(along with sixteen other Hayes nominations)"o 
Conkling, still fighting the Stalwart battle against 
Hayes, moved that the resolution of confirma­
tion be reconsidered--a motion which happily 
failed. The final confirmation was apparently 
by voice vote and included all seventeen ap­
pointees, and probably occurred on Monday, 
December 3. 41 The previous Friday Beck tri­
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umphantly wrote Harlan that his appointment 
was fmally assured.42 

... Voorhees and I were greatly delighted 
and went off half cocked. Maxey says [toJ 
say 'unanimously' because I want him to 
know I was for him, & I was in a humor to 
oblige everybody ... . The motion to reconsider, 
if it does not prevail falls & the confirmation 
stands & on Monday after 12 P.M. the 
President will be advised & send the 
Comm[issionj. ... It is all right you can't be 
beaten. I have seen both sides .... I think I can 
get all our side [the Democrats J to stand by 
you ... 

Many years later Mallie Harlan recollected 
the day (she apparently got her dates mixed, but 
there is no reason to doubt the essential accu­
racy of her tale).43 

After lunch--as he was, naturally, somewhat 

restless because ofthe way in which his nomi­
nation was hanging fire in the Senate--his 
three boys urged him to join them in an 
impromptu game of foot-ball which took 
place upon a common in the outskirts of the 
city. With great glee they afterwards described 
the way in which theirfatherhadplayed ''full­
back" on their side, and how everyone had 
"stood from under" when he advanced., with 
great deliberation and dignity, to kick away 
the ball whenever it threatened their goal. 

W71en my four "boys" (for my husband 
was always a boy along with his three sons) 
returned., late that afternoon, to our Broad­
way home--tired and happy and hungry for 
their Thanksgiving Dinner--a telegram was 
waiting for him, informing him that on that 
very morning "the Senate had unanimously 
confirmed his nomination as an Associate 
Justice of the Supreme COUlt of the United 
States. " 
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Precedent as Mythology: 

The Case of Marbury v. Madison 


Robert L. Clinton 

Introduction 

Long ago Plato warned that great truths 
may embody noble lies. One of the acknowl­
edged great truths in the illustrious literature of 
American constitutional law holds that the 
doctrine of judicial review, presently conceived 
as the power of courts to invalidate laws, is 
firmly grounded in Chief Justice John Marshall's 
opinion for the U oited States Supreme Court in 
the case of Marbury v. Madison. I Not so long 
ago that case was but an obscure precedent for 
jurisdictional rulings and those involving the 
issuance of writs of mandamus.2 The Supreme 
Court did not cite Marbury in support ofjudicial 
review until 1887; and in that instance the Court 
failed to make it plain that it knew exactly what 
it had cited.3 

Yet in the second decade of the present 
century, Albert J. Beveridge, Marhall's most 
distinguished biographer, can make the follow­
ing statement: 

Marbury,for perfectly calculated audac­
ity, has few parallels in judicial history. In 
order to assert that in the Judiciary rested the 
exclusive power to declare any statute uncon­
stitutional, and to announce that the Su­
preme Court was the ultimate arbiter as to 
what is and what is not law under the 
Constitution, Marshall determined to annul 
Section 13 of the Ellsworth Judiciary Act of 
1789 ... Marshall resolved to go still further. 
He would announce from the Supreme Bench 
roles ofprocedure which the Executive branch 
of the Government must observe. 4 

Echoing Beveridge some four decades later, 
Alexander M. Bickel says that "If any social 
process can be said to have been 'done' at a 
given time and by a given act, it is Marshall's 
achievement. The time was 1803; the act was 
the decision in the case of Marbury v. Madi­
son."5 Clearly, if the aforequoted statements 
are correct, Marbury symbolizes far more than 
mere "judicial review." It symbolizes what many 
modern commentators have come to call "judi­
cial activism" as well. 

That prevailing orthodoxy regards Marbury 
to be the prime exemplar of aggressive judicial 
behavior is quite apparent not only from pe~ 
rusal of texts in the field of constitutional law, 
but also from those in the field of American 
government where many would-be lawyers are 
first exposed to the case. One recent text 
declares that "When the courts make decisions 
so as to set policy, we have what is known as an 
'activist' court. Yet, in fact, a majority of the 
United States Supreme Court has been nothing 
else since Chief Justice Marshall, in Marbury v. 
Madison (1803), proclaimed the Court's right 
to be the fmal interpreter of the Constitution."6 
Another claims that "Marshall went out of his 
way to declare Section 13 unconstitutional."7 
Yet another, alluding to the legendary Marshall­
Jefferson conflict, says that "John Marshall's 
unwillingness to do battle with Jefferson was, in 
fact, the reason he contrived a way out by using 
judicial review in Marbury v. Madison." 8 

Several generations of political scientists 
and lawyers have been nurtured by such views, 
and another is being nourished by them now. 
They have been significant in the legitimation 
ofAmerican ideas respecting the proper extent 
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of judicial power in the twentieth century. Both 
proponents and opponents of assertive federal 
courts have made extensive use of the decision's 
allegedly innovative character. Proponents have 
urged the "statesmanship" of the great Chief 
Justice in his disposition of the case. Opponents 
have pointed out that statesmanship is a "politi­
cal" function which judges have no business 
performing. 

Most authorities appear to concede the idea 
so eloquently embodied in Robert G. 
McCloskey's image of the case: " ...a master­
work of indirection, a brilliant example of 
Marshall's capacity to sidestep danger while 
seeming to court it, to advance in one direction 
while his opponents are looking in another.'>9 
The consensus seems to be that in Marbury, the 
Court went out of its way to invalidate a statu­
tory provision, in order to avoid a direct conflict 
with the President, and assert an authority over 
Congress which could hardly be challenged in 
the circumstances of the case, but which could 
nonetheless be utilized as precedent for subse­
quent assertions of that same authority. Ac­
cording to this theory, Marshall's handling of 
the case was motivated primarily by political, 
not legal, concerns; and everybody's favorite 
precedent is thereby afllicted with a seminal 
taint. 

The main thesis of this essay is that the 
foregoing understanding ofMarbury v. Madison 
is essentially mythological. Following the re­
cent suggestion of Professors DionisopouJos 
and Peterson that judicial review was already an 
accepted part of the American institutional 
structure well before 1803,10 and perceiving no 
reason why Marshall should have found a resort 
to subterfuge necessary in order to "establish" 
an already-established institution in the deci­
sion of Marbury's case, I shall re-examine those 
portions of the famous opinion which appear to 
have generated the current interpretation. If 
the allegedly political aspects of the decision 
may be straightforwardly accounted for by ref­
erence to legal factors alone, then the modern 
conception of judicial review in constitutional 
cases, a conception which emphasizes political 
aspects and ignores most of the legal ones, will 
have been discovered to embody a fiction, 
however noble, in its primary expression. 

Before proceeding further, it is perhaps 
advisable to add a few words of clarification. 

First, I shall sometimes refer to the dominant 
view of Marbury v. Madison as an "activist 
critique." This should not be taken to imply 
that those who hold the view are thereby propo­
nents of "judicial policy-making." The phrase 
applies rather to opinions about how the Court 
approached the issues, and what was decided, 
in Marbury itself. Indeed, among the more 
striking features of the modern debate on judi­
cial review is the apparent agreement of both 
proponents and opponents of judicial policy­
making on what I am calling the "activist cri­
tique" of Marbury. Second, my criticism of the 
various notions which comprise the "activist 
critique" should not be read in su pport of a view 
that such notions are im plausible. The Marbury 
situation was an exceedingly complex one, char­
acterized by an abundance of both legal and 
non-legal factors. Reasonable persons, when 
attempting to explain the decision, surely may 
honestly differ on the relative weights to be 
assigned to influences in either category. 

On the other hand, just as there are good 
reasons for emphasizing "political" factors in 
the effort to explain, say, presidential elections 
(thOUgh "legal" aspects are often significant); 
there are likewise compelling reasons for plac­
ing primary emphasis upon the existing con­
straints of constitutional, statute, and common 
law, when one attempts to understand a legal 
dispute from a historical standpoint. This is all 
the more true when we attempt to extract from 
the resolution of such a dispute principles of 
judicial decision-making for use in the justifica­
tion of subsequent decisions. In the spirit of 
Professor Farber's call for a return to "pedes­
trian" legal scholarship,!1 I shall offer, in the 
pages to follow, an exegesis ofMarbury v. Madi­
son which suggests strongly the plausibility of 
an alternative to the activist rendition of Mar­
bury v. Madison. 

The Case 

The facts in Marbury's case are well known. 
A lame duck Federalist Congress had, on Feb­
ruary 13 and February 27, 1801, passed Acts, 
one of the effects of which was to create some 
new positions within the federal judiciary.12 
Four of the new appointees under the Act of 
February 27 failed to receive their commissions 
due to non-delivery, and on December 17, 1801, 
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sued for a writ of mandamus compelling deliv­
ery in an original action before the U oited 
States Supreme CourtP Before the case came 
to trial, Congress, now dominated by Republi­
can majorities, passed, 00 March 3, 1802, an 
Act repealing the Act of February 13.14 Shortly 
thereafter, on April 23, Congress passed an­
other measure, the effect of which was to elimi­
nate the June and December terms of the 
Supreme Court.15 The latter measure was dearly 
an attempt by Congress to prevent the Court 
from ruling upon the constitutionality of the 
Repeal Act before it took effect, and one of its 
incidental results was to postpone the Court's 
hearing of Marbury's case until its February 
term in 1803}6 

Prior to initiation of the suit, the four plain­
tiffs--William Marbury, Dennis Ramsay, Robert 
Townsend Hooe and William Harper--had 
applied to both the Secretary of State and the 
Secretary of the Senate for information regard­
ing .the commissions}? The Senate had, on 
January 31, 1803, refused to allow its secretary 
to produce copies from the journal reflecting its 
"advice and consent to the appointments."18 
According to the testimony of Jacob Wagner, a 
subpoenaed witness from the State Depart­
ment, Marbury and Ramsay had appeared and 
were referred to him by the Secretary of State. 
Wagner told the applicants that "two of the 
commissions had been signed, but the other 
had not. "19 Wagner then stated that this fact had 
been comm unicated to him by others, but de­
clined to reveal the identity of the informant(s).:iD 
A second employee of the State Department, 
Daniel Brent, testified that he was "almost 
certain" of the completion of Marbury'S and 
Hooe's commissions, but not of Ramsay's; and 
that he (Brent) had been the person who "made 
out the list of names by which the clerk who 
filled up the commissions was guided."21 Brent 
did not believe that any of the commissions had 
been recorded; but Wagner believed that some 
of them had.22 Apparently neither Brent nor 
Wagner had been granted access to the relevant 
ledgers for confirmation of these beliefs. 

The only other administration witness called 
was Attorney General Levi Lincoln, who had 
been acting Secretary of State when Marbury 
and Ramsay first made their application to the 
Department.Z3 At first, Lincoln declined to an­
swer questions because he "did not think him-

Attorney General Levi Lincoln was a witness for the 
Administration. He had been Acting Secretary of State at 
the end of John Adams' Presidency. 

self bound to disclose his official transactions 
while acting as [S]ecretary of [S]tate"; and "ought 
not to be compelled to answer any thing which 
might tend to criminate himself."24 Later, 
apparently in response to an argument of Char­
les Lee, counsel for the plaintiffs, Lincoln agreed 
to answer several questions, though stating that 
he would not answer the crucial question as to 
"what had been done with the commissions."25 
Lee's argument concerned the duties of the 
Secretary of State under the two then-existing 
acts of Congress dealing with that subject.26 

The first of these Acts had been passed on 
July 27,1789, and had created the Department 
of Foreign Affairs, with the Secretary as its 
head.Z7 Under this act, the Secretary was to 
"perform and execute such duties as shall from 
time to time be enjoined on, or entrusted to him 
by the President..."28 The scope of the act is 
explicitly confined to matters "respecting for­
eign affairs,"29 as the title of the newly created 
agency suggests. Lee conceded that, in regard 
to "the powers given and the duties imposed by 
this act, no mandamus will lie," since the Secre­
tary is here "reponsible only to the President."3O 

The second act was passed on September 
15, 1789; and its purpose was to provide for the 
safekeeping of official documents of the United 
StatesY This act changed the name of the 
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Department of Foreign Affairs to the Depart­
ment of State, and charged the Secretary with 
the duty to publish, print, preserve, and record 
all bills, orders, resolutions and notes of Con­
gress which have been signed by the President; 
and to "make out," "record," and "affIX the seal 
of the United States to all civil commissions, 
after they have been signed by the President.'>32 
With respect to judicial process, the act also 
provided that all copies of official documents, 
including commissions, "shall be as good evi­
dence as the originals."33 According to Lee, the 
duties of the Secretary embodied in this act, 
unlike those in the earlier act, must be per­
formed independently of the President, and 
may therefore be compelled by mandamus in 
the case of nonperformance, "in the same manner 
as other persons holding offices under the au­
thority of the United States."34 

The last-quoted statement is a clear refer­
ence to Section 13 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 
and indicates that Marbury and the other plain­
tiffs brought their complaint directly to the 
Supreme Court in reliance on the ACt.35 Later, 
in oral argument, Lee quoted the relevant sen­
tence of Section 13: "The supreme court shall 
also have appellate jurisdiction from the circuit 
court, and courts of the several states, in the 
cases hereinafter specially provided for; and 
shall have power to issue writs of prohibition to 
the district courts, when proceeding as courts of 
admiralty and maritime jurisdiction; and writs 
of mandamus, in cases warranted by the prin­
ciples and usages of law, to any courts ap­
pointed, or persons holding office, under the 
authority of the United States."36 

That Lee interpreted the last -quoted phrase 
concerning mandamus as pertaining to the 
Court's original jurisdiction is clear from his 
next remark: "Congress is not restrained from 
conferring original jurisdiction in other cases 
than those mentioned in the constitution."37 
This remark is accompanied by a citation of 
United States v. Ravara, a 1793 decision of the 
Circuit Court for Pennsylvania involving prose­
cution of a German Consul for extortion.38 The 
Consul's lawyers had argued against the Circuit 
Court's jurisdiction, relying on the provision of 
Article III which gives to the Supreme Court 
original jurisdiction in cases affecting Con­
suls.39 Justices Wilson and Peters (Iredell dis­
senting) rejected this argument, since Con­

gress, in Section 13 of the Judiciary Act, had 
specified the Supreme Court's jurisdiction in 
cases involving Consuls to be original, but not 
exclusive.4o It thus appears that Mr. Lee misin­
terpreted Ravara on the point in question, since 
the latter case involved no statutory enlarge­
ment of the Court's original jurisdiction; but 
only a clarification of it. Lee then moves on to 
citation of several cases wherein the Court 
earlier had entertained jurisdiction on manda­
mus or prohibition. In each case the requested 
writ was denied.41 

Two additional witnesses submitted affida­
vits which supported the claims of the plaintiffs. 
The first was James Marshall, brother of the 
Chief Justice, who apparently had acted as a 
courier for the State Department in the delivery 
of several of the commissions. Marshall stated 
that he had been unable to deliver all the 
commissions, and that two of those left undeliv­
ered were those of Hooe and Harper.42 Hazen 
Kimball, who had been a clerk in the Depart­
ment on March 3, 1801, the day before Jeffer­
son's inauguration, stated that on that day there 
were, in the office, "commissions made out and 
signed by the president, appointing William 
Marbury a justice of peace for the county of 
Washington; and Robert T. Hooe a justice of 
the peace for the county of Alexandria, in. the 
District of Columbia.43 

Several conclusions may be drawn from this 
brief survey of the preliminaries. First, the 
existence of the commissions ofMarbury, Hooe 
and Harper was reliably established; though 
not that of Ramsay. Second, none of the evi­
dence was challenged by any of the witnesses 
examined; not even those presumably hostile to 
the cause. Third, no significant response to the 
Court's original order to "show cause why a 
mandamus should not issue"44 was entered ei­
ther by Madison himself or by any of his subor­
dinates. Finally, the issue of the constitutional­
ity of Section 13 was raised, albeit obliquely, in 
oral argument. 

Mr. Lee's argument, devoted to persuading 
the Court that it was entitled to issue a manda­
mus to the Secretary of State, stressed the 
equitable nature of the proceeding, and its basis 
in English law. According to Blackstone, a writ 
of mandamus is 

a command issuing in the king's name from 
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Charles Lee, counsel for the plaintiffs, argued that the 
Court was entitled to issue a mandamus to the Secretary 
of State because such an action was equitable and had 
basis in English law. 

the court ofking' s bench, and directed to any 
person, corporation or inferior court, requir­
ing them to do some particular thing therein 
specified, which appertains to their office and 
duty, and which the court haspreviouly deter­
mined, or at least supposed, to be consonant 
to right and justice. It is a writ of a most 
extensively remedial nature, and issues in all 
cases where the party has a right to have any 
thing done, and has no other specific means 
of compelling its peiformance. ,>4,) 

According to Lee, since the Secretary in the 
Marbury situation is acting merely as recorder 
of laws, deeds, letters patent and commissions 
he is controlled only by the aforementioned 
laws imposing such duties, and is subject to 
indictment for refusal to perform them.46 "A 
prosecution of this kind might be the means of 
punishing the officer, but a specific civil remedy 
to the injured party can only be obtained by a 

writ of mandamus."47 The argument concl udes 
by noting the threat posed by the arbitrary acts 
of the administration to an independent judici­
ary,48 and presents a number of English cases 
designed to show that mandamus is appropri­
ate where there is "no other adequate, specific, 
legal remedy"; 49 thereby rendering the issu­
ance of the writ consistent with the "principles 
and usages of law," as required by Section 13.50 

Chief Justice Marshall's opinion for the 
Court was rendered on February 24, 1803. It 
may generally be subdivided into two sections. 
The first treats the related questions ofMar­
bury's alleged right to receive his commission 
and the appropriate legal remedy to enforce 
that right, if such exists.51 The Court's rulings 
on these points were straightforward: (1) that 
Marbury had been duly appointed, that delivery 
ofthe commission was merely incidental to the 
appointment, and that the Secretary of State 
had not therefore the privilege of later with­
holding it; 52 (2) that it is the duty of a govern­
ment of laws to supply remedies for violated 
rights;53 and (3) that the writ of mandam us is an 
appropriate legal remedy for resolution of a 
dilemma like Marbury's.54 This section of the 
opinion thus follows closely the lines of argu­
ment laid down by Mr. Lee in his presentation 
of Marbury's case. 

Not so with the second section of the opin­
ion. This section deals with the power of the 
Court to issue the requested writ, and boils 
down to the question whether it may take juris­
diction of the case for such a purpose.55 The 
Court's answer to the latter question is nega­
tive, upon the ground that the act on which 
Marbury relied is one which unwarrantably 
enlarges the original jurisdiction of the Su­
preme Court, a jurisdiction clearly spelled out 
in Article III of the federal Constitution.56 

The relevant phrase extends the Court's 
original jurisdiction to cases affecting "Ambas­
sadors, other public Ministers and Consuls, and 
those in which a State shall be Party..." Al­
though this provision was clearly designed to 
protect the dignity of American states and for­
eign nations when haled into court,S? Lee had 
premised Marbury's original action in the Su­
preme Court on the idea that the Secretary of 
State could be compelled by mandamus "in the 
same manner as other persons holding offices 
under the authority of the United States."58 
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The Court thereby rejects Lee's assertion that 
Congress may confer original jurisdiction in 
cases other than those mentioned in the 
Constitution.59 In short, Marbury is entitled to 
his Commission, has applied for an appropriate 
equitable remedy in the absence of an adequate 
legal one, but has applied for it in the wrong 
court. 

The dominant modern view of Marbury v. 
Madison appears to rest upon several conten­
tions regarding alternative ways in which the 
Court might have handled the case. I shall 
proceed shortly to analysis of the MmbUl)' opinion 
in the light of these contentions. Most of them 
were advanced in an article, now regarded a 
classic, penned some years ago by William Van 
Alstyne.60 Lief Carter has claimed that Van 
Alstyne's dissection of the opinion reveals on 
Marshall's part "a lack of legal integrity bor­
dering on fraud."61 Many others have echoed 
like sentiments. 

First, it has been suggested that since the 
Court ultimately declined to issue the requested 
writ of mandamus anyway it might as well have 
done so without opinion; or at least without 
having expressed an opinion regarding Mar­
bury's "rights," or upon the theoretical power 
of the federal courts to enforce such rights via 
issuance of mandatory injunctions to executive 
officials.62 After all, such an approach would 
have circumvented Jefferson's charge that the 
Court had traveled beyond its case "to pre­
scribe what the law would be in a moot case not 
before the court."63 Likewise, summary dis­
missal would have comported nicely with such 
modern maxims of judicial restraint as nonan­
ticipation of constitutional questions, and deci­
sion of constitutional cases on other than 
constitutional grounds whenever possible. 64 

Closely related to the foregoing idea is the 
contention that the Court could have construed 
Section 13 narrowly, thereby avoiding the ne­
cessity of declaring the law unconstitutional. 
The Court might have assumed that Congress 
could not have meant to enlarge the original ju­
risdiction, and thereby resolved the matter on 
statutory grounds.65 Alternatively, the Court 
might have ruled that the culprit mandamus 
provision could apply either in original or ap­
pellate jurisdiction, so long as the assumption 
of jurisdiction was justified on other grounds.66 

By this strategy, the Court would have avoided 

imputation either of bad motives or of poor 
draftsmanship to the national legislature, whose 
decisions are entitled to the utmost respect. 

It has also been said that since Congress is 
empowered to make exception to the Court's 
appellate jurisdiction, the distribution of juris­
diction in Article III might have been merely 
provisional.67 In connection with this proposi­
tion, it has been asserted that Marshall himself 
later rejected the implication of Marbury on 
this point, and therewith threw out the baby 
with the bath water.68 

Finally, the famous argument in support of 
judicial review found in the closing paragraphs 
of Marshall's opinion has been criticized for an 
alleged assertion of judicial supremacy over 
Congress and the President in constitutional 
matters.69 In the words ofJudge Learned Hand: 
"It will not bear scrutiny."70 Suspecting that the 
modern critique may bear it no better, I shall 
now examine relevant portions of the Marbury 
opinion in the light of that critique, hoping at 
very least to provide a more balanced view of 
the case. 

Summary Dismissal 

Under normal circumstances, where the 
law is considered settled, it is appropriat6 for 
the Supreme Court to dismiss a claim for want 
of jurisdiction without expressing opinion on 
the merits of the dispute. In appellate jurisdic­
tion this result may be accomplished via denial 
of the writ of certiorari, a discretionary author­
ity granted to the Court by statute in 1891.71 

This procedure was, of course, unavailable to 
the Court in Marbury's day, and remains inap­
plicable when the Court sits as a court of origi­
naljurisdiction. It follows that, at least prior to 
1891, the Court's discretionary authority was 
greater in original than in appellate jurisdic­
tion. In the former instance, the Court might, 
with greater justification than in the latter, 
regard itself bound to offer explanation of its 
refusal to employ its jurisdiction in a particular 
way. When the court is invited to exercise its 
original jurisdiction, it is essentially being asked 
to perform the functions of a trial court, the 
most important of which consists in the deter­
mination of the rights and responsibilities of 
parties who have not had their claims previ­
ously adjudicated. 
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These considerations apply with even greater 
force when the Court is asked to invoke its 
equity powers while sitting as a court of original 
jurisdiction. Since the issuance of a writ of 
mandamus is an equitable remedy, such was the 
situation of Marbury, and the Court undoubt­
edly recognized this in declaring its threefold 
obligation: (1) "solely, to decide on the rights of 
individuals";72 (2) to consider whether a specific 
duty has been "assigned by law";73 and (3) to de­
termine whether "individual rights depend upon 
the performance of that duty.,,74 

To be sure, the case had implications ex­
tending far beyond Marbury's personal di­
lemma. As we have seen, the federal courts 
were under siege throughout the entire period 
in which Marbury'S case was before the Court.75 

The Judiciary Act of 1801 had been repealed,76 
a federal judge had been impeached77 and the 
1802 term of the Supreme Court had been 
suspended. 78 

With the judiciary involved in this imbro­
glio, It is hardly surprising that the Court would 
have been chagrined at the refusal of the Secre­
tary of State to appear in order to "show cause 
whya mandamus should not issue."'J9 The sepa­
ration doctrine of the Federal Convention surely 
enables the Court to defend itself against bra­
zen attempts by coordinate branches of govern­
ment to impair the capacity of the judiciary to 
perform its functions properly. Arguably, this 
was the Convention's primary rationale for judicial 
review in the first place, reflected in its narrow­
ing of the power to cases of a "judiciary nature," 
of which Marbury is an obvious example.80 

The Marbury situation is, in fact, somewhat 
analogous to that which led to the Court's 
unanimous holding in United States v. Nixon, 
that documents in the custody of executive 
officials, including the President, are subject to 
judicial process whenever such is essential to 
appropriate adjudication of the rights and du­
ties of parties to a case pending in federal court, 
absent a clear showing of the necessity of ex­
emption from such process.SI Notwithstanding 
the obvious factual and legal differences be­
tween the two cases--for example, that in the 
latter case the President was directly involved 
as an unindicted co-conspirator in a criminal 
prosecution--it remains to be noted that in Mar­
bury, as in Nixon, important documents sorely 
needed by the courts had been withheld without 

even the barest showing of necessity for such 
withholding. Furthermore, in Marbury, the 
executive refusal had occurred in the face of an 
act of Congress which required the production 
of the requested information. At any rate, it is 
against this threatening background that the 
Court's declaration of the law respecting the 
question whether, and in what circumstances, a 
right to a commission stemming from a judicial 
appointment "has vested or not" must be un­
derstood.82 

The answer to this question, according to 
the Court, depends upon the separability (or 
lack thereof) of the acts of appointment and 
commiSSIOn. Since "the power to perform 
them is given in two separate and distinct sec­
tions of the constitution,"83 and since one of 
those sections imposes without qualification a 
duty upon the President to "commission all the 
officers of the United States,"84 some of whose 
appointments may be vested by Congress "in 
the President alone, in the courts of law, or in 
the heads of departments";85 it follows that the 
acts must be deemed separable, and that the 
commission is merely evidence of an appoint­
ment, not "itself the actual appointment."86 

Furthermore, since "the verity of the Presi­
dential signature" demands that "the great seal 

The case or United Stales v. Nixon is similar to Marbury in 
that documents needed by the courts were withheld by the 
Executive wilhout demonstraling compelling reason. 
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is only to be affixed to an instrument which is 
complete,"87 and since Congress has imposed 
upon the Secretary of State, independent of 
presidential authority, the duty to "make out," 
"record," and "affix the said seal to all civil 
commissions to officers of the United States";88 
it follows that delivery of the commission is 
merely incidental to the acts of appointment 
and commission, and that the failure of the 
Secretary either to produce evidence of an 
appointment (a commission), or to "show cause 
why a mandamus should not issue,"lI9 consti­
tutes a serious incursion upon the Court's power 
to perform adequately one of its most impor­
tant functions: the determination as to when the 
Legislature has imposed upon a government 
official a particular duty to perform certain 
ministerial acts upon which the rights of indi­
viduals are dependent.90 Under such condi­
tions, "he is so far an officer of the law; is 
amenable to the laws for his conduct; and 
cannot at his discretion sport away the vested 
rights of others.'>'}! 

In view of the attention that has been fo­
cused upon the Marshall-Jefferson conflict,92 
and the usual reading of the foregoing portions 
of the Marbury opinion as a veiled attack upon 
the President, it should be noted that all the 
aforequoted remarks are prefatory to the Court's 
invocation of Blackstone, to the effect that 

injuries to the rights ofproperty can scarcely 
be committed by the crown without the inter­
vention of its officers; for whom the law, in 
matters of right, entertains no respect or deli­
cacy; but furnishes various methods ofdetect­
ing the errors and misconduct ofthose agents, 
by whom the king has been deceived and in­
duced to do a temporary injustice.93 

It is in this context also that the Court 
enunciates the distinction which is at the heart 
of the doctrine of political questions: 

By the constitution of the United States, 
the President is invested with certain impor­
tant political powers, in the exercise ofwhich 
he is to use his own discretion, and is ac­
countable only to his country in his political 
character, and to his own conscience. To aid 
him in the peifonnance of these duties, he is 
authorized to appoint certain officers, who 

act by his authority and in confonnity with his 
orders. In such cases, their acts are his acts; 
and whatever opinion may be entertained of 
the mannerin which executive discretion may 
be used, still there exists, and can exist, no 
power to control that discretion. The subjects 
are political. They respect the nation, not in­
dividual rights .... 94 

In other words, the fust portion of the 
Marbury opinion is hardly a "lecture" to the 
Chief Executive by way of dicta.95 Even less 
does it exhibit a Court's "traveling beyond the 
confmes of the case," or reaching out to decide 
"issues that did not have to be decided.'>96 The 
Secretary had exhibited behavior clearly unbe­
coming the dignity of his office, had failed to 
perform duties which had been assigned to his 
office by statute independently of his responsi­
bility to the Chief Executive, and had thereby 
implicated the Presidency itself in an illegal 
effort to suppress information clearly relevant 
to the determination of the rights and duties of 
parties to a lawsuit, a determination which is 
the duty (not merely a right) of the courts to 
make. Summary disposition of Marbury's 
complaint would therefore have been disin­
genuous on the part of the Court. Marbury had 
relied upon a presumably valid statute, which 
had not been previously construed by the Court 
with respect to the point in question.97 Had the 
Court chosen to deny Marbury his remedy 
without apprising him of his right (his ability to 
pursue the cause in another court), Marbury's 
fate would have, in effect, been determined by 
the retrospective non-application of a doubtful 
statute. Such a result is manifestly inconsistent 
with the fairness rightly expected of courts 
when engaged in the task of rendering judg­
ment regarding the rights of individuals vis-a­
vis the powers of government. 

On the other hand, had the Court reached 
the constitutional issue without ruling upon 
these questions--without carefully distinguish­
ing the acts of a subordinate official which are 
assumed to be the acts of the Executive itself, 
from the acts of such an official acting on his 
own--it would have rightly exposed itself to the 
charge of disrespect toward a coordinate agency 
of government. In the case that Section 13 was 
void and the writ qmld not issue, the Court 
would have acquiesced in an executive usurpa­
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tion of judicial functions, since the outcome 
would have been made to appear dependent 
upon the mere arbitrary will of a subordinate 
executive official. In the alternative case, the 
Court would have intruded upon the preroga­
tives of the President, by issuing the writ in 
circumstances in which it was not perfectly 
clear whether the "failure to show cause" was 
properly within the executive discretion or not. 

Statutory Construction 

The relevant sentence of the provision to 
which the Court refused application in Mar­
bury's case reads as follows: 

The Supreme Court shall also have ap­
pellate jurisdiction from the circuit courts and 
the Courts of the several states, in the cases 
hereinafter specially provided for; and shall 
have power to issue writs ofprohibition to the 
district courts, when proceeding as courts of 
admiralty and maritime jurisdiction, and writs 
of mandamus, in cases warranted by the 
principles and usages of law, to any courts 
appointed or persons holding office under 
the authority of the United States. 98 

One possible basis for a "narrow" interpre­
tation of the aforequoted provision would be to 
hold that, since the mandamus provision is part 
of a sentence which commences with a state­
ment about the appellate jurisdiction, the intent 
of Congress plausibly may be construed as ap­
plicable only in that jurisdiction.99 In response, 
it maybe said that the phrase "in the cases here­
inafter specially provided for" seems not to 
refer to the mandamus provision at alJ, but 
suggests application to subsequent sections of 
the act, wherein appellate procedures are 
"specially" delineated. The most likely referent 
is, of course, Section 25, which authorizes Su­
preme Court review of decisions of state courts 
of last resortYXl Additionally, the ftrst three 
sentences (the remainder of Section 13) are 
devoted entirely to the original jurisdiction, 
suggesting again that the first phrase of the 
fourth sentence is merely a forethought, and 
not determinative of the second phrase. 

The first three sentences ofSection 13 read 
as follows: 

And be it further enacted, that the Su­
preme Court shall have exclusive jurisdiction 
ofall controversies ofa civil nature, where a 
state is a party, except between a state and its 
citizens; and except also between a state and 
citizens of other states, or aliens, in which 
latter case it shall have original but not exclu­
sive jurisdiction. And shall have exclusively 
all such jurisdiction of suits or proceedings 
against ambassadors, or other public minis­
ters, or their domestics or domestic servants, 
as a court of law can have or exercise con­
sitently with the law ofnations; and original, 
but not exclusive jurisdiction ofall suits brought 
by ambassadors, or other public ministers, or 
in which a consul or vice consul, shall be a 
party. And the trial of issues in fact in the 
Supreme Court, in all actions at law against 
citizens of the United States, shall be by 
jury.lOl 

The purpose of the first two sentences is clearly 
to distinguish those instances wherein the Court's 
original jurisdiction is exclusive from those 
wherein it is not. The third sentence merely 
says that when the Court sits as a trier of fact 
(exercises its original jurisdiction in actions at 
law against United States citizens), the deter­
mination of fact must be made by a jury. 

Another basis for a narrow view would be to 
hold that the mandamus provision is intended 
to apply in either original or appellate jurisdic­
tion, so long as the assumption of jurisdiction is 
justified on other grounds.102 In reply, one 
should be reminded of Marshall's tendency to 
read legal provisions literally, at least whenever 
language is relatively unambiguous. For ex­
ample, Marshall read the term "contracts" in 
Article I, Section 10 so as to include "public" as 
well as "private" ones. 103 Many scholars have 
taken Marshall to task for this, claiming that the 
clause was intended to apply to "private" con­
tracts only.l04 The trouble with this is that the 
Founders had explicitly rejected an invitation to 
qualify the term "contracts" with the adjective 
"private," leading one to the conclusion that 
they may have intended to make the scope of 
the contract clause as wide as possible. lOS But 
even were we ignorant of this history, it remains 
that the Founders left the word "contracts" 
without a qualifier, suggesting that they meant 
contracts generally to fall within the scope of 
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the provision. I06 

Since the mandamus provision in Section 13 
contains no specification whatever as to juris­
diction, a similarly literal reading demands the 
following conclusions: (1) that the provision 
applies generally to any "persons holding of­
fice, under the authority of the United States,,;UJ7 
and (2) that the writ may therefore be issued in 
both appellate and original jurisdiction. So 
read, the provision is unconstitutional, and the 
Court is at liberty to refuse its application. 

In justification of its refusal to apply Section 
13, the Court (per Marshall) essayed the most 
famous portion of its Marbury opinion. Having 
established Marbury's right to his commission, 1C»l 

the propriety of the writ of mandamus as a 
remedial device in situations wherein no other 
remedy is available,l09 and the appropriateness 
of its issuance against an executive who "com­
mits any illegal act, under color of his office, by 
which an individual sustains an injury,""0 and 
who cannot therefore pretend "that his office 
alone exempts him from being sued in the ordi­
nary mode of proceeding,""! the Court turned 
to an examination of relevant constitutional 
doctrine bearing upon the question of its denial 
of the requested writ. 

The Court first states that the instant case is 
one to which the judicial power of the United 
States applies, since this power "is expressly 
extended to all cases arising under the laws of 
the United States; and consequently, in some 
form, may be exercised over the present case; 
because the right claimed is given by a law of the 
United States.""2 This law, as we have seen, 
imposes upon the Secretary of State the minis­
terial duty to "make out," "record," and "affIx" 
the seal of the United States to all civil commis­
sions.l13 It does not impose upon the Secretary 
the obligation to deliver a commission, "but it is 
placed in his hands for the person entitled to it; 
and cannot be more lawfully withheld by him, 
than by any other person.""4 Marbury's claim 
"respects a paper, which according to law, is 
upon record, and to a copy of which the law 
gives a right, on the payment of ten cents .... "115 

This point has been overlooked in contem­
porary discusions of Marbury. The latter's no­
torious "right" is not that ofdelivery of the com­
mission, but is rather the right to a mere copy 
from the record on demand. The right in 
question is therefore a statutory (not a constitu­

tional) one arising from the duty imposed by 
Congress upon the Secretary "to do a certain 
act affecting the absolute rights of individuals, 
in the performance of which he is not placed 
under the particular direction of the President, 
and the performance of which, the President 
cannot lawfully forbid, and therefore is never 
presumed to have forbidden ...."116 In other words, 
the Secretary's duty is to perform a purely 
"ministerial" act not within executive discre­
tion. It is within the power of a court to supply 
a remedy for an individual who has been harmed 
by the minister's failure to do his duty. It is 
worthwhile to note that this is the main reason 
why delivery of a commission cannot be consid­
ered essential to completion of an appoint­
ment. "The transmission of the commission is 
a practice directed by convenience, but not by 
law. It cannot therefore be necessary to consti­
tute the appointment which must precede it, 
and which is the mere act of the President."117 

In sum, the case falls squarely within the 
scope of Article Ill's "arising under" provi­
sion,"8 in that: (1) the plaintiff is potentially a 
judicial officer of the United States; and (2) the 
defendant's response (or lack thereof) amounts 
at best to executive interference with the Court's 
effort to perform its own proper function, or at 
worst to executive usurpation of judicial. au­
thority. It is therefore a case of a "jUdiciary 
nature" in the strongest sense, as has already 
been suggested in an earlier section of this 
essay.!!9 

The problem for Marbury, however, is that 
Section 13, the provision which supposedly 
authorizes the mandamus remedy in his case, 
when construed literally, runs afoul of Article 
Ill's distribution offederaljudicial power. The 
second clause of the Article's second section 
reads as follows: 

In all cases affecting ambassadors, other 
public ministers and consuls, and those in 
which a state shall be a party, the Supreme 
Court shall have original jurisdiction. In all 
the other cases before mentioned, the Su­
preme Court shall have appellate jurisdic­
tion, both as to law and to fact, with such 
exceptions, and under such regulations as the 
Congress shall make. 121> 

The "other cases before mentioned" obvi­
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ously refers back to the first clause of the same 
section, which spells out the various kinds of 
cases over which the Court has jurisdiction, 
including those in which the Court is granted 
original jurisdiction in the second c1ause.12l A 
straightforward reading of the text therefore 
demands the conclusion that the Founders 
specified the appellate jurisdiction quite as clearly 
as they had the original, subject only to the 
quaIification that empowers Congress to make 
"exceptions" to the former. 

The Exceptions Clause 

TheMarbwy opinion has been subjected to 
a variety of criticisms which revolve about the 
"exception" provision. Professor Van Alstyne 
has suggested that the Founders may have in­
tended nothing more by the "original-appel­
late" division than to provide a guideline for the 
Court in the case that Congress failed to act. l22 

DaVid P. Currie has claimed that such a "provi­
sion·a! distribution" is "precisely what they [the 
framers] did with respect to the appellate juris­
diction by empowering Congress to make 'ex­
ceptions."'IZl The upshot of such arguments ap­
pears to be the position succinctly expressed by 
William Winslow Crosskey: " ... the only legiti­
mate question in Marbury v. Madison was 
whether Congress had made such an exception, 
by Section 13, in a constitutional manner. And 
that the answer to this question should have 
been in the affirmative is c1ear."I24 In other 
words, by drafting Section 13, Congress had 
merely "made an 'exception' to the appellate 
jurisdiction by providing original jurisdiction 
instead."I25 

It requires little erudition to perceive that 
these notions, if taken seriously, reduce the 
entirety of the second clause in Article III, 
Section 2 to superfluity. The Court certainly 
realized as much in Marbury, and said so un­
equivocally: "That they [the Supreme Court] 
should have appellate jurisdiction in all other 
cases, with such exceptions as Congress might 
make, is no restriction; unless the words be 
deemed exclusive of original jurisdiction."I26 

Professor Currie seems to add confusion to 
contradiction when he says that Marshall " .. . 
was to reject the implications of his Marbury 
reasoning in Cohens v. Vi'8inia, where he 
declared that Congress could grant appellate 

Alexander Hamilton had advocated attaching the excep· 
tion clause to the appellate jurisdiction in order to 
counter fears that it might empower the Supreme Court 
to overrule determinations of fact rendered by lower 
courts. 

jurisdiction in cases where the Constitution 
provided for original."l27 Yet, as Currie himself 
points out, Alexander Hamilton had outlined 
reasons for the provision of original jurisdiction 
in those cases involving the dignity of a State, 
whether domesticor foreign .l21! However, Cur­
rie fails to notice that Hamilton also spelled out 
reasons for attaching the exceptions clause to 
the appellate jurisdiction, and that those rea­
sons involved an effort on the part of the Found­
ers to counter widespread public fear that the 
appellate jurisdiction "both as to law and to 
fact" would empower the Supreme Court to 
overrule determinations of fact rendered by 
juries below. l29 

The relevant language in the Federalist IS 

the following: 

To avoid all inconveniences, it will be 
safest to declare generally that the Supreme 
Court shall possess appellate jurisdiction both 
as to law and fact, and that this jurisdiction 
shall be subject to such exceptions and regu­
lations as the national legislature may pre­
scribe. This will enable the govemment to 
modify it in such a manner as will best answer 
the ends ofpublic justice and security. This 
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view ofthe matter, at any rate, puts it out ofall 
doubt that the supposed abolition of the trial 
by jury, by the operation of this provision, is 
fallacious and untrne. The legislature of the 
United States would certainly have full power 
to provide that in appeals to the Supreme 
Court there should be no re-examination of 
facts where they had been tried in original 
causes by juries. This would certainly be an 
authorized exception; but if, for the reason 
already intimated, it should be thought too 
extensive, it might be qualified with a limita­
tion to such causes only as are determinable 
at common law in that mode of trial. 130 

If Hamilton's suggestion is correct, there is 
no incompatibility between Marbury and Co­
hens; since under his interpretation, the appel­
late jurisdiction would be subject either to en­
largement or restriction, whichever the "ends 
of public justice and security" require in the 
particular instance. To "grant appellate juris­
diction in cases where the Constitution pro­
vided for original," is therefore not equivalent 
to doing the reverse. 

Marshall and his Court must surely have 
known this at the time of the Marbury decision; 
for, as was pointed out above, the first two 
sentences af Section 13 differentiate those in­
stances wherein the Court's original jurisdic­
tion is exclusive from those wherein it is not. 13I 

Such, in effect, is to "enlarge" the appellate 
jurisdiction of the Court. The inescapable logic 
of the Section 13 division is pointed out by the 
Court later in Cohens, via reductio ad absur­
dum: 

Can it be affirmed, that a State might not 
sue the citizen of another State in a Circuit 
Court?Should the Circuit Court decide for or 
against its jurisdiction, should it dismiss the 
suit, or give judgement against the State, 
might not its decision be revised in the Su­
preme Court? The argument [ofcounsel] is, 
that it could not; and the very clause which is 
urged to prove, that the Circuit Court could 
give nojudgement in the case, is also urged to 
prove, that its judgement is irreversible. A 
supervising Court, whose peculiar province it 
is to correct the errors ofan inferior Court, has 
no power to correct a judgement given with­
out jurisdiction, because, in the same case, 

that supervising Court has original 
jurisdiction ... .lt is, we think, apparent, that to 
give this distributive clause the interpretation 
contendedfor, to give to its affirmative words 
a negative operation, in every possible case, 
would, in some instances, defeat the obvious 
intention ofthe article ... It must, therefore, be 
discarded .... The Court may imply a negative 
from affirmative words, where the implica­
tion promotes, not where it defeats the inten­
tion. 132 

In other words, the Marshall Court refuses 
to "imply a negative from affirmative words," 
where, as in Cohens, the implication "defeats 
the intention." On the other hand, where, as in 
Marbury, the implication promotes the inten­
tion, a negative may be inferred. The Court 
addresses the issue squarely in Marbury : 

If it had been intended to leave it in the 
discretion of the legislature to apportion the 
judicial power between the supreme and infe­
rior courts according to the will ofthat body, 
it would certainly have been useless to have 
proceeded further than to have defined the ju­
dicial power, and the tribunals in which it 
should be vested. The subsequent part of the 
section is mere surplusage, is entirely without 
meaning, if such is to be the constmction.133 

These remarks are unimpeachable. But in 
what immediately follows, it must be conceded 
that MarshalI made a mistake: "If congress 
remains at liberty to give this court appellate 
jurisdiction, where the constitution has declared 
their jurisdiction shall be original; and original 
jurisdiction where the constitution has declared 
it shall be appellate; the distribution ofjurisdic­
tion, made in the constitution, is form without 
substance."I34 The mistake, however, is one of 
inappropriate expression, not oflogic. Taken at 
face value the statement is entirely true. It is 
merely a hypothetical with two premises, both 
of which must be true if the conclusion is to 
follow. Since the first premise ("congress 
remains at liberty to give this court appellate ju­
risdiction, where the constitution has declared 
their jurisdiction shall be original") is trne, as 
we have seen, and as the Court later held in 
Cohens, it follows that the second premise 
("Congress remains at liberty to give this court 
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original jurisdiction where the constitution has 
declared it shall be appellate") must be false; 
else the conclusion ("the distribution of juris­
diction, made in the constitution, is form with­
out substance") will follow. And the Court so 
held in Marbury. Later, in Cohens, Marshall 
says that the general "expressions in the case of 
Marbury v. Madison must be understood with 
the limitations which are given to them in this 
opinion; limitations which in no degree affect 
the decision in that case, or the tenor of its 
reasoning."135 

Judicial Review 

After having shown the incompatibility of 
Section 13 with the constitutional distribution 
of judicial power, the Court entertains the 
question whether a jurisdiction inappropriately 
conferred may nevertheless be exercised. For 
its answer, recourse is clearly to the underlying 
logic of Article V: 

That the people have an original right to 
establish, for their future government, such 
principles as, in their opinion, shall most con­
duce to their own happiness, is the basis, on 

which the whole American fabric has been 
erected. The exercise ofthis original right is a 
very great exertion; nor can it, or ought it to be 
frequently repeated. The principles, there­
fore, so established, are deemed fundamen­
tal. And as the authority, from which they 
proceed, is supreme, and can seldom act, they 
are designed to be penn anent.. .. It is a propo­
sition too plain to be contested, that the 
constitution controls any legislative act re­
pugnant to it; or, that the legislature may alter 
the constitution by an ordinary act. /36 

At this point the Court reaches the issue 
which eventually generated the great contro­
versy over judicial review which has yet to 
subside. Granted that "The constitution is 
either a superior, paramount law, unchange­
able by ordinary means, or it is on a level with 
ordinary legislative acts,"137 does it nonetheless 
follow that an act, " repugnant to the 
constitution...notwithstanding its invalidity, bind 
the courts, and oblige them to give it effect?"I38 
In its answer to this crucial question, the Court 
articulates the famous theory of judicial func­
tion for which Marbury is celebrated: 

It is emphatically the province and duty of 
the judicial department to say what the law is. 
Those who apply the rule to particular cases, 
must ofnecessity expound and interpret that 
rule. If two laws conflict with each other, the 
courts must decide on the operatiofl ofeach. 
So ifa law be in opposition to the ConstiJution; 
if both the law and the Constitution apply to 
a particular case, so that the court must either 
decide that case confonnably to the law, dis­
regarding the [CJonstitution; orconfonnably 
to the [C}onstitution, disregarding the law; 
the court must detennine which ofthese con­
flicting rules governs the case. This is of the 
very essence ofjudicial duty. 139 

In light of the manner in which these lines 
have been frequently cited as precedential for a 
view of the judicial power which renders the Su­
preme Court ultimate arbiter of constitutional 
questions generally, much should be made of 
what is not said in them. No exclusive power to 
interpret the fundamental law is claimed for the 
Court here, or anywhere else in Marbury. To be 
sure, it is the "province and duty of the judicial 
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department to say what the law is."I40 But the 
Court says that this is so only "of necessity," 
whenever those "who apply the rule to particu­
lar cases" must determine which of two "con­
flicting rules governs the case."141 This portion 
of the Marbury opinion seems directed primar­
ily toward provision of a justification for the 
idea that, in some cases, "the constitution must 
be looked into by the jUdges.'>142 There is no 
denial of the legislature'S power to do likewise. 
Such is made clear a few paragraphs later in the 
opinion: " .... it is apparent, that the framers of 
the constitution contemplated that instrument, 
as a rule for the government of courts, as well as 
of the legislature.'>l43 

Even less does the language of Marbury 
suggest that the Court's determinations may 
legitimately transcend the confines of the par­
ticular case before it. After all, the Court has 
already said that its province is "solely, to de­
cide on the rights of individuals," as we have 
seen.l44 And in the presence of a "repugnancy," 
it must only "disregard" either statute or 
Constitution (as a matter of logic) in its deter­
mination of "which of these conflicting rules 
governs the case." 145 In other words, the power 
of review claimed by the Court in Marbury is 
merely a power of discretion to disregard exist­
ing laws in the decision of particular controver­
sies, provided that the constitutional and statu­
tory provisions involved are, like those in Ar­
ticle III and the Judiciary Act, addressed to the 
Court itself. If the provisions in question are not 
addressed to the Court itself, then the Court is 
not compel/ed, as a matter of logic, to choose 
between them in order to decide the case. Since 
"precedents" are created by holdings on points 
oflaw necessarily decided in particular cases, it 
follows that the Court's choice between consti­
tutional and statutory provisions, one or both of 
which are not addressed to the Court, should 
not be regarded as controlling in the decisions 
of subsequent cases. Nor should such uncon­
strained "choices" be read speculatively into 
the Court's opinion after the fact by historians, 
when the words of the Court itselfare expressly 
to the contrary. 

Marbury thus affords no basis for inferring 
the proposition that the Court is bound to 
disregard a statutory provision in conflict with 
the Constitution, except perhaps in that small 
number of instances where the Constitution 

directly furnishes a rule for the courts. Indeed, 
the Marbury Court suggests precisely this view 
in its reference to the idea of political ques­
tions.146 It is therefore plausible to draw the 
conclusion that, when the Court declares the 
superiority of the Constitution over ordinary 
legislation in Marbury, it does so Dot in deroga­
tion of/egislative power, but only in justification 
of its judgment in that case: its determination of 
the respective rights and duties of Marbury and 
Madison. 

Conclusions 

The foregoing observations suggest that the 
twentieth century Marbury is largely a myth. 
Far from constituting an innovative decision, 
each important aspect of the opinion is grounded 
upon familiar principles of legal interpretation. 
First, the Court's rendering an opinion appris­
ing Marbury and Madison of their respective 
rights and duties was appropriate, notwithstand­
ing its "advisory" character. The relief re­
quested by Marbury is equitable in nature (a 
mandatory injunction directing specific per­
formance being an equitable remedy), and the 
function of a court of equity is to do as much 
justice as can be done under the circumstances 
of the case, when no adequate legal remedy is 
available. . 

Since the Court was powerless to issue the 
writ while sitting as a court of original jurisdic­
tion, the maxim which holds that wrongs are not 
to be without remedies demands, at very least, 
a statement of the law of the case. Jefferson's 
retort notwithstanding, this is no advisory opin­
ion in the sense in which the doctrine proscrib­
ing ex cathedra pronouncements on constitu­
tional questions has since been developed. The 
purpose of that doctrine is fully accomplished 
when a court refuses to interpret constitutional 
provisions in the absence of a bona fide case or 
controversy. There is no question concerning 
Marbury's standing to litigate. The only ques­
tion concerns the appropriate forum in which to 
do it. 

Second, the Court's handling of the law 
issues in Marbury are fully accounted for by 
reference to three familiar principles of con­
struction :(1) Interpret unambiguous language 
in a literal manner, unless such an interpreta­
tion would (2) render some other provision in 
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the same document meaningless, or (3) defeat 
the intention of the drafters in some obvious 
way. Since literal interpretation of the fourth 
sentence in Section 13 does no violence to the 
remainder of the Section in the sense of the 
second or third principles, the Court is fully 
justified in adopting the first principle as its rule 
of construction. The familiar charge that the 
Marbury Court went out of its way to invalidate 
Section 13 is therefore questionable. To be 
sure, one might criticize the Court for failure to 
adopt a strained construction of the provision in . 
order to avoid declaring it unconstitutional. 
But saying that the Court failed to follow mod­
ern maxims of judicial restraint to the limit in a 
particular decision is not the same as saying the 
decision amounted to gross abuse of judicial 
authority. In Marbury's case, the latter charge 
has been frequently made. 

With respect to the Court's interpretation 
of the distributive jurisdictional provisions in 
Article III, a similar analysis may be applied. 
Even though these provisions appear to spell 
out the respective original and appellate juris­

dictions in such a way as to leave no overlap in 
the categories, the Court showed convincingly 
in Cohens that a literal reading of the clause 
pertaining to appellate jurisdiction would de­
feat the obvious intention of the drafters, thus 
violating the third of the principles stated above. 
Since the Court had already demonstrated in 
Marbury that non-literal application of both 
clauses (original and appellate) simultaneously 
would reduce the entire Section to superfluity, 
thereby violating the second principle of con­
struction; it follows that if non-literal applica­
tion is required in Cohens then literal interpre­
tation is required in Marbury. And that is pre­
cisely the holding of the Court. 

Finally, the Court's argument on judicial 
review in Marbury is defensive in character, 
and appropriately restricted to the circumstances 
of the case at hand. Assuming that an act in 
violation of the Constitution is a nullity, as a 
matter of law (an assumption which few have 
questioned), the Court proceeds to argue that 
in some cases it may say so. The cases in which 
it may say so are those (like Marbury) in which 
the performance of essential judicial functions 
would be impaired if it said otherwise. Any­
thing less would, of course, destroy the separa­
tion of powers so carefully established in the 
Constitution, thereby reducing much of that 
document's language to meaninglessness, and 
defeating the purposes of its drafters in a most 
obvious way. 

It appears that the Supreme Court must 
have agreed, throughout most of the previous 
century, with the view of Marbury v. Madison 
advanced in this essay. Between 1804 and 1894, 
Marbury was cited in 49 separate opinions in 
the United States Supreme Court. Of this total, 
24 citations extend or reiterate Marbury's juris­
dictional holding. 147 Fifteen extend or reiterate 
the mandamus holding. l48 Six support rulings 
on the distinction between ministerial and dis­
cretionary acts of executive officers.149 

Two refer to the Cohens c1arifiction of the 
Marbury dicta previously discussed. 150 One re­
fers to the right-remedy maxim.151 The remain­
ing citation mentions Marbury as precedent for 
judicial power to invalidate laws, and did not 
appear until late in the nineteenth century, as 
we have seen.152 This is somewhat startling in 
view of the fact that, by 1894, the Court had 
already invalidated at least 21 nationallaws. lS3 
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Yet in not a single one of those cases did the 
Court bother to cite Marbury v. Madison. l54 If 
Marbury had, in fact, asserted judicial suprem­
acy over Congress and President in constitu­
tional matters, as so many modern critics seem 
to think, surely the Court itself would have no­
ticed before 1887! 

Moreover, no one else seems to have no­
ticed, either. Examination of major legal and 
political tracts peWled during the pre-Civil War 
period reveal no indication that Marbury repre­
sented any such broad notion ofjudicial author­
ity. Not even the most vocal opponents of the 
Court ventured to question any of Marbury's 
holdings. Their guns were pointed elsewhere.l55 

Only Jefferson, chagrined over what he evi­
dently assumed to have been a personal attack, 
complained bitterly, yet never denied the pro­
priety of the limited type of review sanctioned 
by the Court in Marbury.l56 The only disparag­
ing contemporaneous reference to Marbury's 
judicial review holding appears to have been 
that of Judge John Gibson of the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court in a famous dissenting opinion 
in the case of Eakin v. Raub.157 A close reading 
of that opinion will reveal, however, that Judge 
Gibson explicitly confined its scope to the ques­
tion whether the Supreme Court of Pennsylva­
nia might refuse to enforce an act of Pennsylva­
nia's legislature on the grounds of conflict be­
tween the act and the state constitution. ISS He 
then goes on to distinguish between acts in 
violation of the state constitution, and those in 
violation of the federal Constitution, his opin­
ion being that the courts are obliged " to execute 
the former, but not the latter."I59 In short, 
Eakin v. Raub, strictly speaking, has very little 
to do with Marbury v. Madison.IOO 

Perhaps it is time to substitute history for 
mythology, and to reclaim the tradition for 
which Marbury once stood. The period ofgross 
judicial aggression which first spawned the 
Marbury straw man supposedly has been repu­
diated. Yet one may reasonably doubt whether 
the repudiation has been fully accomplished so 
long as its primordial symbol remains. That 
suspicion is confumed when one observes, as 
recently as 1958, the entire membership of the 
Supreme Court of the United States joining in 
the following pronouncment. Referring to Mar­
bury, the Court says: 

17Jis decision declared the basic prin­
ciple that the federal judiciary is supreme in 
the exposition of the law of the Constitution, 
and that principle has ever since been re­
spected by this Court and the Country as a 
pennanent and indispensable feature of our 
constitutional system. 161 

No disrespect to the Court intended, I 
would submit that It, the Country and the 
Constitution once got along without "that prin­
ciple" for exactly a hundred years. It is arguable 
whether we have gotten along as well with it 
during our second hundred years. As we ap­
proach our third hundred, it might be approp.ri­
ate finally to consider what may well be the 
authentic original precedent for modern judi­
cial review: Dred Scott v. Sandford, where the 
Court, for the first time, invalidated a national 
law on policy, rather than legal, grounds. l62 

That decision stands as a poignant reminder 
that to ignore our origins is to ignore our 
destiny as well. 

http:approp.ri
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Justice Holmes: Law and the Search for Control 

Michael H. Hoflheimer 

For two or three months I debauched 
0' nights in philosophy. But now it is 
law--law--law. 

Holmes to William James, 1867.1 

Apology for Psychoanalytic Perspective on 
Holmes' Intellectual Biograpby 

In one of the reading lists that Oliver Wen­
dell Holmes, Jr., kept methodically as an adult 
lies the entry for June 17, 1872: 

[JuneJ17 married. Sole editor ofLaw Rev. 
July no. et seq.2 

Squeezed between two lines in a smaller 
hand, the entry conflated two contemporane­
ous events: his marriage to Miss Fanny Dixwell 
and his assumption of sole editorial responsibil­
ity for TheAmerican Law Review, which he had 
previously co-edited? 

I shall return to the diary entry, but I want to 
consider it first as emblematic of an odd prob­
lem in the Holmes literature.4 As far as I know, 
this illuminating entry and other important 
evidence of the dynamics of Holmes' uncon­
scious marital life have been ignored by schol­
ars, despite the fact that much of the evidence 
exists in published sources. It is, of course, not 
odd in general that slips and jokes have been 
neglected; they continue to occupy a lowly position 
in the hierarchy of accumulated historical sources. 
But the neglect of this evidence by intellectual 
and legal historians who have picked over Holmes 
is curious for several reasons. 

First, both the historical genesis of Holmes' 
legal theory and its cultural assimilation have 
been descnbed by some writers who have adopted 
the language of psychoanalysis. One of the 
most powerful and influential champions of 
Holmes' theory in the 1930s, Jerome Frank, 
described the history of law in psychoanalytic 
terms and treated Holmes as representing its 
highest achievement, the modern jurist who 
"has put away childish longings for a father­
controlled world."s More recently, Justice 
Kaplan has explained the posthumous decline 
of Holmes' stature among lawyers as manifest­
ing Kaplan's generation's "oedipal" reaction 
against Holmes.6 Scholars have used the meta­
phor of psychoanalytic dynamics to describe the 
historical significance of Holmes' work, but 
they have avoided talking about Holmes' actual 
psychological development. 

Second, scholars have widely recognized 
that there are important tensions or inconsis­
tencies in both Holmes' legal opinions? and in 
his philosophy.8 The tensions have been re­
lated variously to more basic personal and psy­
chological tensions and inconsistencies. In 1869 
William James observed of Holmes as a law 
student, "Wendell amuses me by being com­
posed of at least two and a half different people 
rolled into one, and the way he keeps them 
together in one tight skin, without quarreling 
any more than they do, is remarkable.'>'} Holmes' 
voracious scholarship, personal detachment, 
and concern with strife have been noted, but no 
scholars have undertaken a sustained effort to 
provide an account of Holmes' intellectual 
biography by employing methods of any recog­
nized theory of ~ychological de\-elopment There 
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have been biographers sensitive to unconscious 
factors, but their explanations have seldom 
risen above descriptive, common-sense treat­
ments. In attempting to illuminate Holmes' 
mind, they have resorted most often to discus­
sion of his personality and lifestyle, not to care­
ful consideration of the historical evidence of 
the actual dynamics. Ironically, the failure to 
analyze the psychological evidence with more 
theoretical rigor has led to unwarranted infer­
ences from the facts; reluctance to employ psy­
choanalytic theory has resulted at times in the 
kind of ahistorical speculation of which histori­
ans often accuse psychoanalysis. I shall refer to 
particular problems below. They include un­
warranted assumptions about Holmes' con­
scious antagonism with his father during child­
hood and assumptions about his relations with 
women before the Civil War. For example, 
some of the familiar parlor sketches of the 
domestic life of the Holmes family are sup­
ported by precious little evidence and appear to 
be poetic extrapolations of scenes from Dr. 
Holmes' literary essays. to 

Third, neglect of evidence of Holmes' un­
conscious is odd, because Holmes himself in 
later years evinced a remarkable awareness of 
unconscious dynamics; he referred to possible 
unconscious intellectual influences and identi­
fied the effect of early family influences upon 
his adult intellectual attitudes. In avoiding 
psychoanalysis scholars have not only neglected 
evidence of Holmes' jokes or verbal slips-­
evidence that is commonly neglected and the 
relevance of which is made apparent only after 
the acceptance of the validity of psychoanalytic 
method--they have shunned insights that Holmes 
himself provided about his own psychological 
and intellectual development. I might also add 
that the failure to apply psychoanalytic theory 
to Holmes cannot be defended by two argu­
ments commonly raised against the general 
historical application of the theory, for Holmes 
was a Victorian and male. 

In this essay I shall examine some of the 
neglected historical evidence and reconsider 
the dynamics of Holmes' intellectual develop­
ment from a psychoanalytic perspective. Al­
though I believe that the perspective illumi­
nates important aspects of Holmes' biography 
and may, perhaps, add richness to the interpre­
tation of his mature thought, the perspective 

Holmes' mother, shown above with his father, was the 
daughterofajustice of the supreme judicial court of Mas­
sachusells. She gave birth to a daughter when Holmes 
was two, and a son when he was five. 

also demonstrates objective limits to historical 
reconstruction. Holmes is a particularly poor 
subject for psychoanalytic study, because of the 
lack of surviving evidence of his infantile and 
adolescent relationship with his mother. The 
possibility of such historical reconstruction is 
further frustrated by the fact that Holmes him­
self deliberately censored the historical record 
by destroying revealing documents. 

The practice of self-censorship began with 
documents generated during the war. Holmes 
continued to destroy documents throughout 
his life. Writing to Lewis Einstein in 1932, he 
commented on a recent biography: "I have not 
read it, but I should think it was harmless. I had 
nothing to do with it. Perhaps when I die my 
executor...may do something with more materi­
als, but I have done my best to destroy illumi­
nating documents."ll 

While a complete psychoanalytic account is 
thus impossible, a theoretically sound partial 
reconstruction is possible. Moreover, a psycho­
analytically informed approach assists critical 
historical reconstruction by identifying the lim­
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its beyond which narration becomes specula­
tive. 

Holmes' Mustache 

Surviving evidence of Holmes' childhood 
experiences does not provide a meaningful 
foundation for explaining his later develop­
ment. Of his infantile relations to his mother, 
we know little directlyP When Holmes was 
twenty months, his mother or father recorded 
his vocabulary in a memorandum. At that age 
he knew names of one object (milk), one activ­
ity (walk), three directional adverbs (out, in, 
off), and an expression of approval (all well). 
He knew four personal names: "Auber" (Ol­
iver), "[H]enny" (Wendy), "Aahrua" (grandma), 
and "Mamy" (Mary)Y Though he knew his 
nurse's name, he did not yet know his parents 
names. A second entry when Holmes was 
twenty-six months recorded that he could "say 
alm'qst anything" and called his father and 
mother "faver and mover."14 

Later behavioral evidence is consistent with 
an early and possibly traumatic separation from 
his mother. Holmes smoked as an adult and 
repeatedly depicted himself with a pipe. He 
attempted more than once to quit pipe-smok­
ing and recorded the dates he attem pted to stop 
in diaries. ls Efforts to quit smoking apparently 
caused insomnia.'6 As a young boy Holmes 
reacted with terror to an older boy's jocular 
comment, "See you when your mother is hung," 
and related many years later how he had been 
convinced that his mother was to be killedY 
Important early events that would further have 
shaped Holmes' relation to his parents were the 
birth of his sister when he was two and of his 
brother when he was five. In later years, after 
the war when Holmes returned to Boston, he 
apparently formed no intimate bonds with his 
sister or brother. 18 

One biographer of Holmes suggested that 
Holmes and his brother as children expressed 
hostility towards their father, for Alice James 
(invalid sister of William and Henry James) 
recorded in her diary in 1888 when she was 
forty: 

I remember Father coming home one Sat­
urday from the dinner [of the Saturday Club] 
and telling, among other things, that Dr. 

Holmes had asked ifhe did not find that his 
sons despised him and seemed surprised 
when F[ather] said no, that he was not op­
pressed in that way.--'But after all, it is only 
natural they should, for they stand upon our 
shoulders, 'exclaimed the Doctor, a trnly dizzy 
height for the accomplished and elongated 
Wendell! The figure immediately presents 
itself of the two a la church steeple. 19 

There is no reason to doubt the accuracy of 
the quote. Holmes' father became increasingly 
concerned with psychiatric problems frorn the 
late 1850s and developed theories of psycho­
logical processes in his novels (1858, 1867,1885) 
and other writings, which anticipated Freud.20 
But it is unlikely that this incident later re­
corded byAliceJames occurred before Holmes 
was in college and virtually impossible that it 
occurred earlier than Holmes' adolescent years. 
Alice James was born in 1848, and it seems 
unlikely that a child under ten would have been 
present during or would have remembered the 
remarks of her father that she quoted years 
later. Moreover, if the additional remarks about 
Holmes' height and accomplishments related 
to Alice James' original associations upon hear­
ing the statement, the remarks occurred proba­
bly later still, for Holmes' earliest accomplish­
ment that Alice James would likely have recog­
nized would have been his heroism during the 
war. It is thus most likely that the statement 
attributed to Holmes' father was made during 
the Civil War, when she was in her teens and the 
Saturday Club was still meeting. Such a date 
comports with the analysis I suggest for Holmes' 
relations with his father during and after col­
lege. 

The scant and expurgated historical record 
indicates antecedents of later insubordinate 
behavior in Holmes' childhood. A surviving 
"Report of Recitations and Deportment for the 
week ending 19 June 1847" contains the entry 
for "conduct": "Talks too much."21 But a for­
mal reference from 1851 (when Holmes was 
nine) survives, describing him as "uniformly 
docile, thoughtful, amiable and affectionate. 
Young as he is, his habits of application are 
confirmed..."22 

While the early records assume significance 
only to hindsight, later biographical evidence 
discloses the results of Holmes' early develop­

http:Freud.20
http:diaries.ls
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ment. By his first year at Harvard College 
Holmes had closely followed his celebrated 
father's steps in choice of college (Harvard), 
philosophical perspective (transcendentalism), 
and political commitment (pro-Union and anti­
slavery). He had the same name as his father. 
His handwriting looked like his father's. Lanky, 
with a long straight nose and deep-set eyes, he 
looked strikingly like a taller version of his 
father. At the end of his college days he, like his 
father, was to be class poet. Indeed, Holmes' 
youthful repetition of his father's experiences 
was so pervasive that it has attracted little 
critical attention; his biographers have written 
with the assumption that he was predestined to 
follow his father's steps; it was unthinkable for 
Holmes to go somewhere other than Harvard.Zl 

Opportunities for following his father's steps-­
like reciting poems on class occasions1A--were 
doubtless available in greater measure to Holmes 
because of his father's fame. But it is nonethe­
less significant that Holmes took full advantage 

of such opportunities, and it is equally signifi­
cant that he apparently did so without reflection 
or choice. The lack of choice which makes such 
events of little interest to traditional biography 
is all the more astonishing, because it is ac­
cepted as normal, requiring no further explana­
tion on an intuitive level. Holmes' conformity 
to his father expressed itself also at the highest 
intellectual levels. And the manner in which 
Holmes struggled, both to achieve individuality 
and to resolve tensions that lay at the root of his 
identification with his father, critically affected 
the contours of his intellectual biography. Though 
Holmes' mature legal philosophy is widely 
characterized as an extreme form of positivism, 
he remained a tenacious partisan of the phi­
losophy of transcendentalism in college just at 
the time when positivistic ideas of Comte were 
becoming hotly debated within Unitarian circles 
and gaining acceptance among the younger 
generation of intellectuals in New England.25 
Holmes' later adoption of the worldview asso-

Oliver Wendell Holmes, Sr. (shown here in his sludy), was a celebraled physician and man oflellers. His son followed 
in his foolsleps by aliendingHarvard Universily, becoming class poe I, and identifyingwilh Iranscendenlalism and anti­
slavery polilics. Holmes, Sr., sludied law after college before lurning 10 medicine. 

http:England.25
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ciated with his legal theory was the result of a 
critical rejection of key ideas that derived from 
his father. The intellectual transformation that 
made possible his later theory required repu­
diation of the identification with his father. 

Holmes' imitation of his father manifested 
a familiar psychological process. With adoles­
cence there is normally a resurgence of the 
Oedipus conflict, and identification with an 
adult male plays a role in the positive resolution 
of the complex, signaling a displacement of 
erotic drives: the adolescent behaves like his 
father in order to reproduce (with another 
woman) the father's relation with his mother. 
Although the process is familiar, the theoretical 
explanations of it are complex.26 The constella­
tion of the earliest drives, and their relation to 
later adolescent and adult identifications, is 
relevant to understanding Holmes. It may be 
observed generally that Holmes' intense identi­
fication went considerably beyond the ordinary 
initiative and competitive posturing of adoles­
cence, and it revealed, on the one hand, unre­
solved erotic drives for his mother, while, on the 
other hand, it manifested defense or reaction 
formation to aggressive drives towards his fa­
ther. By changing the ego, however, the proc­
ess of identification also turned the aggression 
inward. It has long been known that intensity of 
identification is related to loss of an object.v 

Where the identification is with a competitor, 
intensity would derive from loss of the loved 
object, and Holmes' intense identification with 
his father would be the ironic yet natural result 
of early separation from his mother and child­
hood fantasy of her death. 

Behavioral evidence indicates, however, 
that despite its power, Holmes' identification 
did not succeed in resolving the Oedipus con­
flict. On the contrary, the identification began 
to show important signs of deterioration before 
the outbreak of the Civil War. Deterioration 
did not begin at the highest intellectual levels, 
for Holmes in college continued to identify 
strongly with his father's moral and intellectual 
views. 211 Holmes was familiar with the contro­
versy generated by Comte's new positivist 
teaching and with the orthodox academy's an­
tagonistic reaction; but though his college writ­
ings evidenced some interest in the new theory, 
he continued to support transcendentalism and 
sought to accommodate aspects of the new 

theory to a systematic transcendentalist phi­
losophy that was heavily influenced by Emer­
son and Ruskin. Only at the end of college did 
Holmes announce his intention of going to law 
school, if he survived the war.29 Only at the end 
of college was he interested in Hobbes and 
Austin.30 And this evidence of intellectual in­
terests may suggest a breakdown in the process 
of identification only in retrospect, since Holmes' 
father had studied law at Harvard after college 
before turning to medicine,31 and Holmes' in­
terest in mastering a subject in which his ac­
complished father had not excelled represents 
equivocally the natural culmination of intellec­
tual identification. 

Deterioration of the identification was rather 
first expressed nonintellectually by petty crimi­
nal and destructive acts. Holmes was fined one 
dollar for defacing the posts in a tutor's room; 
he was admonished for participating in a distur­
bance; he was admonished for "gross inde­
corum" during class; he was fined ten dollars 
for breaking windows of an underclassman.32 

With the exception of the one hazing incident, 
all of Holmes' acts reflected not only hostility 
towards authority generally in the sense that all 
criminal acts reveal contempt of authority; the 
acts reflected also aggressive urges that were 
directed specifically against authority figures-­
the tutor, the professor, and the college. Com­
mon knowledge about social enforcement mecha­
nisms supports an inference that he engaged in 
similar acts that were undetected. His destruc­
tive and rebellious behavior expressed his ina­
bility to contain the underlying hostility, which 
he redirected against school buildings, prop­
erty, and personnel-substituted paternal au­
thority. His writings in college reflected his 
ambivalent relation to authority, for while he 
ridiculed the conservative theology that he as­
sociated with the college, and while he de­
fended, or at least tolerated, student rowdyism, 
his theoretical criticism relied heavily for au­
thority on intellectuals of his father's genera­
tion, especially Emerson and Ruskin. The 
outbursts of physically aggressive behavior and 
the iconoclastic spirit of Holmes' college writ­
ings reveal that the mechanics of identification 
were not effective in containing underlying 
aggressive feelings towards his father. And the 
tentative career choice at the end of college as 
well as the intellectual interest in Hobbes and 

http:underclassman.32
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ciated with his legal theory was the result of a 
critical rejection of key ideas that derived from 
his father. The intellectual transformation that 
made possible his later theory required repu­
diation of the identification with his father. 

Holmes' imitation of his father manifested 
a familiar psychological process. With adoles­
cence there is normaLly a resurgence of the 
Oedipus conflict, and identification with an 
adult male plays a role in the positive resolution 
of the complex, signaling a displacement of 
erotic drives: the adolescent behaves Like his 
father in order to reproduce (with another 
woman) the father's relation with his mother. 
Although the process is familiar, the theoretical 
explanations of it are complex.26 The constella­
tion of the earliest drives, and their relation to 
later adolescent and adult identifications, is 
relevant to understanding Holmes. It may be 
observed generally that Holmes' intense identi­
fication went considerably beyond the ordinary 
initiative and competitive posturing of adoles­
cence, and it revealed, on the one hand, unre­
solved erotic drives for his mother, while, on the 
other hand, it manifested defense or reaction 
formation to aggressive drives towards his fa­
ther. By changing the ego, however, the proc­
ess of identification also turned the aggression 
inward. It has long been known that intensity of 
identification is related to loss of an object.v 

Where the identification is with a competitor, 
intensity would derive from loss of the loved 
object, and Holmes' intense identification with 
his father would be the ironic yet natural result 
of early separation from his mother and child­
hood fantasy of her death. 

Behavioral evidence indicates, however, 
that despite its power, Holmes' identification 
did not succeed in resolving the Oedipus con­
flict. On the contrary, the identification began 
to show important signs of deterioration before 
the outbreak of the Civil War. Deterioration 
did not begin at the highest intellectual levels, 
for Holmes in college continued to identify 
strongly with his father's moral and intellectual 
views.28 Holmes was familiar with the contro­
versy generated by Comte's new positivist 
teaching and with the orthodox academy's an­
tagonistic reaction; but though his college writ­
ings evidenced some interest in the new theory, 
he continued to support transcendentalism and 
sought to accommodate aspects of the new 

theory to a systematic transcendentalist phi­
losophy that was heavily influenced by Emer­
son and Ruskin. Only at the end of coLlege did 
Holmes announce his intention of going to law 
school, ifhesurvived the war.29 Only at the end 
of coLlege was he interested in Hobbes and 
Austin.30 And this evidence of intellectual in­
terests may suggest a breakdown in the process 
of identification only in retrospect, since Holmes' 
father had studied law at Harvard after college 
before turning to medicine,31 and Holmes' in­
terest in mastering a subject in which his ac­
complished father had not exceLled represents 
equivocally the natural culmination of intellec­
tual identification. 

Deterioration of the identification was rather 
first expressed nonintellectuaLly by petty crimi­
nal and destructive acts. Holmes was fined one 
dollar for defacing the posts in a tutor's room; 
he was admonished for participating in a distur­
bance; he was admonished for "gross inde­
corum" during class; he was fined ten dollars 
for breaking windows of an underclassman?2 
With the exception of the one hazing incident, 
all of Holmes' acts reflected not only hostility 
towards authority generally in the sense that all 
criminal acts reveal contempt of authority; the 
acts reflected also aggressive urges that were 
directed specifically against authority figures-­
the tutor, the professor, and the college. Com­
mon knowledge about social enforcement mecha­
nisms supports an inference that he engaged in 
similar acts that were undetected. His destruc­
tive and rebellious behavior expressed his ina­
bility to contain the underlying hostility, which 
he redirected against school buildings, prop­
erty, and personnel-substituted paternal au­
thority. His writings in college reflected his 
ambivalent relation to authority, for while he 
ridiculed the conservative theology that he as­
sociated with the college, and while he de­
fended, or at least tolerated, student rowdyism, 
his theoretical criticism relied heavily for au­
thority on intellectuals of his father's genera­
tion, especially Emerson and Ruskin. The 
outbursts of physically aggressive behavior and 
the iconoclastic spirit of Holmes' college writ­
ings reveal that the mechanics of identification 
were not effective in containing underlying 
aggressive feelings towards his father. And the 
tentative career choice at the end of college as 
well as the intellectual interest in Hobbes and 
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Austin reveal a more or less conscious concern 
with the problem of aggressiveness. 33 

Channelling hostility in college away from 
its paternal object to the substituted authority 
was reinforced by his father's support of his son 
in skirmishes with college authorities---reflect­
ing, perhaps, the elder Holmes' fear of replicat­
ing his own traumatic adolescent college expe­
rience, when he had identified with Liberal reLi­
gious tendencies against which his minister fa­
ther was crusading publicly.34 

Holmes' father recorded in autobiographi­
cal notes the trauma caused by his early expo­
sure to and subsequent rejection of Calvinist 
demonology. 

No child can overcome these early im­
pressions without doing violence to the whole 
mental and moral machinery of his being. 
He may conquer them in later years, but the 
wrenches and strains which his victory has 
cost him leave him a cripple as compared 
with a child trained in sound and reasonable 
beliefs. I had long passed into middle age 
before I could analyze the effect of these 
conflicting agencies ... J5 

And in his novels, Holmes' father traced adult 
neuroses and personality characteristics to in­
fantile or prenatal traumas suffered by indi­
viduals who were motherless or orphaned.36 

Like Emerson, Holmes' was critical of the Har­
vard orthodoxy, and Holmes' rebellion was 
fostered at high intellectual levels by the object 
against which it was unconsciously directed. 

Holmes' physical appearance during the 
war years signals the end of the identification. 
Holmes looked remarkably Like his clean-shaven 
father in early portraits. He first sported a thin 
mustache sometime between April 1862 and 
January 1864, and he retained the mustache, 
grooming it ever more luxuriantly, until his 
death.37 

Study War No More 

Holmes was committed to pro-Union anti­
slavery politics in college, and at the outbreak of 
the Civil War in his senior year, he eagerly 
sought a commission in the Twentieth Regi­
ment of Massachusetts Volunteer Infantry. His 
receipt of a commission and move to camp 

prior to graduation ended the last smoldering 
disciplinary dispute with the college authori­
ties. The context within which Holmes moved 
immediately from Harvard to the war--and 
soon to actual combat--suggests that Holmes 
found in the war an outlet for powerful hostility 
that even at college had not been contained and 
had expressed itself in acts of vandalism and 
insubordination directed against authority.38 His 
entry into the war thus indicates a further dete­
rioration of the identification; yet at the same 
time his father was again encouraging the direc­
tion in which the aggression was directed, for 
Holmes shared Unionist abolitionist convic­
tions with his father and was unquestionably 
fulfilling his father's expectations by going to 
war. To be sure, Holmes' motives for joining 
the war were complex, overdetermined; but to 
the extent that he sought military experience as 
an outlet for hostility originating in aggressive 
feelings towards his father, the emergence of 
such aggressive impulses reflected the ultimate 
failure of the process of identification to chan­
nel and restrain the hostility. 

Acknowledging the complexity of Holmes' 
motives for joining the war and seeking combat 
detracts neither from his conscious quest for 
valor nor from his honest belief in the rightness 
of the Union cause. Nor does the determ!na­
tion of one significant unconscious moving 
force--the deterioration of the identification-­
diminish the force of others, including other un­
conscious drives. Pre-war, pro-Union senti­
ment was itself laden with the mystical and 
erotic force that Whitman embraced and ex­
plored and was further to elaborate after the 
war.39 As perhaps no other war in American ex­
perience, the Civil War manifested--and satis­
fied--dark drives for the death of self and oth­
ers. God himself was celebrated in popular 
song as Juggernaut. 

Deterioration of the identification provides 
neither a full account of Holmes' entry into the 
war nor a complete explanation of the psycho­
logical context within which a meaningful as­
sessment of the war experience may be made. 
The deterioration of the identification does, 
however, illuminate the critical problem of 
Holmes' subsequent disenchantment with the 
war effort and the problem of his decision to 
muster out before the end of the war. And it 
provides context for the source ofopen conflicts 
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between Holmes and his father which broke out 
repeatedly during the war. 

The extreme hostility that Holmes mani­
fested towards his father during the war is 
consistent with a theory that Holmes' relation 
to his father was shaped by a deep-seated infan­
tile fantasy that his father wanted to kill him. 
Holmes' father both supported his son's entry 
into the war and questioned his decision to 
leave the war before its conclusion. Holmes 
expressed particular anger in a letter attacking 
the Boston news coverage of an encounter that 
had resulted in many unnecessary casualties: 
" .. .1 was glad to see that cheerful sheet [Boston 
Daily Advertizer] didn't regard the late attempt 
in the light of a reverse--It was an infamous 
butchery in a ridiculous attempt--in wh[ich] I've 
no doubt our loss doubled or tripled that of the 
Rebs."40 

Professor Howe first recognized that Holmes 
experienced a personal crisis during the war 
and that the resolution of the crisis affected 
deeply the philosophical perspective of Holmes' 
mature work. Howe provided two different 
accounts of Holmes' intellectual development. 
He related Holmes' growing disenchantment 
with the war to "Copperhead" influences, and 
in both accounts Howe treated Holmes' pro­
found disillusionment with the war as the stimu­
lus for his move from transcendentalism to 
thoroughgoing skepticism.41 

While Howe's account dealt with the con­
scious expressions of Holmes' attitudes, such a 
reconstruction is severely limited by the fact 
that Holmes and his mother in later years 
edited Holmes' correspondence and papers from 
the critical war years.42 While we cannot know 
the content of what was destroyed, the process 
of later editing itself suggests strongly that 
Holmes had expressed views in a manner that 
later caused him some shame or embarrass­
ment--conflicting with the image that he later 
cultivated consciously for the public and for 
posterity. 

Surviving correspondence nevertheless il­
luminates the unconscious context of crisis. By 
1862, Holmes had become convinced that mili­
tary victory was impossible.43 He apparently 
first expressed his convictions in a letter to his 
sister at home, knowing surely that his views 
would be brought to the attention ofhis father.44 

His father's predictable reaction--negative and 

judgmental--was forthcoming, and Holmes' an­
swer to his father dated December 20, 1862, 
survives. The letter resounds with anger and 
resentment. Addressing his father as "My Dear 
Governor," Holmes reasserts forcefully his 
conviction that victory was impossible, flaunts 
his greater knowledge and authority as a com­
batant, and accuses his father of ignorance: 

It is in my disbelief in oursuccess byanns 
in wh{ich] I differ from you .... I think in that 
matter I have better chances of judging than 
you-and I believe I represent the conviction of 
the anny-& not the least ofthe most intelligent 
part of it .... I think you are hopeful because 
(excuse me) you are ignorant. 45 

Abundant evidence survives of Holmes' 
tensions with his father during the war. One 
episode entered folklore. In 1861, after Holmes' 
first wound, his father traveled to Philadelphia 
to meet him.46 After Holmes' near fatal wound 
in 1862, he specifically wrote en route home: "I 
neither wish to meet any affectionate parent 
half way nor any shiny demonstrations when I 
reach the desired haven." 47 Against his wishes 
his father traveled to meet him, recording the 
experience in a histrionic article published in 
Atlantic Monthly. Tension is reflected through­
out the surviving letters, which he often ad­
dressed separately to his mother and father. In 
letters to his father about the military situation, 
confrontation and hostility were expressed openly 
and directly. Attacking what Holmes knew to 
be one of his father's deepest beliefs and hopes, 
the correspondence reveals the depth of hostil­
ity, the collapse of the identification, and the 
failure even of the bloodletting of the war 
experience to restrain and channel the hostility. 

Holmes' conflict with his father during the 
war appears sudden and anomalous without the 
emotional context, but in context the hostility 
emerges as unconscious motive for, rather than 
consequence of, the views Holmes expressed to 
his father. In a letter to "Dear Old Dad," in 
1863, he apologized for a "blow off" in his last 
letter and wrote of being "melancholy just 
now."48 In a letter to his parents in 1864 he ac­
knowledged receipt of their letters--"the latter 
[letter] fr[om] dad, stupid."49 The conflict con­
tinued and smoldered for years after the war. In 
1873, after visiting the Holmes home, Henry 
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James wrote to his father: "no love is lost 
between W[endell]. pere and W. jils.,,5(j In 
1889, Holmes and his wife moved to his father's 
house, and Holmes complained, "My winter 
has not been sprightly, what with not feeling 
very weU, and the adjustment to a new situ­
ation--living in my father's house instead of in 
my own, etc."51 

Funny Mother Law 

Holmes came close to death four times 
during the war; he suffered three gunshot wounds 
and contracted dysentery. Only those who have 
been in combat can probably imagine what he 
experienced as his friends suffered and died. 
For all his later use of military imagery, Holmes 
never talked of his personal experience in kill­
ing others. Despite the selective destruction of 
documents from the war years, it is evident that 
Holmes' decision to leave his unit (when it was 
dissolved and merged into another) was a diffi­
cult one, and one fraught with conflict with his 
father.52 

While Holmes engaged in continuous con­
flict with his father during the war and sought 
(literally) to prevent his father from coming to 
him, Holmes returned home after each wound 
to maternal care--care which by replicating the 
mother-infant relationship connected trauma 
and pleasure and concealed and legitimized 
pleasure-seeking erotic drives beneath Holmes' 
convalescent status. Of the letters from the war 
that survive, most were addressed to his mother. 
He wrote first to his mother with news of two of 
his three wounds and with news of his ill­
nesses.53 

We know little of Holmes' relation with his 
mother at critical points. He destroyed his 
mother's and father's letters to him during the 
war, and he was also vigilant in destroying 
correspondence and other records that evi­
denced his relation with his wife.54 The surviv­
ing record seems to indicate that Holmes main­
tained a dispassionate intellectual relation with 
women. One Holmes biographer observed that 
"Holmes's friendships, whether with men or 
with women, were primarily intellectual."55 
Another wrote expansively of Holmes' self­
imposed personal isolation.56 But as Holmes 
destroyed much revealing documentation, 
appearances may be deceptive, and they con­

flict with important contemporary accounts. 
Surviving letters reveal occasionally flirta­

tious relations with women. He addressed 
Lady Pollock "Beloved Lady" in responding to 
a letter and wrote, "I love seeing your dear 
handwriting again ... "57 In 1910 he wrote to Lady 
Scott about reading sexualliterature.58 His flir­
tatious conduct towards the young teenage 
daughter of Tom Hughes, during his first trip to 
England in 1866, led to some misunderstanding 
between him and the girl's father, which is 
alluded to in the few letters relating to the 
episode that have survived.59 During the 
Holrneses' trip to England in 1874 his flirting 
continued, and he teased his wife by signing an 
entryin her diary, "I sat next to Mrs. Willoughby 
whom I 10ve."60 She recorded later that week, 
"Wendell off on the rampage."61 From 1896 till 
1926 Holmes engaged in an intimate corre­
spondence with Lady Castletown in Ireland, 
whom he visited during trips to Europe in 1896, 
1898, 1903, 1907, 1909, and 1913.62 His wife's 
toleration for such flirting may have changed. 
According to contemporary rumors, Holmes' 
flirting deeply upset his wife, and she refused to 

Holmes was shot three times while serving three years in 
the military during the Civil War. When he returned 
from duty, he enrolled at Harvard Law School and was 
graduated in 1866. 
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read the letters he wrote from later trips to 
Europe until after his return for fear that he 
would describe his flirtatious conduct.63 

Holmes' flirtatious behavior was notorious 
to contemporaries. Alice James, living in seclu­
sion, wrote in her diary when Holmes returned 
to England in 1889, 

They say he [Holmes] has entirely broken 
loose and is flirting as desperately as ever.64 

Later that year she reported, 

Henry says that Wendell Holmes has had 
a most brilliant success in London and that 
he was as pleasant as possible, young-look­
ing, and handsomerthan ever. Flirting as des­
perately too.-J suppose that his idea of 'Heaven 
is still flirting with pretty girls, ' as he used to 
say. 65 

. Anecdotes about Holmes' flirting might be 
multiplied.66 He continued to engage in such 
behavior in his later years. The surviving evi-

Holmes' wife, Fanny, was rumored to be upset by the 
nirtatious behavior for which her husband was notori. 
ous. For the most part, however, Holmes maintained a 
dispassionate intellectual relationship with women. 

dence of flirting shows that it was especially 
carried on during trips away from home (with 
and without his wife), with married women and 
girls, with whom there was little risk of actual 
sexual affair, and in correspondence at a safe 
distance. Moreover, the flirting apparently 
never rose to the ardent poetic expression of 
feeling in his post-war correspondence to Wil­
liam James: "Sing, sparrow--kissing with thy 
feet the topmost tassels of the pines."67 Rather 
the flirting appears to have corresponded to 
and received safety from a self-controlled dis­
tance from women.68 

The distance evidently also characterized 
his relations with his mother. Writing of his 
mother's death to Pollock in 1888, Holmes 
communicated emotion but expressed distance 
by writing in the third person and adopting 
passive voice: "My mother's death was not to be 
regretted on her account but such an event 
whenever it happens must be a shock and give 
one a tug that goes far down to the roots."69 His 
detachment and distance in personal relations, 
especially pronounced in his relations with women 
and reflected paradoxically in his urge to flirt, 
appears to have repeated his early relationship 
with his mother which he had sought to recreate 
during the Civil War. Holmes was himself 
aware of the defenses that were raised to pro­
vide such distance: "Every man sees something 
of Mrs. Nickleby in his own mother."70 

The reference to Mrs. Nickleby is itself rich 
in unresolved conflicting feelings rooted in the 
oedipal com plex. The character, based on Dick­
ens' own mother, is enriched by the oedipal 
undercurrent of the plot which proceeds from 
the death of Nicholas' father, follows his mother's 
witless complicity in sending Nicholas off to be 
mistreated at a boarding school and her witless 
complicity in the attempted seduction of his 
sister. The conflicts are resolved at last by 
Nicholas' freeing his family, by his marriage, 
and by the eventual violent death of all the 
elder, evil male characters· 71 

The latent conflict behind Holmes' strong 
identification with his father in college and the 
hostility that Holmes expressed towards his 
father during the war were rooted, according to 
psychoanalytic theory, in infantile drives. Legal 
scholarship after the war provided Holmes with 
new means for displacing erotic drives, on the 
one hand, and for channeling and controlling 
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aggression towards his father, on the other 
hand. 

Legal scholarship and a legal career pro­
vided Holmes with methods for resolving deep 
conflicts, for creatively channeling powerful 
drives, for mastering the ego, and for construct­
ing an identity for himself. Holmes himself 
associated the development of his mature legal 
philosophy with his independence from his fa­
ther; he emphasized that important aspects of 
his adult world view derived from his mother: 

My falher was brought up scientifically ...and 
I was not. Yet there was with him as with the 
rest of his generation a certain softness of 
attitude toward the interstitial miracle--the 
phenomenon without phenomenal antece­
dents, that I did not feel .... Probably a skep­
tical temperament that I got from my mother 
had something to do with my way of think­
ing.72 

The biographical accuracy of Holmes' view 
of his own intellectual growth is problematic, 
but the view illuminates Holmes' desire to sever 
himself from his father's influence and to make 
real the fantasy--perhaps counterfactual--of his 
mother's influence. 

Holmes devoted extraordinary labor and 
emotional energy to legal study after the war. 
His preoccupation attracted the attention and 
concern of contemporaries. Before his 1866 
trip to England his mother had counseled him 
by letter not to feel obliged "as you did at home 
that you must accomplish so much each 24 
hours.'>73 By the early 1870s Holmes was work­
ing on an ambitious new edition of Kent's Com­
mentaries on American Law,74 a standard legal 
authority. Mrs. Henry James described in a 
letter his obsession with the project, which was 
manifested by physical attachment to the manu­
script: 

His whole life, soul and body, is utterly 
absorbed in his last work upon his Kent. He 
cames about his manuscript in his green bag 
and never loses sight ofit for a moment. He 
started to go to Will's room to wash his hands, 
but came back for his bag, and when we went 
to dinner, Will said, "Don't you want to take 
your bag with you?" He said, ''Yes, I always 
do so at home." His pallid face, and this 

fearful grip upon his work, makes him a 
melancholy sight. 75 

William James noted with sadness the nar­
rowing of Holmes' interests as early as 1868: 
"the sympathies we have in common are grow­
ing very narrowed."76 By 1872 James observed, 
"Wendell Holmes spent an evening here this 
week. He grows more and more concentrated 
upon his law. His mind resembles a stiff spring, 
which has to be abducted violently from it, and 
which every instant it is left to itself flies tight 
back ... .'>77 

Holmes carefully recorded the extraordi­
nary range and intensity of his studies after the 

78war. He also left evidence in comments and 
unintentional references that reveal the power 
of his drive to attain scholarly achievement 
after the war. In the diary entry recording his 
marriage and assumption of sole editorial re­
sponsibility for a legal periodical, he amalga­
mated two events--achievements--that reflected 
the unconscious unity of the two in drives that 
stemmed from powerful, unfulfilled, and dis­
placed drives for maternal love. The fact that 
both events were recorded at a later time--an 
afterthought--into a list of book readings re­
flects the operation of the unconscious in rank­
ing priorities and resisting challenges to the 
pleasure of continued intensive book study."79 

Intense scholarship, combining aesceticism 
and intellectualism, is itself a defense, an at­
tempt to control urgent drives by denial and 
sublimation.80 But scholarship, especially read­
ing, was not just a denial of reality, it gave 
Holmes great pleasure. In reading and scholar­
ship the ego sustains itself in pleasure and 
rebels against the adversity of external reality, 
simultaneously abandoning and reasserting it­
self in the reading process. Holmes himself 
toyed on a conscious level with the sexual drives 
manifested in the commitment to scholarship. 
His 1867 letter to William James recorded 
humorously how nocturnal debauchery with 
philosophy had given way to study of law. In 
later years, he alluded humorously to the law as 
a lady or mistress and described the process of 
sublimation by which the all-absorbing fascina­
tion of legal scholarship assumed attributes of 
romantic or erotic attraction.8l In a short speech 
to the Suffolk Bar Association Holmes eulo­
gized law by extensive and repeated analogy: "If 
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we are to speak of the law as our mistress, we 
who are here know that she is a mistress only to 
be wooed with sustained and lonely passion-­
only to be won by straining all the faculties by 
which man is likest to a god."82 On another 
occasion he referred expansively to enthusiastic 
students who serve "Truth, their only queen.,,83 
In comparing the lure of legal scholarship to 
romantic attraction, Holmes was deliberately 
playing upon a theme that was familiar to his 
audience. Justice Story in a famous speech 
taking the chair as Dane Professor of Law at 
Harvard in 1829 had referred to law: "It is a 
jealous mistress, and requires a long and con­
stant courtship. It is not to be won by trifling 
favors, but by lavish homage."84 By 1860, the 
phrase had become hackneyed.as 

Attempting to identify the source of humor 
in the allusion and the allusion's appeal for 
Holmes poses analytic problems. The seeming 
simplicity of humorous allusion makes it hard 
to explain its effectiveness,86 but because ofthe 
minimal role of technique, allusion provides the 
opportunity for more direct insight into the 
process of play or displacement that lies behind 
the humor. 

According to psychoanalytic theory, the 
process of joking entails a playing with uncon­
scious and infantile material.87 The partially 
concealed nature of the allusion--to speak of 
law as mistress (itself euphemistic)--generated 
humor by disclosing an attractive idea at the 
same time that a taboo (broadly speaking) was 
threatened. Here the taboo was both personal 
(the early displacement of erotic by intellectual 
drives) and situational (the situational taboo 
against "dirty" jokes in the polite contexts in 
which Holmes made the allusions). 

That Holmes' humorous allusions were not 
original does not diminish their value for illumi­
nating unconscious dynamics of his intellectual 
biography. To be effective as social humor the 
displacement mechanism itself must have been 
shared by the audience. Yet reconstructing the 
process poses historical as well as analytic prob­
lems. Holmes, like others of his generation, 
was evidently concerned with the process of 
sublimation and projection--the attribution of 
sexuality to external objects. The humor be­
hind the comparison of law and an object of 
sexual desire lay in the deliberate recognition of 
the act of sublimation and projection which 

Holmes shared with his audience.88 It is easier 
to demonstrate from context the specific object 
with which Holmes associated the activity of 
projection than to untangle the irony operative 
behind the humor. For Holmes, the source of 
the allure lay in the intellectual demands of 
legal scholarship, not the time demands of a 
busy practice. 

The irony behind the all usion emerges from 
a consideration of the classification of humor.89 

Although the displacement toyed situationally 
with a taboo, the humor for Holmes was obvi­
ously not obscene; rather the allusion fdl into 
the class of "skeptical" humor--humor that at­
tacked "not a person or an institution but the 
certainty of our knowledge itself, one of our 
speculative possessions.'>90 The irony of the 
allusion operated by an implicit double nega­
tion: at one level the analogy was patently false 
(inappropriateness of law as romantic object), 
while at another it was true (recognition of the 
transfer behind sublimation). The recognition 
of sublimation in the allusion revealed both at 
conscious and unconscious levels that Holmes 
identified legal scholarship with females. 

Explaining the mechanics of the humor does 
not, however, account fully for its pleasure­
producing effect for Holmes. Holmes did not 
jest often, even during speeches where humor 
was socially accepted, if not expected. His 
repeated use of this particular humorous allu­
sion corresponds, it seems, to the high degree of 
pleasure that he derived from this source. 
According to Freud's later elaboration of his 
theory, intellectual humor operated by simulta­
neous assertion ( or rebellion) of the ego and 
the recognition of its control by the super-ego.9! 

The pleasure that Holmes derived from this 
humor reflected the power of his ego, the vindi­
cation of the pleasure principle against adver­
sity. The dynamics of the humor thus replicated 
in miniature the dynamics of the intense appeal 
of scholarship and reading--both operated by 
negating the reality of external adversity. 

The assertion of the self in the midst of 
destructive forces was a theme to which Holmes 
returned many times in many contexts. He 
usually did not present it humorously but often 
invoked irony. His fascination with military 
images has been recognized by most students. 
He likened love and life generally to armed 
combat, and it is not hard to find in this precon­
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Theory ofTorts." Holmes believed that a deci­
sion by the judge later in 1872 revealed the 
influence of his own article. The judge did not 
acknowledge Holmes' work, and for decades 
Holmes carried a grudge against the judge; he 
recalled the experience in 1910 with bitterness, 
and the experience affected his evaluation of 
the judge's work and character--"longwinded," 
"second rate discourses," "unfair," "not a great 
deal of brandy in his water."IOI 

Holmes' resentment contrasts sharply with 
his own failure to attribute ideas. Holmes' 
failure has bemused both theorists and biogra­
phers. Howe claims that The Common Law 
"borrowed from Maine,"lo2 but Touster points 
out that Holmes does not acknowledge Maine 
in The Common Law. 103 Indeed, Holmes iden­
tified virtually no one as a significant influence 
on his intellectual development after college. 
Despite the close scholarship and authoritative 
a,ttribution that he engaged in while editing The 
AfTlerican LawReview and Kent's Commentar-

Holmes rushed to have The Common Law printed in time 
for his 40th birthday. This photo was taken in 1883, two 
years after its publication. 

ies, one searches in vain for citations that reveal 
sources of general theory or that disclose 
Holmes' extensive contemporaneous readings 
in philosophy or literature. When Holmes was 
questioned directly about intellectual influence, 
he responded evasively. For example, he read 
Spinoza's writings repeatedly, but when Wu 
asked if Spinoza had influenced him, he denied 
that Spinoza had been a "conscious influence," 
conceding only that "the probability of an influ­
ence, even if indirect, is great." 104 

The caution as to direct and indirect influ­
ence reveals insight into the complexity of influ­
ence, but the failure to attribute important 
ideas manifests deep-seated drives behind the 
conscious quest for intellectual preeminence-­
drives of which Holmes was not entirely aware. 
Evidence of such forces is revealed by another 
trivial episode that biographers have neglected. 
In 1919, Cohen asked Holmes about the influ­
ence of Voltaire on Holmes' skepticism, and 
Holmes responded: "Oh no--it was not Voltaire-­
it was the influence of the scientific way of 
looking at the world ... I never have read much of 
Voltaire .... "los His denial of having read 
"much" Voltaire is curious, for his own meticu­
lous records disclose that he had read Candide 
and other works of Voltaire in 1877, 1883, and 
1899.1<>6 

The denial appears to be the result of faulty 
memory, which is especially difficult to explain 
in this case without the aid of psychoanalytic 
theory. Non-Freudian psychological models of 
memory generally stress that excited attention 
and repetition promote memory. But Holmes 
had read Voltaire repeatedly and had even read 
Candide and other works by Voltaire aloud in 
1899, and Voltaire's works are generally engag­
ing and not especially forgettable. I07 

Moreover, denial of having read "much" 
Voltaire conflicts with Holmes' predilection for 
displaying the breadth of his reading; the denial 
reveals rather the power of Holmes' need for 
originality and novelty. The underlying im­
pulses of Holmes' oblivion are illuminated by a 
similar autobiographical episode that Freud 
recounted. In Freud's case, Freud proposed a 
certain explanation to a colleague; the col­
league reminded Freud that the colleague had 
himself suggested the explanation two years 
earlier to Freud but that Freud had rejected the 
explanation at that time. Freud observed, "It is 
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painful to be requested in this way to surrender 
one's originality. I could not recall any such 
[prior] conversation or this [prior] pronounce­
ment of my friend's."lo8 

Reflecting on the dynamics of memory, Freud 
convinced himself that he was mistaken, and he 
subsequently recalled the original conversa­
tion. Both Holmes and Freud forgot precisely 
in contexts where questions of influence and 
originality were the subject of deliberate reflec­
tion. The pain of conceding non originality for 
both thinkers effectively frustrated memory. 

Denial of having read Voltaire is a clear and 
troubling example of Holmes' emphasis on novelty 
and his effort to free himself from the influence 
of earlier generations of thinkers. Denying the 
influence of Voltaire, he emphasized his youth­
ful enthusiasm for Emerson and Ruskin, whose 
works were hardly skeptical. The relation of 
oblivion to continuing hostility originating in 
the oedipal complex is revealed by the context 
of Holmes' discussion of the origin of his skep­
ticism, for he denied having read Voltaire in 
association with his emphasis of the gulf be­
tween his views and those of his father's genera­
tion.11l9 And the pain-avoiding dynamics were 
bolstered by pleasure, for Holmes, in forgetting 
Voltaire, traced the origins of his own skeptical 
temperament to his mother. 110 

To the extent that Holmes' relationship to 
intellectual antecedents was affected by power­
ful unresolved emotions originating in his an­
tagonistic relation towards his father, a rational 
intellectual historical reconstruction of his in­
tellectual biography faces difficulties. Holmes 
did not just obliterate parts of the record by 
deliberately destroying documents; his uncon­
scious censored his own memory, limited his 
attribution of sources, and slanted his testi­
mony. What he did remember and the sources 
he did identify must be approached with caution 
by the intellectual biographer. 

Contlict in Legal Theory 

Holmes' working out of his own identity was 
intimately bound up with his struggle to control 
and master the internal world of conflicting 
drives. Legal scholarship was itself a method of 
control. And his theory of law reflected the 
quest for control of conflict. The controlling 
role of the super-ego against assertions of the 

pleasure principle, which appears in the intense 
appeal of scholarship as well as in Holmes' 
characteristic flirting, is manifested also in many 
characteristic ironic expressions in which 
Holmes reduces the self to an actor, a self­
pretentious "cosmic ganglion." Passages scat­
tered throughout Holmes' speeches and writ­
ings many years after the war reflect his con­
tinuing struggle with intellectual and moral 
causes that had been substituted for the father 
through the deterioration of identification. 

. Holmes formed the philosophical perspec­
tive that supported his legal theory in opposi­
tion to the transcendentalism of his father. 
From an intellectual standpoint, "The clash 
between father and son may be regarded as 
symbolic of the impact on New England's tran­
scendentalism of the positivism encouraged by 
the new theories of physics and biology." III 

But from a psychoanalytic perspective, Holmes' 
effort to elaborate a science of law resulted 
from the clash with his father and from his 
internal struggle with the transcendentalism 
that he had assimilated through the process of 
identification. The origins of the new theory 
help explain the emotional force with which it 
was expressed and illuminate Holmes' deep­
seated hostility to the old theory that had once 
been his own. The legal philosophy associated 
with transcendentalism was natural law, and 
Holmes wrote in later years with sarcasm and 
scorn of the "fallacy and illusion" of Justice 
Story's theory of naturallaw.ll2 He character­
ized the theory as "irreconcilable with primary 
juridical notions."113 He ridiculed it and likened 
it to a child's bugaboo, "a brooding omnipres­
ence."114 

In later years, Holmes engaged in extensive 
correspondence with younger male intellectu­
als--sparring partners, towards whom he fre­
quently adopted antagonistic intellectual pos­
tures that continue to bewilder biographers. ll5 

In these relationships, Holmes replicated his 
relation with his father, avoiding confrontation 
with his chronological or social superiors and 
assuming an antagonistic paternal relation with 
his inferiors. The relationships also demon­
strate the extraordinary plasticity of Holmes' 
super-ego, and the lengths to which he would 
go to cultivate polite pugilism. 

Holmes rejected vehemently all utopian 
schemes premised on the elimination of ten­
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sion. Though he expressed conviction infre­
quently after the 1860s, he expressed forcefully 
his rejection of utopian ideologies that assumed 
the eventual elimination of social conflict. He 
characterized socialist theories as "drool."116 
He reacted cynically to Franklin Ford's opti­
mistic view of the future development of society 
on "the basis of science."ll7 His frequent jibes at 
pacifism are well known, and he characterized 
egalitarian economic theories as "drivelling 
cant."1l8 

A central feature of Holmes' thought was 
recognition and acceptance of the tension. In 
his magnificent 1897 article, "The Path of the 
Law," Holmes wrote, 

Ifyou want to know the law and nothing 
else, you must look at it as a bad man, who 
cares only for the material consequences which 
such knowledge enables him to predict, not as 
a good one, who finds his reasons for 

. conduct ...in the vaguer sanctions of con­
~cience. 119 

This "bad man" construct excited extraor­
dinary critical attention. Likewise, Holmes' 
theory of criminal law 120 was widely criticized, 
because his attempt to reduce criminal law 
principles to risk-reduction at the expense of 
inquiry into moral blame-worthiness resulted 
in questionable predictions about the develop­
ment of criminal law.121 Although the "bad 
man" construct has been misunderstood---it 
was a scientific thought-experiment--the method 
that Holmes adopted reflected his recognition 
that most men were not motivated by a desire to 
conform to legal ideals. A theory of law, to be 
intellectually honest, had to recognize the real­
ity that, as Freud put it, "as regards conscience 
God has done an uneven and careless piece of 
work, for a large majority of men have brought 
along with them only a modest amount of it or 
scarcely enough to be worth mentioning."I22 In 
rejecting the transcendentalist dream of a law­
less world of good men,l23 Holmes recognized 
implicitly the permanent conflict within the 
individual of those forces that were held in 
check only by the internal constabulary and 

which required its external counterpart. 
The acceptance and control of conflict in­

forms Holmes' mature political values and 
characterizes the legal and constitutional posi­
tions for which he is best known, from his 
toleration of labor organization to his defense 
of free speech and deference to social welfare 
legislation. Moreover, the internalization and 
reproduction of conflict provides the operative 
mechanism for his theory of legal history. Legal 
history for Holmes was a process of evolution­
ary growth, characterized both by external so­
cial conflict and the role of law in ordering 
society and by internal conflict of competing 
ideas and theories. Law developed through a 
constant process analogous to natural selection 
and adaptation. l24 The goal of law was not 
elimination of conflict, for law progressed as a 
result of constant tension between anachronis­
tic and legislative in the present.125 Holmes' 
goal in law and in legal theory was to make the 
process explicit to understanding: "Hitherto 
this process has been largely unconscious. It is 
important, on that account, to bring to mind 
what the actual course of events has been."l26 
By making law and legal history self-aware, 
Holmes expanded the scope of freedom. But 
freedom resulted from the creative channeling 
of previously unconscious drives and conflicts 
not by abolishing them.1Z7 

A sympathetic reading of the evidence 
demonstrates the inadequacy of applying the 
Jerome Frank myth in detail, either as an expla­
nation of the psychodynamics of Holmes' growth 
or as a coherent reading of Holmes' work. Law 
was obviously a self-authority. Yet the irreduc­
ible need for control indicates that Holmes 
neither destroyed the authoritative claims of 
law nor ultimately constructed a consistent view 
of the world in which law operated instrumen­
tally as means to some end. In law recon­
structed as historical process, authority resulted 
rather from pervasive and permanent tension, 
not resolution. Holmes' theories sought to 
elaborate the grounds of the tension and to 
explain legal historical changel28 as a complex 
system of progressive response to and repeti­
tion of the tension. '29 
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The Judicial Bookshelf 

D. Grier Stephenson, Jr. 

In April 1788, when Alexander Hamilton 
imagined the Supreme Court and a national 
judicial power in Federalist No. 78, he de­
fended the "independence ofthe judges" as "an 
essential safeguard against the effects of occa­
sional ill-humors in the society." Of primary 
concern to Hamilton were " infractions of the 
constitution" which the anticipated power of 
judicial review would not only check once they 
had occurred but perhaps even discourage at 
their outset. Thus, the separated powers man­
dated by the Constitution have made judicial 
independence possible; its shared powers have 
made occasional breaches of that independ­
ence probable and have allowed the federal 
judiciary to become a partner in governing the 
nation. 

This constitutional dimension of the busi­
ness of the Supreme Court has contributed 
mightily to the institution's prominence in 
American government. Even though the Court 
performs an important conflict -resolution func­
tion--essential in any political system--and even 
though the great majority of its cases have not 
raised constitutional questions, the Court 
achieved the stature it enjoys through its role as 
chief expositor of the nation's fundamental 
charter. As then Attorney General Robert 
Jackson observed on the 150th anniversary of 
the establishment of the Supreme Court, "Few 
tribunals have had greater opportunity for origi­
nal and constructive work, and none ever seized 
opportunity with more daring and wisdom."l 
Issues which other nations regard as purely po­
litical have become legal ones here. Judicial 
review has made the Court a compelling force 
in the plan of union the framers devised. The 

Court's power has contributed to the design 
James Madison envisioned to overcome the 
twin difficulties of statecraft: those of "enabl[ing] 
the government to control the governed" and 
oblig[ing] the government to control itself."2 
Attempting to resolve issues which divide and 
perplex the nation, the Court has contributed 
both symbolically and substantively to the strength 
and vitality of constitutional government. 

The Court occupies a key place in the 
American scheme of democratic government 
in spite of professed weakness. "Courts are 
mere instruments of the law, and can will noth­
ing," Chief Justice Marshall explained in 1824.3 

In answering charges during the debates over 
ratification of the Constitution that the Court 
would be too powerful, Hamilton maintained 
that "the judiciary, from the nature of its func­
tions, will always be the least dangerous to the 
political rights of the Constitution; because it 
will be least in a capacity to annoy or injure 
them."4 Lacking the "sword" of the executive 
and the "purse" of the legislature, the Court 
was to possess "merely judgment." The practi­
calities of starting up a new government bol­
stered Hamilton's argument. Since the judici­
ary's establishment required the consent of 
both the President and Congress, there could 
be no Court until the other two branches came 
into being and acted. Thus, the new House and 
Senate transacted their first business on April 2 
and April 5, respectively, with George Wash­
ington's inauguration following on April 30. 
Legislation creating the Supreme Court and 
setting February 1, 1790, as the day of its first 
session was signed by Washington on Septem­
ber 24. Confirmation by the Senate of the first 
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nominees followed on September 26, one day 
shy of Congress' adjournment, meaning that 
the Supreme Court as a functioning branch of 
the national government followed the other two 
by nine months.5 

From practical and constitutional depend­
ency came strength. From the outset, the Jus­
tices claimed the duty to interpret the 
Constitution, taking on the burden of settling 
disputes the framers had not anticipated or had 
been unwilling or unable to resolve. Because of 
the widespread acceptance throughout most of 
American national history of constitutional 
interpretation as peculiarly a judicial function, 
the Court has converted Hamilton's characteri­
zation of the judicial power as "merely judg­
ment" into one of the greatest understatements 
of all time. 

Since the Supreme Court matters politically 
as well as jurisprudentially, it has understanda­
bly been subject to continuing scholarly and 
joutnalistic oversight. Such scrutiny has been 
particularly beneficial because it has partially 
substituted for the direct political accountabil­
ity provided for the executive and legislative 
branches, but absent for the federal judiciary. 
The Court's visibility has consequently been a 
source of the institution's legitimacy as a check 
on popular power. As William Howard Taft 
observed nearly a century ago, 

Nothing tends more to render judges careful 
in their decisions and anxiously solicitous to 
do exact justice than the consciousness that 
every act oftheirs is to be subjected to the in­
telligent scrutiny of their fellow-men, and to 
their candid criticism .... In the case ofjudges 
having a life tenure, indeed, their very inde­
pendence makes the right freely to comment 
on their decisions of greater importance, 
because it is the only practical and available 
instrument in the hands of a free people to 
keep such judges alive to the reasonable 
demands of those they serve.,,6 

Recent books about the Court are amply 
supplied with what Taft called "comment" and 
"reasonable demands." As with any political in­
stitution, study of the Supreme Court is aided 
by a framework of analysis. Helpful in under­
standing the Supreme Court are five key ele­
ments: political and intellectual environment, 

personnel, past, process, and product. 
The first refers to the governmental system 

and societal context in which the Court oper­
ates. The second includes the individual Jus­
tices who decide cases. The third encompasses 
not only the history of the nation, but the body 
of decisions rendered by former Justices. The 
fourth alerts the student of the Court to the 
manner in which the Court arrives at its deci­
sions, including the role of advocacy and the 
institution'S internal dynamics. Product, the 
fifth and last element, consists of the Court's 
current rulings--the end result of the decision­
making process--and their acceptance and im­
plementation. Each element is reflected in 
varying degrees in the books selected for this 
review article.? 

Political and Intellectual Environment 

The political and intellectual environment 
influences the selection of Justices who come to 
the Bench with various values and approaches 
to constitutional interpretation. The environ­
ment also largely determines the kinds of issues 
at stake in cases presented to the Court for de­
cision. Moreover, the political acceptability of 
decisions and the degree to which the Court's 
decisions accomplish their objectives affect the 
impact of the Supreme Court. 

Herman Schwartz's Packing the Courts is 
evidence of how judicial selection intersects 
with the politics of the times. The book is not a 
detached study, nor does the author pretend it 
to be. "This is not a book written in tranquil 
recollection of things past," Schwartz acknow­
ledges. "I wrote it while engaged in many of the 
controversies it discusses, with more in the 
offing.... This book is about...the conservative 
efforts to overturn what the courts have done in 
the past half century on behalf of the constitu­
tional imperative to 'establish justice ... and en­
sure the blessings of liberty.",g While the sub­
ject has been addressed in the periodical litera­
ture,9 this is the first book-length account of the 
appointment of federal judges at all levels dur­
ing the Reagan years. 

A book with the title of this one prompts a 
question at the outset. What was so special or 
different about judicial politics in the Reagan 
Administration to warrant a book on the sub­
ject? Schwartz freely admits that many previ­
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ous Presidents have tried, often with consider­
able success, to make the Supreme Court in 
their image. "What is...almost without paral­
lel," Schwartz responds, is that "the recent 
court-packing campaign ...reaches to so much 
of the constitutional landscape in such funda­
mental ways."10 Other Presidents were con­
cerned about a single issue, as when President 
Franklin Roosevelt insisted on judges who were 
sure to validate his economic recovery pro­
gram. By contrast, Schwartz explains, judicial 
selection during the Reagan years was designed 
to advance a broad conservative agenda, in­
cluding topics such as school desegregation, 
affirmative action, voting rights, discrimination 
against the handicapped, school prayer, abor­
tion, antitrust policy, regulation, and criminal 
procedure.l1 By the second term especially, 
congressional resistance to some of this agenda 
"increased the pressure for 'friendly' judges to 
promote the Reagan Revolution in the legal 
sphere."12 Finally, Reagan judicial politics dif­
fered in another way: "Except perhaps for the 
school prayer issue, there is certainly no great 
groundswell of support for the right's social 
agenda, as there was for FDR's, TR's, and 
Lincoln's policies."13 Schwartz seems to be say-

By the end of his second lerm. Ronald Reagan's judicial 
nominees composed more Ihan half the federal bench. In 
Packin!! the Courts, S4:hwartz argues that most were se­
lected 10 advance a broad conservative agenda. 

ing that the voters had twice elected with com­
fortable margins a President whose views they 
rejected. Morever, Schwartz might have said 
that the conservative judicial agenda was as 
broad as it was because judges had been active 
on so broad a front. Reagan's court-conscious 
predecessors had not faced that problem. 
"Whether they realized it or not, the Justices in 
Brown [v. Board of Education in 1954] had 
committed the federal courts to an enterprise 
of profound social reconstruction."14 

With it understood that Schwartz is not a 
disinterested observer, Packing the Courts is an 
important publication for two reasons. First, 
Schwartz plainly documents the priority given 
to ideology in judicial selection in both the first 
and second Reagan terms. While debates over 
a nominee's ideology dominated the news in the 
high-visibility Supreme Court confirmation 
proceedings of Justice Rehnquist and Judges 
Scalia, Bork, and Kennedy,Is most nominations 
to the district and appeals benches, as custom­
ary, attracted no national publicity. For ex­
ample, one of President Reagan's first appeals 
court nominees was Richard Posner, whose 
name came before the Senate in November, 
1981. According to Schwartz, 

Posner's confirmation hearing took pla.ce on 
a Friday afternoon, in a joint session with 
four other nominees, and with only Chair­
man Strom Thurmond and the conservative 
Howell Heflin of Alabama in attendance. 
Posner's pari of the hearing took but a few 
minutes, and he was quickly confirmed with­
out debate. Although few realized it, the 
cOUri-packing campaign had begun .... 16 

By contrast, those nominees who provoked 
controversy (as in the cases of Daniel A. 
Manion and J. Harvie Wilkinson, for example) 
were prominent by their infrequency. 

Schwartz's thesis that nominees had to pass 
the rigorous ideological screening of the Presi­
dent's Committee on Federal Judicial Selection 
takes on added meaning, therefore, when one 
realizes the number of judicial seats that had to 
be filled . By the end of 1988, not only did 
President Reagan's nominees account for 
slightly more than half the entire federal bench, 
but he had been able to appoint more judges 
than any previous President, surpassing Jimmy 
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Carter, the prior record holder. In describing 
sixteen of the nominations to the lower federal 
courts (in addition to the nominations to the 
Supreme Court), Schwartz thus highlights this 
significant dimension of the President's ap­
pointment power. Nominations to the lower 
courts are crucial since those courts are effec­
tively the courts of last resort for almost all 
litigants in the federal judicial system. 

The book is important for a second reason 
as well: its usefulness as a resourceY In docu­
menting his thesis, Schwartz cites personal 
observation and interviews to a degree, but 
makes his case primarily from secondary sources, 
including newsletters, magazines, newspapers 
and official publications. Having gathered 
together and relied upon information already 
available in print, he is open to the "there's 
nothing new here" charge. Yet, the author has 
performed a service. The book's 25 pages of 
notes are a road map, usefully pointing the way 
for others investigating the same subject. 

Tliere is a vast ideological distance between 
Herman Schwartz and Gary L. McDowell, 
author of Curbing the CourtsY Nonetheless, 
the two authors occupy at least some common 
ground: each deplores judicial activism in cer­
tain forms and worries about public percep­
tions of the judiciary. Schwartz was alarmed by 
the Reagan Administration'sefforts to roll back 
liberal judicial decisions by reshaping the fed­
eral courts not only because he disagreed with 
the political goals of such efforts but because 
the open politicizing of the bench might impair 
the public confidence on which judicial author­
ity ultimately depends. McDowell, whom 
Schwartz characterizes as "one of [Attorney 
General Edwin] Meese's chieftheoretician-as­
sistants,"19 rejects the activist posture the Su­
preme Court and other federal courts have 
assumed during the past half century, which 
Schwartz admires. McDowell, however, also 
frowns on congressional proposals to "curb the 
courts" because they have failed and risk under­
mining popular respect for the judiciary and the 
idea of the rule of law. 

Since 1790, McDowell believes, the Su­
preme Court has engaged in excessive activism 
during two periods: from 1890 to 1937, and 
from 1954 to the present. The former was 
characterized by "proscriptive activism," and 
the latter has been marked by "prescriptive 

activism." Justices have been "more concerned 
with natural than with legal justice .... What is 
constitutional is what the jurist thinks is reason­
able or just, and the basis of judicial power is 
understood to be an active concern for vindicat­
ing notions of abstract justice or for advancing 
a particular jurist'S view of what constitutes 
'human dignity."'20 This departs from the judi­
cial role envisoned by the framers of the 
Constitution and has enabled judges to "roam 
at large in the trackless fields of their own 
imaginations."21 As Hamilton cautioned in 
Federalist No. 78, "To avoid an arbitrary 
discretion in the courts, it is indispensable that 
they should be bound down by strict rules and 
precedents which serve to define and point out 
their duty in every particular case that comes 
before them." If judicial power, like other 
forms of political power, is of an "encroaching 
nature," as James Madison argued in Federalist 
No. 51, then the courts must be subject to 
limits. In this way, they can perform their 
essential functions within a system that trims or 
prevents excesses. 

How does one curb the courts? McDowelI 
contends that "[t]he American political system 
operates to the advantage of the judiciary." 
Contrary to Schwartz, McDowell concludes that 
presidential court-packing schemes "are noto­
riously ineffective." Likewise, of little help is 
the congressional impeaclunent power, and piece­
meal congressional attacks on individual court 
decisions only "treat symptons at the expense of 
wring causes." When tried, such measures usually 
fail for two reasons. First, it is difficult to build 
political support for an attack on the Court 
because a decision or even a constitutional 
theory that alarms one group is bound to please 
another. No line of decisions gores alI oxen. 
Second, any attack on the Court seems to 
threaten the constitutional principle of an inde­
pendent judiciary, as President Franklin Roose­
velt discovered in his ill-fated Court-packing 
plan of 1937. Even judicial restraint, stemming 
as it does from the Justices' perception of their 
role, is an "empty reliance." 

Instead, what is needed is congressional 
enforcement of "constitutional restraint." A 
fundamental approach, aimed not at particular 
decisions but at the process itself, is in order 
because "judicial activism is not so much a case 
of judicial usurpation as it is of congressional 
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abdication." As a basis for this route to reform, 
McDowell looks to Article III, which author­
izes Congress not only to make "exceptions" to 
the Court's appellate jurisdiction but "regula­
tions" as well. Congressional resurgence should 
take the form of legislation constricting rules of 
standing, the breadth of class actions, the ease 
of intervention by those not actual parties to a 
suit, the expanse of consent decrees, and the 
scope of declaratory and equitable relief.23 
These changes in the Rules of Civil Procedure 
would reverse the trend from what McDowell 
calls "concrete standards" to "abstract stan­
dards," with the enlarged discretion the latter 
have allowed. 

While well designed to accomplish the ob­
jective McDowell has in mind, one suspects that 
his fundamental procedural remedy for judicial 
activism might suffer from the same weakness 
which has defeated most decision-specific 
measures in recent years. If it is difficult to 
marshal a majority in Congress against the 
Court because almost any decision will have its 
supporters as well as detractors, will there not 
also be substantial numbers who perceive their 
interests advantaged by the current ruIeS?2A 
Moreover, by allowing judges to do more, 
rather than less, governing, Congress relieves 
itself of the burden of making some decisions 
and retains the courts as a useful scapegoat 
when the judges "go too far." The success of 
McDowell's plan ultimately depends on build­
ing a majority coalition in Congress in favor of 
a principle: that there are limits within the 
Constitution to what judges can and should do 
and that it is Congress's obligation to enforce 
those limits by setting additional statutory re­
strictions on the exercise of judicial power. One 
wonders whether Congress can be mobilized by 
a principle unattached to coalitions of powerful 
interests and whether Congress and the nation 
have not grown too accustomed to an activist 
judiciary for that to happen. 

In The Limits of Judicial Power, William 
Lasser25 would agree with Herman Schwartz 
that Presidents can change the direction of the 
Court through appointments, but he would 
accept Gary McDowell's assessment that the 
federal judiciary otherwise enjoys ample inde­
pendence and operates most of the time free of 
external constraints. Lasser argues that the 
Court enjoys greater power today than ever 

before in its history, that it has rushed passed 
the amber lights of caution many times, and 
that it seems unlikely to suffer major political 
setbacks. Lasser ponders the warning issued in 
1960 by Robert McCloskey, before the second 
and even more activist half of the Warren 
Court. The Court had pushed forward at a rate 
that McCloskey thought was "perilous and per­
haps self-defeating."26 The Court was runing 
the risk of repeating its greatest historical blun­
ders. (See the discussion of McCloskey in the 
section on "The Past" in connection with Wil­
liam M. Wiecek's Liberty Under Law.) 

Why then has the Court not been success­
fully curbed in the years since 1960? Lasser 
takes as major tests of judicial power thedeci­
sion in the Dred Scott case,Z7 the Court's in­
volvement in the Civil War and Reconstruction, 
and the Court's challenge to the New Deal. He 
then posits two questions the book will answer. 
"First, what do the crises of the past tell us 
about the Court's strengths and weaknesses as 
an institution? .. By what mechanism did the 
Court weather its most severe storms, and how 
can its survival be explained? Second, what 
does such a study ...tell as about the modern 
era? Did Court-watchers Like McCloskey and 
others misjudge the danger to the modem Court 
because they misunderstood history, or. be­
cause the modern era is fundamentally differ­
ent from the past--or might it be both?"28 

Lasser believes both that the older Court's 
power was greater than previously thought and 
that the limits of judicial power have expanded 
beyond their former boundaries. In each of the 
three major crises of history, "the Court's op­
ponents lacked the will, the desire, and the 
ability to crush the Court." At best, argues Las­
ser, they wanted to change (or have the Court 
change) only one or a small number of deci­
sions. "Once they did so, the Court quickly 
reassumed its accustomed position, paradoxi­
cally strengthened by the very weakness of the 
arguments against it even at its weakest mo­
ments." In the main, attacks on the Court were 
attacks on its decisions, not attacks on judicial 
power. In this context, the modern Court's 
political entanglements are "not an aberration, 
but a continuation of a long-established histori­
cal pattern."29 McCloskey and others were 
therefore correct in saying that the Court could 
not for long block the popular will, but were 
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incorrect in concluding that it was dangerous 
for the Court to try. The "salient fact" is that 
none of the modern Court's rulings has gener­
ated a persistent and massive wave in the public 
and Congress for reversal. Where that came 
close to happening, other issues soon appeared 
to deflect attention away from the judiciary. 

Does this mean that the Justices should be 
unconcerned about their power? Lasser thinks 
not. Instead, he accepts Justice Stone's admo­
nition in United States v. Butler: "While uncon­
stitutional exercise of power by the executive 
and legislative branches of the government is 
subject to judicial restraint, the only check upon 
our own exercise of power is our own sense of 
self-restraint."30 That is, "judicial restraint is 
necessary not because the Court is weak but 
because it is strong." The Court should avoid 
issues where decisions might create full-scale 
crises, "thereby revealing the limits of its politi­
cal strength." While nothing the Court has done 
since 1960 has precipitated such a crisis, he 
gives little guidance on predicting the breadth 
and depth of public outcry in order to avoid an 
institution-shattering event. Short of such a 
calamity, "the stOrms that swirl around the 
Court will [not 1become severe enough to force 
it to alter course." The Court's strength there­
fore makes "the responsible exercise of judicial 
power. ..so vitally necessary." 31 

Personnel 

The interest which accompanies each ap­
pointment to the Supreme Court exemplifies 
the force of individuals on the Bench. Since 
Washington's day, Presidents, Senators, and 
others have recognized that Justices do not 
decide cases in a vacuum, that "judicial deci­
sions are not babies brought by constitutional 
storks."32 The Justices' values and role percep­
tion combine to help shape the Court's deci­
SIOns. 

The impact of individual Justices as well as 
the political and intellectual environment ap­
pears clearly in Charles Fairman'S Reconstruc­
tion and Union 1864-88 (Part Two), which cov­
ers the years of the Waite Court.33 This volume 
is one of three contributions Professor Fairman 
made to The Oliver Wendell Holmes Devise 
History of the Supreme Court of the United 
States. Part One (Volume VI) appeared in 

1971 as one of the first books in the series and 
covered the years of the Chase Court. A sup­
plement to Volume VII (Five Justices and the 
Electoral Commission of 1877) was published 
in 1988.34 

Given the number of Justices (14) who 
served with Waite and the variety of issues 
which confronted the Court at that time, it is 
noteworthy that Fairman devoted a tenth of the 
book to the appointment of Chief Justice Chase's 
successor.35 Controversy over the nominations 
of some recent Presidents may have been among 
the most intense in the nation's history, but no 
President in this century has experienced the 
frustration surely felt by President Grant in 
1873 and 1874. The President made an offer of 
the chief justiceship to at least five individuals. 
By one account he offered it to seven.36 Of the 
five, Grant's tenders first to Senator Roscoe 
Conkling and then to Secretary of State Hamil­
ton Fish were declined. The nominations of At­
torney General George H. Williams and then 
Caleb Cushing met such resistance in the Sen­
ate that they had to be withdrawn. Finally, on 
January 19,1874 (over eight months after Chase's 
death), Grant sent Waite's name to the Senate. 
As Fish wrote Robert Schenck on the 19th, "We 
had 'a time' over the Chief Justiceship .... It has 
been a hard parturition ...." Gideon Welles 
confided to his son, "It is a wonder that Grant 
did not pick up some old acquaintance, who was 
a stage driver or bartender for the place. We 
may be thankful that he has done so well. "37 The 
Nation expressed a similar sense of relief in an 
editorial. 

The President has, with remarkable skill, 
avoided choosing any first-rate man. Mr. Waite 
stands in the front rank of second-rate law­
yers .... But he undoubtedly is a man of tlte 
highest character, and has the best possible 
standing at the bar ofhis own State .... On the 
whole, considering what the President might 
have done, and tried to do, we ought to be 
very thankful, and give Mr. Waite a cordial 
welcome. 38 

While the record of every period of the 
Court contains significant cases, the Waite era 
(1874-1888) contains a larger number than the 
relatively short span of years might suggest. 
The Court confronted and helped to clarify the 

http:seven.36
http:successor.35
http:Court.33


125 JUDICIAL BOOKSHELF 

The Waite Court: (from left) Joseph P. Bradley, Stephen J. Field, Samuel F. Miller, Nathan Clifford, Chief Justice 
Morrison R. Waite, Noah Haynes Swayne, David Davis, William Strong, and Ward Hunt. Waite was a 57.year..()ld 
aUomey from Ohio when he was appointed ChiefJustice in 1874. His Court ruled on the controversial Granger laws, 
upholding them with a seven·vote majority. 

extent of the state police power (especially with 
respect to rates), the authority of the national 
government to protect civil rights under the 
Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amend­
ments, the scope of congressional investiga­
tons, and tensions between religious freedom 
and civic responsibility. It took over a half 
century to settle the first and almost a century to 
settle the second and third. The republic con­
tinues to grapple with the fourth. 

The Waite years were a watershed time in 
American constitutional law. Particularly re­
garding the reach of the state police power, the 
1870s and 1880s witnessed a debate on and off 
the Court over the protection of rights. Were 
the people to look to the polls (that is, to the 
electoraJ process) or to the polls and the courts? 
The Waite Court in Munn v. Illinois 39 chose the 
former and in the process encouraged creation 
of the American Bar Association, which cam­
paigned for an invigorated judicial review. 
When the Court later turned its back on Munn,40 
judicial review itself became a major national 
political issue for the first time.41 

Generally, however, the Court was not in­

clined either during Waite's time or in the re­
maining 12 years of the century (and even for 
some years afterward) to extend judiciaJ pro­
tection of civil rights in matters of race. A 
majority of the Justices reflected the dominant 
opinion of the day that no extraordinary reach 
of national power was justified in such cases, 
even with the addition of the Civil War amend­
ments to the Constitution. This attitude seemed 
especially present in the Civil Rights Cases.42 

The Court decided these five cases to­
gether, each raising the issue of the constitu­
tionality of the Civil Rights Act of 1875, which 
created a right to be free of racial discrimina­
tion in public accommodations. With only Jus­
tice Harlan dissenting, the Court invalidated 
the statute as being unwarranted by the 
Constitution since it regulated private, not state, 
action. Solicitor General S. F. Phillips submit­
ted a brief applicable to three of the cases, and 
Reconstruction and Reunion includes gener­
ous excerpts. Fairman concludes, however, 
that no driving force was present to sustain the 
Act. The persons whose exclusion had given 
rise to the litigation were of course not parties 
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to the cases. The Justice Department had 
shown little interest in enforcement of the law 
during the preceding several years, because of 
strong opposition in locales where discrimina­
tion in private establishments was most persis­
tent. Moreover, the government "had not built 
up a strong and persuasive line of reasoning 
whereby the statute might be sustained .... Oral 
argument over opposing positions, which nor­
mally serves to put the issues clearly in focus, 
was lacking. The Court was left to its own 
reflections in deciding an issue which to the 
parties immediately involved seemed of little 
consequence, yet which in the future would 
loom large as a denial of racial equality before 
the law. "43 

What would have been the impact on the 
Court (and the nation) had there been a vigor­
ous defense of the statute? Justice Bradley, 
author of the majority opinion, "had a phe­
nomenally penetrating mind with, however, 
soni~ blind spotS."44 Fairman recalled former 
Justice John A. Cam pbell's attack as counsel on 
the Louisiana law in the Slaughterhouse Cases 
and his spirited defense of liberty: "Conscience, 
speech, security, freedom, and whatever else is 
essential to the liberty, or is proper as an attrib­
ute of citizenship, are now held under the guar­
antee of the Constitution of the United States." 
In obtaining four votes (including Bradley's), 
just one short of a majority, Campbell demon­
strated the potential power of an argument. 
"But nothing of that sort was offered to lift the 
thought of the Justices in the work now in 
hand."45 

Eighty-two years after the Civil Rights Cases 
were decided and 91 years after Morrison Waite 
took his seat on the Court, President Lyndon 
Johnson selected Abe Fortas to take the place 
vacated by departing Justice Arthur Goldberg. 
Someone unfamiliar with Fortas's years in 
Washington might wonder why he has become 
a biographer's subject. Of the 95 Justices who 
have completed their work on the Court, only 
six served a shorter time than Fortas's three 
years and nine months.46 Moreover, a sketch of 
his life would reveal that he had held several ad­
ministrative posts in the federal government 
during the 1930s and 1940s, none higher than an 
assistant secretary in the Interior Department. 
Otherwise, he was an influential attorney and 
lobbyist in a city with many of both. 

Fortas's career on and off the Court was 
much more than such a brief outline reveals, 
however. Not only had he been a prominent 
New Dealer and Washington lawyer, he was a 
close, long-standing, and confidential counselor 
to, and friend of, the President who named him 
an Associate Justice in 1965. With great disin­
clination Fortas accepted the position and even 
then only at the irresistible urging ofJ ohnson.47 

In 1968, Johnson picked him to succeed Earl 
Warren as Chief Justice. If Johnson had had 
his way, Fortas would have joined that very 
small club of Chief Justices who were named 
from the ranks of Associate Justice. In 1968, 
the only members were Edward D. White and 
Harlan F. Stone.48 Johnson hoped that Fortas, 
aided by his analytical brilliance and eloquence, 
would continue the thrust of the liberal consti­
tutional jurisprudence fostered during the sec­
ond half of the Warren Court. (Fort as very 
possibly could have served as Chief Justice into 
the Reagan Presidency; he died in 1982.) When 
a filibuster in the United States Senate pre­
vented the nomination from coming to a vote 
and when Johnson reluctantly withdrew For­
tas's name, Fortas became the first (and so far 
the only) nominee for the center chair in this 
century to fail to win confirmation.49 Then in 
1969 he became the first Supreme Court Justice 
to resign under fire, giving the new Nixon Ad­
ministration its second (and unexpected) va­
cancy on the Court to fill. The controversy over 
Fortas has since reached well beyond the man 
himself. It ushered in almost two decades of 
some of the most rancorous and vituperative 
debates ever seen over Supreme Court nomi­
nees. 

Into Fortas's impressive record of profes­
sional accomplishments and into the personally 
tragic sequence of events has stepped Bruce 
Allen Murphy. Publication of his Fortas: The 
Rise and Ruin of a Supreme Court Justice has 
yielded one of the most important and revealing 
of recent books about the modern Court. The 
volume also provides insight into national poli­
tics during the Kennedy and Johnson Presiden­
cies. As the author of The Brandeis-Frank­
furter Connection, Murphy is no stranger to the 
Court nor to the issues, problems and dangers 
presented by extra-judicial conduct. Despite 
years of political involvement while wearing the 
judicial garb, both Brandeis and Frankfurter 
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have been lionized. Each retired with respect 
and admiration after a long career. Respec­
tively, they enjoy "great" and "near-great" 
status. So, the motivating question for Murphy 
is "Who or what killed the public career of Abe 
Fortas?"50 

To write about Fortas and especially to 
answer that question pose a major challenge for 
an author. During more than three decades in 
public life, Fortas touched and was touched by 
many people and issues. A book about Justices 
who have spent most of their professional lives 
on the Bench removed from the rough and 
tumble of partisan politics of course requires 
prodigious research. One must have a thor­
ough grounding in the era during which a par­
ticular Justice served and must examine and 
study the judicial opinions, papers and reflec­
tions of colleagues as well. With Fortas, one 
must do all that, and more. Especially when 
enmeshed in a time when more and more 
government business was conducted on the 
telephone, an author must reach wide and far. 
For these reasons, it is commendable, but not 

As a Washington attorney, Abe 
Fortas argued Clarence Earl Gid­
eon's case before the Supreme Court 
in 1963. Ina unanimous decision, the 
Court established that if a defendant 
cannot pay for a lawyer to defend 
him against a felony charge, the state 
court must appoint one for him. Two 
years later, Fortas was appointed to 
the Supreme Court by President 
Lyndon B. Johnson, an old rriend_ 

A partner at the Washington, 
D.C., firm or Arnold, Fortas & Por­
ter, he was initially reluctant to ac­
cept the appointment. When Fortas 
took his seat he continued to act as 
Johnson's advisor and confidant. 

Abe Fortas was the son of a Jew­
ish cabinetmaker who had emi­
grated rrom England to Memphis, 
Tennessee. He earned his way at an 
early age by playing the violin at 
dances. Fortas continued this musi­
cal pastime after hejoined the Court 
by playing once a week with a string 
quartet. 

surprising, that Murphy seems to have le(t few 
stones unturned. Along with the expected oand 
numerous published sources (including court 
opinions, congressional reports and hearings, 
other official documents, newspapers, articles 
and books), Murphy consulted no fewer than 
131 oral history "memoirs" and 54 manuscript 
collections in at least thirteen different librar­
ies. The documentation, which comprises 87 
pages (12%) of the book, also includes citations 
to dozens of interviews which Murphy con­
ducted with acquaintances of Fortas (including 
one in 1981 with Fortas himsl!). 

The results are eye-opening in places. 
While he largely substantiates the findings of 
the first book-length study of the Fortas affair,s, 
Murphy came acr06S copies of documents thought 
to be unavailable, if even extant. These were the 
documents Attorney General John Mitchell 
showed Chief Justice Earl Warren in 1969 after 
Fortas's short-lived relationship with the Wolfson 
Foundation was revealed in a story by William 
Lambert in the May 9 issue of Life magazine. 
Apparently unknown to others, Warren made 
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copies and stored them with his papers which 
were later lodged in the Library of Congress. 
The impression has long been that the docu­
ments from Mitchell must have contained addi­
tional damaging information which led Warren 
to pressure Fortas to resign for the good of the 
Court. In fact, rvturphy shows that the docu­
ments contained nothing significant that was 
not already known. But even that was evidently 
enough for Warren. Fortas apparently got little 
if any encouragement from the other Justices to 
remain and ride out the storm.52 

In tracing Fortas's road to ruin, Murphy 
concludes that Fortas was the wrong man, in the 
wrong place, at the wrong time. Does this 
statement excuse Fortas? While generally a 
sympathetic volume, Fortas does not pretend to 
wipe clean actions and attitudes which were 
plainly mistakes. "It was not just what Fortas 
did, but how and when he did it." Fortas may 
have had "the right stuff" for a lawyer, but 

he did not have it as a judge. The intellect was 
certainly there, but not the temperament .... 
Rather than changing his manner of action 
and ethical code Once on the court, he contin­
ued to follow the same standards that had 
previously guided his legal career. And that 
got him into trouble. But the major mistake 
that Fortas made was one ofa man seemingly 
panicked by the prospect of 'dying on the 
Court, ' after being forc ed to take the post by 
someone more certain than he in a moment 
of weakness. 53 

Still, all of this simply made Fortas vulner­
able. Others had to bring about his fall. Fortas 
was caught in what Murphy terms "a riptide of 
history," meaning that greater forces closed off 
any possibility of escape. Ruin was assured by a 
coming together of three "shifts" in Washing­
ton: one was institutional, one was political and 
the other was generational. Fortas entered the 
spotlight of scrutiny at a time when power was 
shifting from the Presidency to the Congress. 
Partly because of growing congressional oppo­
sition to the Administration's policy in Vietnam 
(from both "hawks" and "doves") Johnson could 
no longer count on having his way on Capitol 
Hill. Influence was also shifting from liberals to 
conservatives, as illustrated by the impressive 
combined popular vote garnered by presiden-

Spencer Roane of Virginia, an ardent defender of states 
rights, would probably have been Chief Justice instead of 
John Marshall if President John Adams had--like his 
distant successor Lyndon Johnson--neglected to make 
the appointment before leaving the While House. 

tial candidates Richard Nixon and George 
Wallace in November 1968. The old New Deal 
Democratic coalition was in trouble. Finally, 
older leaders like Senators Everett Dirksen and 
Richard Russell did not come to the President's 
aid, and most of the rising younger leaders did 
not want to be "tainted by the issue." Ironically, 
just when Fortas, at age 59, should have been 
coming into his prime in Washington, "his ca­
reer ended so suddenly that he went out with 
the older generation .... The young man on the 
fast track became the middle-aged man careen­
ing off it, while the plodders his age maintained 
their slower pace to the top."54 

Murphy does not probe one of the intrigu­
ing questions about Johnson's last weeks in the 
White House. Why did he not submit another 
name to the Senate? His failure to do so 
guaranteed that the choice of Warren's succes­
sor would fall to Richard Nixon. According to 
one study, advisers put forth the names of 
Erwin Griswold and former Justices Clark and 
Goldberg. To avoid a recess appointment, they 
wanted the President to act immediately or 
when the Senate reconvened in January of1969. 
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Apparently persuasive, however, was a memo­
randum dated December 9, which evaluated 
probable opposition in the Senate Judiciary 
Committee and on the floor: "(1]f a nomination 
were submitted I think it unlikely that it could 
be confirmed. To reject Goldberg might prove 
slightly embarrassing for the Republicans but 
to be repudiated again by the Senate on a Chief 
Justice nomination would also be embarrassing 
to the President. I would recommend against 
the nomination of a Chief Justice .... "55 

Finding himself in a similar situation in 
1801, President John Adams, much to Presi­
dent-elect Thomas Jefferson's chagrin, followed 
an altogether different course. A few weeks 
before he left the White House, Adams named 
Secretary ofState John Marshall Chief Justice. 
IfAdams had taken President Johnson's route, 
Chief Justice Ellsworth's successor probably 
would have been Spencer Roane of Virginia, an 
ardent defender of states rights. In that event, 
history during the crucial formative years would 
have been drastically altered. 

The Past 

Whether a Fortas from the twentieth cen­
tury or a Waite from the nineteenth century, no 
Justice since Chief Justice Marshall's time writes 
on a blank slate. The past is a factor. The past 
includes the nation's history to be sure, but also 
the Court's own decisions: the legacy of jurists, 
themselves part of history. "Our jurisprudence 
is distinctive in that every great movement in 
American history has produced a leading case 
in this Court."56 The past contains the gloss that 
the Justices have spread over the Constitution. 

An important part of the constitutionally 
significant past is the legacy of commentators 
on American law and institutions. In the early 
days of the Republic, decisions of many courts 
were published only irregularly, if at all, and 
frontier conditions often deprived attorneys of 
those which were in print. In such surround­
ings, legal commentaries not only helped to 
educate the bar and the public but were among 
the few sources of the law at hand. Virginia'S St. 
George Tucker published an "Americanized" 
edition of Sir William Blackstone's Commen­
taries in 1803. While Blackstone's work was 
already widely known on this side of the Atlan­
tic as "an intelligible description of the whole 

system of the common Iaw,"Sl Tucker attempted 
to place all legal knowledge within it, as "the 
ready instrument for the apprentice or self­
trained lawyer." Later, the four volumes of 
New York Chancellor James Kent's Commen­
taries, published between 1826 and 1830, "im­
mediately became the standard general treatise 
on law in the United States.... As a constitu­
tional law treatise, they were widely used for 
college instruction, apart from their usefulness 
to lawyers; their use in this respect evidenced 
the place that lawyers had made for themselves 
and their point of view in American affairs."58 
This was a tradition quickly followed by Justice 
Joseph Story and later by figures such as Tho­
mas Cooley, Christopher Tideman, and John F. 
Dillon. Even as law libraries multiplied and 
court reports became widely accessible, the 
role of comentators did not diminish. While no 
longer being the sole text for an apprentice or 
the only locally available guide to the law, legal 
commentary became a major influence on the 
growth of the law, whether in books or law 
reviews. 

Of prominent twentieth-century constitu­
tional scholars whose careers are now part of 
history, Edward S. Corwin stands out. He 
illustrated his own incisive observation: "If 
judges make law, so do commentators."3'> 
"Elevating Corwin into the front rank of im­
mortals among American constitutional com­
mentators are the quantity, timeliness, profun­
dity, comprehensiveness, and objectivity of his 
writings as well as their relationship to the law 
that came before and after." Corwin's writings 
"are a resource for training citizens, as well as 
judges and lawyers, in the nature of the Union 
and the purpose of American government."60 
Among the weaknesses of a written Constitution, 
claimed Thomas Cooley, was "that it is often 
construed on technical principles ofverbal criti­
cism rather than in the light of great prin­
ciples."61 Corwin's work never suffered from 
that failing, assuring its usefulness even today in 
understanding American constitutional govern­
ment. 

Corwin differed from nineteenth-century 
commentators partly because he specialized in 
constitutional law. The writings of Kent, Story, 
and the others were concerned with other areas 
of the law too. Corwin was also different 
because he was neither an attorney nor a pro­
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fessor in a law school (his doctorate was in 
history, and his professorship was in Prince­
ton's Department of Politics). Corwin's major 
publications spanned a half century, from 1906 
to the late 1950s. Measured on a time line of 
major constitutional decisions, this means Corwin 
was professionally active from Lochner v. New 
York, through the Court-packing fight of 1937 
(which led, in Corwin's own words, to the "Con­
stitutional Revolution, Ltd."), until after Brown 
v. Board of Education.62 The expanse of that 
constitutional landscape is breathtaking. 

Corwin also differed from the leading nine­
teenth-century commentators in that he was an 
essayist. Much of his best work appeared as 
articles during the five decades of his profes­
sionallife. There was no single, massive trea­
tise---no Corwin's Commentaries.63 Partly to 
compensate for this absence, Richard Loss has 
undertaken a project to publish Corwin's major 
articles in a multi-volume set entitled Corwin 
on the Constitution. The articles, representing 
a scHolar's work of a lifetime, are thus com­
bined to form the treatise Corwin never wrote. 
The first volume, The Foundations of Ameri­
can Constitutional and Political Thought. the 
Powers ofCongress. and the President's Power 
of Removal appeared in 1981. The second vol­
ume, The Judiciary, has now been published 
and contains 16 articles, plus Corwin's sixty 
pages of testimony before the Senate Judiciary 
Committee in 1937 on "Reorganization of the 
Federal Judiciary," alias President Roosevelt's 
Court-packing plan.64 

The result is impressive. In one place are 
essays originally published in many journals, 
some of which are now fairly obscure. More­
over, becase Loss arranged the articles by their 
date of publication, one has the advantage of 
seeing Corwin's thought develop from the first 
("The Supreme Court and Unconstitutional 
Acts of Congress" in 1906) to the last one 
("John Marshall, Revolutionist Malgre Lui" in 
1955). Since Corwin changed his views on the 
basis of judicial review, Loss believes "readers 
are therefore compelled to think for themelves.'>6'i 
The reader can thus use it as a dual resource: to 
understand better American constitutional in­
terpretation and to peer into the thinking of one 
of the century's preeminent scholars as well. 

Apparently, Corwin considered his articles 
on the judiciary among his most important. "I 

consider that my most creative work has been 
in digging out the foundational doctrines and 
assumptions underlying American constitutional 
law, and especially those doctrines and assump­
tions which have been in the past enforced by 
the Supreme Court against legislative power, 
both state and national. It is these articles ... 
which have drawn most attention from judges 
and students of law and political science."66 
Loss believes that someone reading Corwin for 
the first time "will find a golden harvest" of re­
flection. These essays "are inevitably contro­
versial in that Corwin and other skilled com­
mentators disagree on important matters such 
as the basis of judicial review.,,67 Questions 
Corwin faced still engage the Court and the 
world of scholarship. 

The Supreme Court is the focus of William 
Wiecek's Liberty Under Law.68 If Loss's vol­
ume presented one commentator's nll1mng evalu­
ation of the Court's work,Wiecek's monograph 
provides an interpretative account of the Court's 
history. This history is the necessary starting 
point for any discussion about the Justices and 
their relation to American life today. 

Publication of Liberty Under Law is note­
worthy in at least one respect. Even with the 
vast outpouring of books and articles about the 
Court and its decisions, there have been few 
well-written, short, historically oriented apprais­
als of the Court. For three decades, students 
have turned to Robert G. McCloskey's The 
American Supreme Court. Valuable still, 
McCloskey's book was completed before the 
second (and very activist) half of the Warren 
Court had begun. In the conclusion, McCloskey 
advised, "The Court's greatest successes have 
been achieved when it has operated near the 
margins rather than in the center of political 
controversy; when it has nudged and gently 
tugged the nation, instead of trying to rule it."69 
Because that sentence was written before deci­
sions such as Mapp v. Ohio, Reynolds v. Sims, 
Mironda v. Arizona, Duncan v. Louisiana, SW(JJV1 

v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education, 
and Roe v. Wade,70 it is gratifying to see a new 
overview of the Court's history, complementary 
to McCloskey's and of similar length. 

There are at least two levels to Liberty 
Under Law. In the first, Wiecek provides the 
reader with a conventionally arranged account 
of the institutional development of the Su­
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preme Court and the mainly simultaneous groMb 
in the Court's constitutional authority. Five 
chapters (1-5) are organized chronologically, 
the rest (6-8) topically. The latter by and large 
discuss the post -1937 Court, and even here the 
organization, especially within each chapter, is 
chronological. 

At the outset, Chapter One ("The Origins 
of American Constitutionalism") alerts the reader 
to the fact that the Supreme Court "is heir to a 
constitutional traclition now some eight hundred 
years old."?! There may be no more effective 
way to place contemporary debates, whether 
over the President's powers or abortion, in per­
spective. Discussion moves from Magna Carta, 
to the American colonial experience, the ratifi­
cation debates of 1787-1788, and the first years 
under the new Constitution. The second chap­
ter reviews the challenges to, and the accom­
plishments of, the Marshall Court. Chapter 
Three surveys the problems of democracy, slav­
ery and capitalism as they confront the Taney 
Court. The fourth chapter treats the novel con­
stitutional issues posed by the Civil War and 
Reconstruction, especially regarding protec­
tion of the rights of the newly freed slaves. 
Chapter Five ("The Formalist Era") mainly 
recounts the struggles over state regulatory 
authority and the extent of national power during 

In his new book, Wiecek concludes that the Supreme 
Court has done its best to carry out John Adams' plea to 
the Massachusetts Constitution in 1780 to assure "a gov­
ernment of laws and not of men." 

the tenures of Chief Justices Waite, Fuller, 
White, Taft, and Hughes. The final three chap­
ters deal with issues which have occupied the 
modern Court: separation-of-powers concerns 
(especially executive power), equal protection 
and due process. 

At the second level of Liberty Under Law, 
Wiecek displays this historical development 
within the context posed by James Bradley 
Thayer's question in his essay of 1893.72 "Put 
simply," writes Wiecek, "this problem is: how 
can an institution that is not at all democratic in 
its composition and methods legitimately exer­
cise the power of holding void the laws enacted 
by the democratically elected branch of govern­
ment, the people's representatives? This ques­
tion of legitimacy has provoked another: can 
Supreme Court adjudication be objective?"73 
The task is really one of trying to maintain the 
rule of law, which, as John Adams formulated 
the matter for the Massachusetts Constitution 
of 1780, is one of assuring "a government of 
laws and not of men." 

While judicial review has been part of the 
Supreme Court for almost as long as there has 
been a Supreme Court, Wiecek acknowledges 
that judicial review itself did not become politi­
cally controversial until about a century ago. 
This of course coincided with the rise. of an 
activist Court bent on restricting legisiative 
power over property. Like Lasser, Wiecek 
believes that most of the external constraints on 
judicial power have proved to be of "dubious 
utility." Only the President's power to reshape 
the Court through appointments has had much 
effect. Justices and Court scholars have conse­
quently turned their attention to checks on 
judicial discretion which are "internal" to the 
decision-making process. These internal checks 
are criteria which are supposed to guide and 
therefore to corral the discretion of individual 
Justices. According to the author, five such cri­
teria exist:?4 the text of the Constitution itself, 
the framers' intent, structuralism (that is, how 
one part of the Constitution or government 
institution relates to another), history in the 
form of stare decisis, and application of funda­
mental values (the consensus approach). As 
legal commentary for at least the past 75 years 
reveals, no one of these criteria has been found 
unassailable or has been able to command 
general assent. This debate over objective 
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criteria became even more unsettled with the 
advent of "critical legal studies" in the law 
schools. 

Within this bl ur of uncertainty the Court has 
approximated Adams' ideal, Wiecek concludes, 
largely because of the possibility of correction 
by the political process and because of the 
Court's own internal decisional procedures. He 
identifies four. For two centuries, the Court has 
not long pursued policy objectives greatly at 
odds with the strongly held views of a majority 
of the people. Second, the common law tradi­
tion of deciding cases means the evolution of 
doctrine takes place within a "dialogue that 
refines concepts, often over long periods of 
time." Third, self-denying rules have worked to 
keep some controversies out of the highest 
court altogether. Finally, "history serves as an 
anchor or constraint on judicial whim." The 
past is always a yardstick by which present per­
formance can be judged.75 The American con­
stitutional tradition has allowed the Court both 
to check the political process and to be bound 
by that same process. 

In constitutional adjudication, one promi­
nent feature of the past remains among the 
most significant and provocative: the Four­
teenth Amendment. It figures prominently in 
Wiecek's Liberty Under Law. Furthermore, 
there has been no shortage of studies in recent 
years devoted solely to this amendment.76 Join­
ing their ranks is The Fourteenth Amendment 
by William E. Nelson.77 

The Fourteenth Amendment was such a 
significant addition to the Constitution that it is 
sometimes referred to alone as the "Second 
Constitution." It altered the federal system by 
placing within the Constitution for the first time 
broad, but unspecified, limits on the power of 
the states. Heretofore, with only a few excep­
tions such as the contract clause and the dor­
mant commerce power, the Constitution con­
strained the national government, but not the 
states. Since most governmental activity in this 
country has historically been performed by state 
and local governments, the amendment poten­
tially placed a wide realm of public policy, 
previously uncontrolled by the Constitution, 
within its reach. The word "potentially" must 
be emphasized, however, because Section One 
-- the part, along with the enforcement clause in 
Section Five, that has proved of lasting import­

ace--catalogs the new limitations in an open­
ended manner: "the privileges or immunities of 
citizens of the United States," the "liberty" 
which must not be "deprived" without "due 
process of law," the "equal protection of the 
laws" which no state can deny.78 

The amendment has been provocative and 
indeed controversial because the open-ended 
provisions of Section One invite debate on the 
precise limitations now applicable to the states. 
Are the restrictions on state power designed 
mainly to achieve racial justice? Do they con­
sist of the constraints contained within the first 
eight amendments alone? Are other funda­
mental rights protected against abridgement by 
state action? If other rights are included, how 
do judges discern the rights deemed fundamen­
tal? The words of the amendment do not say. 

William Nelson, who clerked for Justice 
White during the October 1970 Term of the Su­
preme Court, begins his study of the Four­
teenth Amendment with a recognition of an 
"impasse" in scholarship. There is simply no 
agreement among historians and legal scholars 
on the amendment's meaning. Each interpre­
tation finds supporting evidence, but the evi­
dence is not conclusive. One is left wondering 
whether those in Congress and the ratifying 
state legislatures had any particular intention in 
mind for their handiwork. In part, the impasse 
arises from conflicting views of the Reconstruc­
tion period. Some see the amendment as the 
fruition of the labors of idealistic statesmen 
who fought for the expansion and protection of 
individual rights. Others stress the partisan 
motivation to hold the Republicans together by 
retaining political power and assuring a climate 
conducive to economic growth. 

To break through this impasse, Nelson 
explains that he examined sources "most previ­
ous historians have ignored" (such as state 
ratification debates, newspapers and the pri­
vate papers of congressmen) and asked "ques­
tions about the sources that previous historians 
have not asked." The la-tter task is the more 
productive, he believes, because one must avoid 
asking questions the Reconstruction genera­
tion did not ask (such as whether the amend­
ment would affect anti-abortion legislation). A 
question that did not occur to that generation 
"cannot be answered by examining records of 
its actual thought." Nor should one ask how the 
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framers of the amendment would resolve issues 
they did consider but in fact did not resolve 
(such as how voting rights were to be pro­
tected). Rather, one should try to discover the 
meaning the amendment had for its propo­
nents, "even if that meaning is not dispositive of 
the issues pending in the courts today."79 

Among leaders in the Republican Party in 
1866 and much of the northern electorate, the 
amendment's meaning "existed on a concep­
tuallevel different from the doctrinal level on 
which most scholars have tended to examine 
it...." That meaning combined a commitment to 
apparently opposite objectives: federal protec­
tion of the civil rights of blacks and the preser­
vation of the federal balance between the na­
tional and state governments. They wrote the 
amendment "to reaffirm the lay public's long­
standing rhetorical commitment to general 
principles of equality, individual rights, and 
local self-rule." Was not the conflict between 
these ends surely foreseeable? Nelson thinks 
that the generation of the late 1860s did not 
think it inevitable. Instead, the amendment was 
designed "to persuade people to do good, rather 
than a bureaucratic venture intended to estab­
lish precise legal rules and enforcement mecha­
nisms." Rather than placing particular rights in 
a federally protected status, the amendment 
left definition of rights in the hands of the states, 
subject to the stipulation that state laws not be 
"arbitrary" or "unreasonable."80 

Initially, in the Slaughterhouse Cases,8l five 
Justices on the Supreme Court refused to give 
the Fourteenth Amendment even this limited 
meaning. Shortly and for the rest of the nine­
teenth century, however, the Court accepted 
and applied the amendment's rhetorical pur­
pose.B2 Rights and local rule would be balanced 
as the Court increasingly confronted contests 
between laws aimed at securing the public good 
and litigants seeking private advantage. Even 
the decision in the Civil Rights Cases, discussed 
earlier in connection with Charles Fairman's 
\Glwne, was in accord with this view. "[I]ndividual 
civil rights did not preexist law and were not 
created by federal law; individual civil rights 
were the creations of state law. The federal 
government could have no power to determine 
the content of civil rights if it was to remain the 
government of limited power that all Ameri­
cans wanted. The only power that the Four­

teenth Amendment granted to Congress and 
the federal courts was power to hold the states 
to the rule of law: the power to insure that the 
states extended the same rights to all individu­
als equally except on those occasions when the 
good of the public at large demanded that 
distinctions between individuals be drawn."83 

According to Nelson, only in Lochner v. 
New York 84 in 1905 was there a departure from 
this approach. "The Lochner court...began to 
give the impression that the right of free con­
tract was of such fundamental stature that no 
government could infringe iL"85 Despite the 
Court's abrupt shift from protecting economic 
liberties in 1937, it is really the Lochner ap­
proach to the Fourteenth Amendment which 
has prevailed and not that of the Reconstruc­
tion generation. Justice Stone's adumbration 
of the preferred status of new rights in his now 
famous Footnote Four86 meant that the Court, 
as in Lochner, would not be concerned with 
whether certain liberties were regulated rea­
sonably but whether they were restricted at all. 
For Nelson, a half century after Stone's foot­
note, "the nineteenth century's approach to the 
limited reach of the Fourteenth Amendment" 
has been forgotten.87 

Process 

The Court's decision-making process as 
well as its past shapes its decisions. At the most 
basic level, litigants must pursue objectives 
through the courts, often at enormous expense 
and with months and even years going by before 
a resolution is reached. Once the Supreme 
Court has accepted a case for decision, briefs 
and oral argument inform the Justices and fur­
ther define the issues the case presents. They 
often supply the reasoning the Court uses in 
justifying its decisions. Moreover, because all 
Justices normally participate in each case, col­
legial interaction becomes a factor. Discussion 
in conference and persuasive comment by one 
Justice on an opinion drafted by another con­
tribute to the form a decision eventually takes. 
They sometimes cause Justices to change posi­
tions in a case. 

Books examining the judicial process typi­
cally take one of three forms. The work may be 
an overview of the entire process, drawing 
examples from llumerous cases.88 It may focus 
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on a single case and stress the political forces 
that coalesce to encourage and even finance the 
litigation because of the issue it raises.89 Or it 
may focus on a single case and stress the Court's 
internal deliberations and ways of reaching a 
decison. Bernard Schwartz's Behind Bakke is 
of the third type.90 

Denying his intent to write a "mini-Breth­
ren;>91 Schwartz clarifies his purpose: "to give 
students of the Supreme Court further insight 
into the Court's largely unrevealed decision 
processes .... It is my hope ... that the actual op­
eration of the Court will be made clearer by this 
account of the decision process in an im portant 
case." Schwartz has selected a fascinating subject 
for this case study. Regents v. Bakke 92 was one 
of the more celebrated cases of the decade and 
was the Court's first decision on the merits in an 
affirmative action case. At issue was a special 
quota used for admissions at the medical school 
of the University of California at Davis.93 As of 
1989;Bakke remains the Court's only statement 
aboutlhe constitutionality of affirmative action 
in higher education. 

Most of the sources Schwartz employed in 
this study are not readily available to others. He 
conducted personal interviews with members 
of the Court, former law clerks, and others 
familiar with the case. "Every statement not 

Schwartz'S coverage of the Bakke case is notable for the 
quantity of infonnation that comes from personal inter­
views, particularly from Justice Brennan, who says he 
recommended against taking the case. 

otherwise identified was either made to me 
personally or I was given information about it 
by an unimpeachable source.'>94 Moreover, and 
probably more significantly, Schwartz had ac­
cess to conference notes, docket books, corre­
spondence, and memoranda, as well as draft 
opinions of the Justices. Much of this material 
was apparently provided by Justice Brennan. 
Of particular value are the memoranda of five 
Justices addressed "to the Conference" which 
discuss the case and layout the individual Jus­
tice's views as of the date of writing. (Because 
Schwartz apparently relied heavily on facts and 
documents provided by Justice Brennan, it is 
entirely possible that other information not 
available to Schwartz but pertinent to the story 
ofBakke could affect the way the case is under­
stood. Here as in other instances, no book 
should be taken as the "last word.") 

The book reveals some things about Bakke 
which are not widely known. For example, the 
reader is told that Justice Brennan strongly 
urged his colleagues not to grant certiorari in 
the case, but that he carried only three others 
(Chief Justice Burger and Justices Blackmun 
and Marshall) with him. Brennan apparently 
feared that a majority would rule out all uses of 
race in admissions. Second, just before the 
October 1977 Term began, Justice Marshall 
urged Brennan to "find some pretext to get rid 
of the case because he believed quotas were 
often indispensable to affirmative action pro­
grams." By this point, Brennan thought that 
everyone except the Chief Justice was inclined 
to uphold the quota system at Davis. 95 Third, at 
conference on December 9, the Court divided 
five to three to affirm the California Supreme 
Court which had held against the constitution­
ality of the Davis program (Justice Blackmun 
was in Minnesota recovering from surgery; his 
views would not become fully known until later). 
However, as Schwartz tells the story, Brennan 
(who would uphold the program) was able to 
get an oral concession from Powell, "that the 
judgment must be reversed insofar as it enjoins 
Davis from taking race into account.'>% Here 
presumably is the source of the lasting outcome 
of the case, where one coalition of Justices 
struck down the Davis quota but another coali­
tion of Justices (with Powell alone in both 
coalitions) upheld the principle of affirmative 
action. It was this latter point which Justice 
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Brennan called "the central meaning" of the 
decision:97 that government may take race into 
account when it acts to remedy disadvantages 
cast on minorities by past racial prejudice but 
not when it seeks to demean or harm any racial 
group. While Powell's opinion in Bakke has 
long been seen almost as an "opinion of the 
Court" (even though Powell was speaking only 
for himself), Schwartz believes that it was Bren­
nan's "central meaning" that has become in 
practice the holding in the case. 

What is Behind Bakke's contribution to the 
understanding of the Court? What "further 
insight" does Schwartz make known? In terms 
of new perspective, the book adds little. Begin­
ning at least with publication of Alpheus Tho­
mas Mason's Harlan Fiske Stone in 1956, stu­
dents of the Court have had access to many 
studies which depict the role of bargaining, 
interplay and other extra-legal factors presuma­
bly long a part of the judicial process. In terms 
of information about Bakke, however, the book 
is unique among published accounts of the case. 
It is not only a well-told story but an indispen­
sable source for someone interested in Bakke 
as well as the Justices' developed and develop­
ing attitudes on affirmative action. 

Product 

The Court's process is of interest because of 
its impact on product: the Court's decisions. 
Because the Court decides politically signifi­
cant cases like Bakke, it has been a major 
institution in American government nearly from 
the beginning. 

Publication of the Encyclopedia of the 
American Judicial System is evidence of the 
importance of decisions by the United States 
Supreme Court and other courts in this nation. 
According to editor Robert J. Janosik, the 
project was undertaken because "the volumi­
nous literature on the law is often inaccessible 
to the layperson, university student, and aca­
demic researcher not trained in the ways of the 
law library." To remedy this problem, the ency­
clopedia addresses both the substance of 
American law "and the process that produces 
and utilizes legal precepts.'>98 

The three-volume work contains 88 articles 
written by 91 scholars and practitioners and is 
divided into six parts: Legal History, Substan­

tive Law, Institutions and Personnel, Process 
and Behavior, Constitutional Law and Issues, 
and Methodology. Of the 88 articles, 18 treat 
subjects in American constitutional law and 
theory, and 13 focus on the Supreme Court's 
decisions and institutional development. The 
shortest ("The Civil Law System" by Henry W. 
Ehrmann) is ten pages; the longest ("The Taney 
Court and Era" by Milton Cantor) is32. Janosik 
describes all of them as "introductory studies," 
meaning they are written at a level appropriate 
for the legal novice; at the same time, they are 
useful to the informed reader as well. No one is 
an expert in everything. Each article concludes 
with a bibliographical essay, cross references to 
other articles and, where appropriate, a list of 
cases. The authors did not employ a single 
method ofanalysis; they are too eclectic a group 
to have made that possible. Some use case 
analysis, some stress historical context, and 
others discuss their topics in terms of political 
pressures and blocs on the Court. 

There are two ways a reviewer may ap­
proach an encyclopedia. One may simply start 
from the beginning and read as far as time 
permits. Or one may turn to topics of interest 
to learn how they have been developed. Using 
the latter method, I examined several essays, 
including Paul R. Benson, Jr.,'s "Th{) Com­
merce Clause." 

At least since Gibbons v. Ogden,99 the com­
merce clause has had a prominent role in 
American constitutional law. Unlike some 
provisions in the Constitution, it has had two 
very distinct dimensions. On the one hand, it is 
a direct grant of power to Congress, and on the 
other it has been construed as a limit on the 
states even without congressional action. Ben­
son explores this duality. 

With the first, the commerce clause amounts 
today to plenary power for the national govern­
ment. With few exceptions, the Court reads 
"commerce" so broadly that hardly anyone now 
seriously argues that Congress has exceeded its 
authority under that grant. With the second, 
however, judicial discretion remains a factor. 
In a survey of the Court during the 1940s on the 
question of limits the clause places on the 
states, Benson found three different attitudes. 
One, associated with Justice Black, was highly 
tolerant of state regulations; another, associ­
ated with Justice Jackson, was suspicious of 
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state regulations which affected commerce; and 
a third, associated with Chief Justice Stone, 
occupied a middle position. "[T]he Stone ap­
proach," writes Benson, embodied "a defer­
ence to legislative judgments, a clear-headed 
appreciation of the complexities endemic in 
federalism, and a sympathy for the legislative 
needs of the states [and] result[ ed] in the most 
acceptable resolution of the whole vexatious 
problem." O\erall, Benson fmds that the Court's 
record in interpreting the commerce clause 
"has been commendable. One of the main ani­
mating reasons for the framing of the Constitution 
was to promote the general welfare and ensure 
domestic tranquility in economic and social re­
lationships .... Thus, it may be argued that over 

the long stretch of American history the Court 
has been remarkably faithful in utilizing the 
commerce clause to advance the best interests 
of all the people of the United States.'>lOO 

Benson's article, much of the rest of the 
Janosik Encyclopedia, and the other works 
surveyed here amply illustrate the five elements 
this review has suggested are helpful in under­
standing the Supreme Court. From various 
perspectives the authors portray facets of the 
Court's political and intellectual environment, 
its personnel, its past, its process, and its prod­
uct. The intent in all of them is a better grasp of 
an institution that has evolved, in Hamilton's 
words, as the "essential safeguard" in a political 
system now in its third century. 

The volumes surveyed in this article are listed alphabetically by author below. 

CHARLES FAIRMAN, The Oliver Wen­
dell Holmes Devise History of the Supreme 
Court of the United States; Volume VII; Re­
construction and Reunion 1864-88: Part Two. 
New York: Macmillan, 1987. Pp. xxiii, 836. 

ROBERT J. JANOSIK, ed., Encyclopedia 
of the American Judicial System. 3 vols. New 
York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1987. Pp. xii, 
1420. 

WILLIAM LASSER, The Limits of Judi­
cial Power: The Supreme Court in American 
Politics. Chapel Hill: University of North Caro­
lina Press, 1988. Pp. X, 354. 

RICHARD LOSS, ed., Corwin on the 
Constitution: Volume Two: The Judiciary. Ith­
aca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 1987. Pp. 
399. 

GARY L. McDOWELL, Curbing the Courts: 
The Constitution and the Limits of Judicial 
Power. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State Univer­
sity Press, 1988. Pp. xiv, 214. 

BRUCE ALLEN MURPHY, Fortas: The 
Rise and Ruin of a Supreme Court Justice. 
New York: William Morrow and Co., 1988. Pp. 
717. 

WILLIAM E. NELSON, The Fourteenth 
Amendment: From Political Principle to Judi­
cial Doctrine. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard 
University Press, 1988. Pp. ix, 253. 

BERNARD SCHWARTZ, Behind Bakke: 
Affirmative Action and the Supreme Court. 
New York: New York University Press, 1988. 
Pp. X, 266. 

HERMAN SCHWARTZ, Packing the 
Courts: The Conservative Campaign to Re­
write the Constitution. New York: Charles 
Scribner's Sons, 1988. Pp. xiv, 242. 

WILLIAM M. WIECEK, Liberty under 
Law: The Supreme Court in American Life. 
Baltimore, Md.: The Johns Hopkins University 
Press, 1988. Pp. xi, 226. 
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